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Preface  

The Public Accounts of Alberta are prepared in accordance with the Financial Administration Act and the Fiscal 
Planning and Transparency Act. The Public Accounts consist of the annual report of the Government of Alberta 
and the annual reports of each of the 20 ministries.  

The Annual Report of the Government of Alberta contains Budget 2021 Key Results, the audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Performance Results, which compares actual performance results to 
desired results set out in the government’s strategic plan.  

This annual report of the Ministry of Municipal Affairs contains the minister’s accountability 
statement, the financial information of the ministry and a comparison of actual performance results 
to desired results set out in the ministry business plan. This ministry annual report also includes: 

• the financial statements of entities making up the ministry including the Department of 
Municipal Affairs, and the provincial agencies for which the minister is responsible; 

• other financial information as required by the Financial Administration Act and Fiscal Planning 
and Transparency Act, as separate reports, to the extent that the ministry has anything to report; 
and 

• financial information relating to trust funds. 

Each ministry annual report should be considered along with the Government of Alberta Annual 
Report to provide a complete overview of government’s commitment to openness, accountability 
and fiscal transparency. 
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Minister’s Accountability Statement  

The ministry’s annual report for the year ended March 31, 2022, was prepared under my direction in 
accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the government’s accounting policies. All of the 
government’s policy decisions as at June 6, 2022 with material economic or fiscal implications of which I am 
aware have been considered in the preparation of this report.  

[Original signed by] 

Ric McIver 

Minister of Municipal Affairs 
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Message from the Minister  

For the second year, Albertans and their government have navigated 
the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic and we have seen our 
world through this lens. While the pandemic has shaped much of our 
daily lives, I am heartened by the fact it has not distracted Municipal 
Affairs from delivering on our day-to-day services for Albertans or 
from our focus and progress on long-term goals. 

Looking back, I see the vision for our province and communities 
clearly reflected in the achievements detailed in the Municipal Affairs 
2021-22 Annual Report. Together with our many partners, we 
addressed immediate challenges and took meaningful steps forward in 
realizing the strategic commitments in the ministry’s business plan to 
build stronger, safer Alberta communities.  

The pandemic was a factor, of course, and Municipal Affairs 
continued to play a significant role in the Government of Alberta’s response. We led the Personal Protective 
Equipment Task Force to coordinate and manage the procurement, storage, and distribution of personal 
protective equipment provided to non-healthcare stakeholders, including masks for schools.  

The pandemic and the continued economic downturn brought the dual impact of added expenses and reduced 
revenues for many Alberta communities. We helped municipalities address these challenges by providing 
financial support through the Municipal Operating Support Transfer; the Municipal Stimulus Program; and 
other grant programs, including the Municipal Sustainability Initiative. The significant dollars provided through 
these programs helped to stimulate local economies, build much needed infrastructure, and keep people 
working. 

In the midst of many pandemic-related activities, the ministry continued to play a central role in guiding Alberta 
municipalities in their responsibilities. We advised local governments to help them focus on delivering services 
to Albertans, while streamlining regulatory requirements to boost their administrative efficiency. We 
strengthened accountability and transparency through the Municipal Accountability Program, the municipal 
inspection process, and the annual municipalities’ measurement index.  

Perhaps the most notable events of 2021-22 for Alberta municipalities were the October municipal elections. 
Thousands of Albertans put their names forward for municipal councils across the province in the elections, 
and I thank them all for their candidacy and congratulate everyone, elected or not. We have a lot of work ahead 
of us.  

As demonstrated by these few highlights, Municipal Affairs has a diverse range of responsibilities, and I am 
pleased to offer this report on the work we undertook throughout 2021-22. As we safely move forward, I hope 
you will join me in looking forward to the prosperity that lies ahead in the brighter days to come. Together, in 
partnership with Albertans and their municipalities, we are already heading in the right direction. 

 
[Original signed by] 

Ric McIver 
Minister of Municipal Affairs  
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting 

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs includes the Department of Municipal Affairs and the Safety Codes 
Council. The ministry also includes the Special Areas Board and six improvement districts, which are 
accountable to the minister. A seventh improvement district, the Kananaskis Improvement District, is 
administered by the Ministry of Environment and Parks.  

The Department of Municipal Affairs consists of the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division, the 
Municipal Services Division, the Technical and Corporate Services Division, the Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency, and the Land and Property Rights Tribunal.  

The executives of the individual entities within the ministry have the primary responsibility and accountability 
for the respective entities. Collectively, the executives ensure the ministry complies with all relevant 
legislation, regulations and policies. 

Ministry business plans, annual reports, performance results and the supporting management information are 
integral to the government’s fiscal and strategic plan, annual report, quarterly reports and other financial and 
performance reporting. 

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying ministry financial information and 
performance results for the ministry rests with the Minister of Municipal Affairs. Under the direction of the 
Minister, I oversee the preparation of the ministry’s annual report, which includes the financial information, 
performance results on all objectives and initiatives identified in the Ministry Business Plan, and performance 
results for all ministry-supported commitments that were included in the 2021-24 Government of Alberta 
Strategic Plan. The financial information and performance results, out of necessity, include amounts that are 
based on estimates and judgments. The financial information is prepared using the government’s stated 
accounting policies, which are based on Canadian public sector accounting standards. The performance 
measures are prepared in accordance with the following criteria: 

• Reliable – Information used in applying performance measure methodologies agrees with the underlying 
source data for the current and prior years’ results.  

• Understandable – the performance measure methodologies and results are presented clearly. 

• Comparable – the methodologies for performance measure preparation are applied consistently for the 
current and prior years’ results.  

• Complete – outcomes, performance measures and related targets match those included in the ministry’s 
Budget 2021. 

As Deputy Minister, in addition to program responsibilities, I am responsible for the ministry’s financial 
administration and reporting functions. The ministry maintains systems of financial management and internal 
control which give consideration to costs, benefits, and risks that are designed to: 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, executed in accordance with 
prescribed legislation and regulations, and properly recorded so as to maintain accountability of public 
money; 

• provide information to manage and report on performance; 

• safeguard the assets and properties of the province under ministry administration; 
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• provide Executive Council, the President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance, and the Minister of 
Municipal Affairs the information needed to fulfill their responsibilities; and 

• facilitate preparation of ministry business plans and annual reports required under the Fiscal Planning and 
Transparency Act. 

In fulfilling my responsibilities, I have relied, as necessary, on the executives of the individual entities within 
the ministry.  

[Original signed by] 

Brandy Cox 
Deputy Minister of Municipal Affairs 
 

June 6, 2022  
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Ministry Overview  

Ministry of Municipal Affairs   

Municipal Affairs assists municipalities in providing well-managed, accountable local government to 
Albertans. The ministry also fosters stronger, safer communities across the province, and enables local 
governments to facilitate Alberta’s economic prosperity. 

The ministry consists of the Department of Municipal Affairs and the Safety Codes Council. The ministry 
also includes the Special Areas Board and six improvement districts, which are accountable to the minister.  

The Department of Municipal Affairs consists of the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division, the 
Municipal Services Division, the Technical and Corporate Services Division, the Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency, and the Land and Property Rights Tribunal. 

Department of Municipal Affairs  

Municipal Assessment and Grants Division  

The Municipal Assessment and Grants Division develops the policies and procedures for property 
assessment; reviews and audits municipal property assessments; and prepares designated industrial property 
assessments, composed of linear and industrial properties, for all municipalities.  

The division also administers the Municipal Sustainability Initiative and federal Canada Community-Building 
Fund, along with other grant programs; develops new grant programs such as the Local Government Fiscal 
Framework; prepares equalized assessments for each municipality; and administers the education property 
tax requisitioning program on behalf of the province. 

Municipal Services Division    

The Municipal Services Division supports municipalities in meeting their mandate to provide accountable 
and effective local government to Albertans. The division provides support services and advice to 
municipalities in line with the ministry’s Municipal Sustainability Strategy; manages the ministry’s primary 
legislation governing municipalities – including the Municipal Government Act, the Local Authorities Election Act, 
and the Special Areas Act and their associated regulations; leads policy initiatives relating to municipal 
provincial relations; and coordinates the ministry’s stakeholder relations with key municipal associations at 
major conferences and regional meetings.  

The division includes the Public Library Services Branch, which administers the Libraries Act, supports the 
province-wide Public Library Network in the provision of library services, and provides operating funding to 
municipal and regional library system boards. Funding enables municipal and regional libraries to share 
physical and electronic library resources across the province, with the goal of equitable library access for all 
Alberta residents, including Indigenous populations and print-disabled Albertans.  

Technical and Corporate Services Division  

The Technical and Corporate Services Division oversees a system of safety codes and standards, provides 
guidance and advice to safety codes system partners, administers the Residential Protection Program, and 
provides corporate support to the Department of Municipal Affairs. 

The division administers the Safety Codes Act, which establishes a unifying framework in 10 safety disciplines 
that allows for the adoption of codes, issuance of permits, and the capacity to conduct inspections. It also 
supports safety codes system partners by providing guidance and advice on safety code interpretations to 
municipalities, industry, and the public. The Residential Protection Program is responsible for overseeing 
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and enforcing the New Home Buyer Protection Act, which establishes regulatory requirements for mandatory 
new home warranties and builder licensing. 

To support the safety codes system, the division oversees:  

• the Safety Codes Council, which accredits municipalities, corporations, and agencies to administer the 
Safety Codes Act and certifies safety codes officers;  

• the Alberta Boilers Safety Association; and  

• the Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association.  

The Corporate Strategic Services Branch is responsible for all the ministry’s non-financial corporate 
functions including policy, planning, legislation, and coordinating the ministry’s involvement on cross-
ministry initiatives. The branch leads the ministry’s business planning, operational planning, annual 
reporting, and enterprise risk management processes. It is also responsible for the ministry’s emergency 
planning program, along with accommodation and facility planning activities. 

Alberta Emergency Management Agency  

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency works with its emergency management partners to provide a 
province-wide emergency management system that protects Albertans, their property, and the environment 
against hazards. This includes helping coordinate provincial emergency or disaster response and recovery 
activities, and providing direct assistance to local authorities when required. The agency provides strategic 
policy direction and leadership through the coordination of emergency management programs that include 
aspects of mitigation, prevention, preparation, response, and recovery.  

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency supports the continuous improvement of Alberta’s emergency 
management system and assists with the development of sustainable emergency management capabilities; 
delivery of provincial emergency social services; and supports to local 911 operators, Alberta First 
Responders’ Radio and Communications System, and amateur emergency radio operators throughout 
Alberta. The agency also collaborates with provincial, territorial, federal, and international stakeholders to 
promote a comprehensive approach to emergency management that enhances the safety of all Albertans.  

Land and Property Rights Tribunal 

The Land and Property Rights Tribunal delivers fair, impartial, and well-reasoned decisions and 
recommendations on matters such as designated industrial property assessment, commercial and multi-
residential property assessment, subdivision appeals, development appeals, and annexations. The tribunal 
grants right of entry and resolves compensation disputes involving expropriation and surface rights matters. 
The tribunal also provides parties with a robust dispute resolution process to help resolve disputes prior to a 
formal hearing. Finally, the tribunal supports municipalities by providing certification training for board 
members and clerks for assessment review boards and subdivision and development appeal boards across 
Alberta. 

The Land Compensation Board, Municipal Government Board, New Home Buyer Protection Board, and 
Surface Rights Board were amalgamated into the Land and Property Rights Tribunal on June 2, 2021, 
pursuant to the Land and Property Rights Tribunal Act. 
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Support Services    

Financial Services  

Financial Services is responsible for coordinating the budget, forecast, and financial reporting for the 
ministry. Its responsibilities also include oversight and guidance on the financial internal controls, 
expenditure officers, and contracting.  

Human Resources Services  

Human Resources Services – provided by the Public Service Commission – plans, develops, and delivers the 
department’s strategic human resource programs, as well as day-to-day human resource services. Its 
responsibilities include promoting strategic planning in alignment with business goals and objectives, 
supporting the attraction and engagement of high-calibre staff, and building employee capacity to achieve 
business plan goals.  

Legal Services   

Legal Services is a resource provided by the Ministry of Justice and Solicitor General that delivers legal 
services to the ministry’s divisions and associated boards. The branch’s responsibilities include participating 
in special projects, reviewing legislation and regulations, offering legal advice and written opinions, and 
preparing and reviewing legal documents.  

Communications    

The Communications Branch is a resource provided by Communications and Public Engagement in the 
Ministry of Treasury Board and Finance. The branch provides strategic communications advice, consulting 
services, and planning and support to the minister, deputy minister, and ministry staff to communicate 
effectively with stakeholders, the media, and Albertans. The branch also provides issues management, 
writing and editing, and media relations services.  

Other Entities   

Safety Codes Council  

The Safety Codes Council is a corporation established under the Safety Codes Act. The council’s 
responsibilities include:  

• working with industry, municipalities, and other stakeholders through technical sub-councils to review 
codes and standards and advise the minister on safety codes policy; 

• accreditation activities, including accrediting municipalities and corporations to administer the Safety 
Codes Act in their jurisdictions – and accrediting agencies that can provide safety codes officers to 
municipalities and corporations under contract; 

• overseeing permit and inspection activities, including for storage tank systems, in unaccredited 
municipalities through the Alberta Safety Codes Authority;  

• certification activities, including training and certifying safety codes officers who enforce the Safety Codes 
Act, and certifying master electricians; and  

• administering an appeals process for decisions made under the Safety Codes Act. 
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Special Areas Board    

The Special Areas Board – appointed by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council – is responsible for the 
administration of 2.5 million acres of public land in southeast Alberta and for the provision of municipal 
services to residents of this rural region. The board applies land-stewardship policies that are particularly 
suited to the sustainability of public lands in this ecologically fragile part of the province.  

Improvement Districts    

Municipal Affairs provides limited municipal services in six improvement districts, including: Waterton 
Lakes National Park; Banff National Park; Jasper National Park; Elk Island National Park; Wood Buffalo 
National Park; and Willmore Wilderness Park. The Government of Alberta, through Municipal Affairs, 
manages all local government functions – including the levy and collection of taxes – for the improvement 
districts, unless a local council has been elected. A seventh improvement district, the Kananaskis 
Improvement District, is administered by the Ministry of Environment and Parks. 

Delegated Administrative Organizations   

Alberta Boilers Safety Association  

The Alberta Boilers Safety Association administers and delivers safety programs related to boilers, pressure 
vessels, and pressure piping systems in Alberta. The association’s safety codes officers review and register 
designs, conduct inspections, and issue permits. The association also certifies pressure welders, inspectors, 
and power engineers for the operation of power or heating boilers.  

Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association  

The Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association administers and delivers safety 
programs related to elevating devices, amusement rides, and passenger ropeways (such as ski lifts). The 
association’s safety codes officers review and register designs, conduct inspections, and issue permits.  
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Key Highlights in the Past Year  

In 2021‑22, the Ministry of Municipal Affairs delivered on the commitments in its 2021‑24 business plan, 
and continued its day‑to‑day operations to support Albertans, Alberta municipalities, and other stakeholders. 
The worldwide COVID-19 pandemic remained at the forefront, influencing the ministry’s work. Despite 
progress on the mitigation of COVID-19, the pandemic continued to impact Albertans, the economy, and 
the work of governments at all levels.  

Responding to the COVID-19 Pandemic  

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Government of Alberta utilized its powers under the Public 
Health Act to declare a public health emergency from September 15, 2021, through to December 14, 2021. 
These public health orders minimized the impacts of the pandemic on Albertans and were regularly updated 
to reflect new and emerging data, such as COVID-19 vaccines and variants.  

While the Ministry of Health and Alberta Health Services led the government’s response to the pandemic, 
Municipal Affairs, through the Alberta Emergency Management Agency, was responsible for supporting a 
number of non-healthcare initiatives. Some of these initiatives were supporting the kindergarten-to-Grade 12 
education sector by providing masks for schools; leading the Personal Protective Equipment Task Force to 
coordinate and manage the procurement, storage, and distribution of personal protective equipment 
provided to non-healthcare stakeholders; and leading the Vaccine Task Force to review and enhance the 
province’s vaccine plan.  

In 2020, through the Municipal Stimulus Program, the Government of Alberta allocated $500 million of 
capital infrastructure funding to municipalities and Metis Settlements in response to the severe slowdown in 
economic activity due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The program was designed to fund capital projects 
constructed during 2020 and 2021, with the intent that the funding would be fully expended by December 
2021. While $500 million was allocated, only $499 million was committed by municipalities to accepted 
projects.  

Major Initiatives and Projects 

Progress was made on major initiatives and projects identified in the ministry’s 2021‑24 business plan, 
including: 

• continuing to work with municipalities to strengthen regional planning and service delivery through 

regional governance mechanisms such as intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and growth 

management boards;  

• providing predictable, long-term infrastructure funding for municipalities through the Municipal 

Sustainability Initiative;  

• supporting municipalities in continuing to strengthen municipal accountability and transparency through 

the Municipal Accountability Program, the municipal inspection process, and the annual Alberta 

Municipal Measurement Index;  

• streamlining regulatory requirements in municipal legislation and regulation hampering administrative 

efficiencies for municipalities; 

• reducing provincial trade barriers in safety and construction codes;  

• ensuring Albertans have access to 911 services and that emergency public alerting services are 

technologically current and agile; and  

• delivering an efficient and impartial appeals process for land planning, compensation, assessment, and 

other matters referred to the ministry’s Land and Property Rights Tribunal.  
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Supporting Economic Recovery  

To support Alberta’s economic recovery and protect jobs in communities throughout the province, the 
following measures – announced in October 2020 – were implemented to provide much-needed certainty to 
industry, investors, municipalities, and other property taxpayers for the next three years:  

• to encourage new investment, a three-year property tax exemption was instituted for all new well and 
pipeline assets; these properties will receive an assessment of zero for the 2022, 2023, and 2024 property 
tax years. This will be a savings to industry of approximately $10-12 million per year in municipal taxes, 
and approximately $3 million in education taxes.  

• to continue to stimulate new drilling activity, the Well Drilling Equipment Tax rate was set at zero. This 
change provided approximately $30 million in savings for industry in 2021.  

• additional depreciation adjustments were provided for lower-producing wells. This is expected to result 
in a reduction of approximately $19.5 million in municipal taxes and $8 million in education taxes 
province-wide. 

• to promote continued viability of existing assets and companies, the previously introduced shallow gas 
assessment reduction of 35 per cent will also be maintained for the next three years.  

Designated Industrial Property Assessment  

Full centralization of designated industrial property assessment was completed in 2018, and all the municipal 
assessment functions have been integrated into one provincial centralized system under the guidance and 
direction of the provincial assessor in Municipal Affairs. At the end of the 2021-22 fiscal year, municipal 
assessment preparation for designated industrial property had been integrated into the provincial assessor’s 
office in 200 out of 228 (88 per cent) of affected municipalities. The ministry remains committed to working 
collaboratively with municipalities and other stakeholders, including through an executive advisory group 
that regularly brings together leaders from industry and municipal associations to share information and to 
seek advisory input from stakeholders.  

Municipal Elections  

General municipal elections are held every four years in Alberta. A great deal of effort goes into preparing 
for a general municipal election. The 2021 general municipal election was more complex than a standard 
municipal election year for a number of reasons, including:  

• changes to financial tracking for candidates, regulating third-party advertisers and adapting to a longer 
nomination period; 

• the addition of the provincial Senate election and referenda;  

• a greater number of municipalities using alternative voting equipment and special ballots; and 

• conducting elections during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

Grant Programs and Municipal Funding  

Grant programs and municipal funding continued to be important elements of the ministry’s work. In  

2021-22, Municipal Affairs provided Alberta communities with funding through several different programs, 

including: 

• $1.2 billion in capital funding through the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital program;  
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• $29.1 million in operational funding through the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating program;  

• $25.4 million (adjusted in-year to $26.6 million) in funding through the Alberta Community Partnership; 

• $497.7 million through the Canada Community-Building Fund (formerly the federal Gas Tax Fund);  

• $452.1 million in Municipal Stimulus Program funding was paid to municipalities in 2021-22; and  

• the Grants in Place of Taxes program provided $28.9 million in funding to 167 municipalities on behalf 
of more than 4,700 Crown properties. 

Quality Assurance Framework 

In Alberta, the public safety codes system includes all of the activities under the Safety Codes Act and New 
Home Buyer Protection Act, safety codes and standards, and numerous stakeholder partnerships involved in 
administering the legislation, that work to make sure Albertans are protected in their communities. In 2021-
22, work continued on initiatives under the quality assurance framework, a policy document that articulates 
roles, responsibilities, and overall expectations of all safety codes system partners and identifies five desired 
outcomes for the safety codes systems:   

1. effective oversight of safety codes system delivery;  

2. clearly-defined roles and expectations;  

3. risk-based strategic priorities informed by data;  

4. collaboration with partners/stakeholders in the safety codes system; and  

5. an accountable safety codes system through a defined system of monitoring. 
 

The Provincial Operations Centre 

The Provincial Operations Centre provides central communication and coordination for the Government of 
Alberta during emergencies and disasters. The centre is staffed 24 hours a day, seven days a week to respond 
to requests for information and assistance from municipalities and other Government of Alberta ministries. 
There are four operational levels, with elevation of levels dependent on the severity of the emergency event.  
In 2021-22, the Provincial Operations Centre was elevated to offer ongoing support for the COVID-19 
pandemic response, and as part of its normal business, support for wildfires and flooding events. The 
Provincial Operations Centre’s COVID-19 response augmented the work being done through Health’s 
Emergency Operations Centre, which was the lead for the government’s pandemic response. 

Disaster Financial Assistance 

The Disaster Recovery Program provides financial assistance for uninsurable loss and damage caused by 
emergencies and disasters. Municipalities affected by a disaster can apply for a disaster recovery program and 
if the event meets program criteria, the application is approved and affected residents and businesses in the 
municipality may apply for financial assistance. In 2021-22, two disaster recovery programs were established 
and two municipalities were added to an existing disaster recovery program. The Government of Alberta 
approved $27 million to support communities impacted by flooding events across the province.  

 

Land and Property Rights Tribunal  
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When the rights of citizens are impacted by government decisions or where there is conflict between the 
competing interests of individuals, industry, or municipalities, the Land and Property Rights Tribunal 
provides Albertans with fair, timely, and well-reasoned decisions on a variety of different matters including 
land-use planning, assessment, development, and compensation disputes involving surface rights and 
expropriation. The overriding consideration and the true measure of the success of the tribunal is that 
parties who appear before it feel that, win or lose, they have been treated fairly. The tribunal’s key objectives 
include:   

• providing efficient, fair, and impartial appeals and advisory processes; 

• assisting parties with resolving their disputes by providing effective alternative dispute resolution and 

mediation services; 

• providing certification training and support to municipal assessment review boards and subdivision and 

development appeal boards; and 

• strengthening the rights of landowners and operators to fair and timely decisions on surface rights 

matters.  
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Discussion and Analysis of Results 

COVID-19/Recovery Plan 

 
In 2021-22, Municipal Affairs, together with its municipal partners, continued to demonstrate resiliency, 
adaptability, and determination in responding to the challenges of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. 

Non-Healthcare Initiatives  

While the Ministry of Health and Alberta Health Services led the government’s response to the pandemic, 
Municipal Affairs, through the Alberta Emergency Management Agency elevated its Provincial Operations 
Centre, and was responsible for supporting several non-healthcare initiatives, including: 

• providing funding for the Commercial Isolation Hotel program that supported Albertans who did not 
have a safe place to isolate and were experiencing COVID-19 symptoms. Municipal Affairs provided 
$2.7 million in 2020-21, and $9.2 million in 2021-22 for this initiative, which was delivered by Alberta 
Community and Social Services. 

• supporting the K-12 education sector by providing masks for schools; 

• leading community outreach tables to support vulnerable populations in Edmonton and Calgary; 

• leading the Personal Protective Equipment Task Force to coordinate and manage the procurement, 
storage, and distribution of personal protective equipment provided to non-healthcare stakeholders; and  

• leading the Vaccine Task Force to review and enhance the province’s vaccine plan. 

(More information on these initiatives can be found under Key Objective 4.1.) 

Municipal Stimulus Program  

Further, through the Municipal Stimulus Program, the Government of Alberta allocated $500 million of 
capital infrastructure funding to municipalities and Metis Settlements in response to the severe slowdown in 
economic activity due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The program was designed to fund capital projects 
constructed throughout 2020-21, with the intent that the funding would be fully expended by December 
2021.  

While $500 million was allocated, only $499 million was committed by municipalities to accepted projects. In 
2020, $46.9 million was paid to municipalities, and the remaining $452.1 million paid in 2021. This indicates 
that most of the project activities occurred in 2021, helping to support local jobs and economic growth in 
Alberta’s communities. (More information on this program can be found under Key Objective 1.2.) 

Adapting to COVID-19 

Meeting Procedures (COVID-19 Suppression) Regulation/virtual council meetings 

The ministry developed and implemented the Meeting Procedures (COVID-19 Suppression) Regulation, 
which enabled councils to meet virtually without the public in physical attendance. 

The Minister of Municipal Affairs also issued multiple Ministerial Orders extending timelines for various 
municipal activities (e.g., financial reporting, appeal processes) to enable local governments to focus 
resources on supporting their communities through the early stages of the pandemic. As a result, 
municipalities were able to hold council meetings virtually, with virtual public attendance, and thus comply 
with public health orders prohibiting large public gatherings. 
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In addition, municipalities were able to defer non-urgent administrative work while they focused on 
pandemic response. While much of this work was done in 2020-21, the benefits continued into the 2021-22 
fiscal year. 

Municipal Accountability Program  

The goal of the Municipal Accountability Program is to build municipal administrative capacity and help 
municipalities comply with mandatory legislative and regulatory requirements. The program consists of 
multi‑year cyclical reviews and in 2021-22, 40 reviews were conducted. As a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic, Municipal Accountability Program reviews in the 2021-22 fiscal year were conducted virtually 
rather than in person. While virtual visits presented various challenges – primarily for small communities 
with poor internet connectivity – Municipal Affairs successfully conducted all its scheduled reviews. (More 
information on this program can be found under Key Objective 2.2.)  

Training for Public Library Stakeholders 

Public libraries across Alberta responded to the COVID-19 pandemic by adapting their programs and 
services to comply with any existing public health regulations, and to ensure the safety of library users and 
staff.  However, library stakeholders still needed to receive essential information to help them support their 
libraries and communities, even when they could not gather for in-person training.  To respond to this need, 
the ministry has delivered its training to public library stakeholders online since the beginning of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. In 2021-22, staff delivered more than 50 online training sessions or virtual conference 
presentations, including an online symposium on resiliency, disaster planning, and business continuity in 
April 2021. (More information on training for public library stakeholders can be found under Key Objective 
2.4.) 

2021 Elections 

Conducting an election during the COVID-19 pandemic was a sizable concern for municipalities and 
electors. As such, the ministry experienced a higher demand for relevant election training, resources, and 
advisory support. The 2021 Municipal Elections COVID-19 Risk Reduction Guide was developed as a 
resource to assist municipalities in conducting their municipal elections in accordance with the health 
guidelines and to ensure safe voting procedures. The Government of Alberta also responded to social 
distancing recommendations by enabling electors who were waiting in line at the voting station when it was 
declared closed to be allowed to enter the voting station to vote. (More information on running an election 
during a pandemic can be found under Key Objective 2.4.) 

Community Outreach Table Initiatives 

In 2021-22, the Government of Alberta continued to work on the Community Engagement Plan, which was 
launched in December 2020, to help support Alberta’s two largest cities in combating the spread of 
COVID-19. The focus of this plan was to reduce both existing COVID-19 case numbers and transmission 
rates in communities that were experiencing significantly higher rates of COVID-19 transmission. (More 
information on community engagement plans can be found under Key Objective 4.1.) 

Remote Evaluation – Private Sector Disaster Recovery Program 

As a response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the ministry implemented a new and innovative process to 
complete evaluations remotely as an alternative to the traditional in person evaluation of property damaged 
after a disaster. The remote evaluation enabled evaluators to review property documentation, photographs, 
videos, and applicant testimony and to finalize payment recommendations quickly. (More information on 
remote evaluation can be found under Key Objective 4.3.) 
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Land and Property Rights Tribunal  

While the Land and Property Rights Tribunal has had great success in transitioning from in-person to virtual 
hearings as a result of COVID-19 public health measures, this was particularly challenging in the context of 
annexation hearings. Members of the public are entitled to be heard, and there is no requirement for 
advance notice of participation. Notwithstanding this, tribunal staff were able to implement remote video 
technology to conduct lengthy and complex virtual hearings.   

The switch to virtual hearings for some of the tribunal’s work – although precipitated by the COVID-19 
pandemic – has allowed the tribunal to accommodate more parties and adapt to a higher volume of hearings, 
which helps ensure decisions are issued in a timely fashion. The tribunal held 128 virtual hearings in the 
2020-21 fiscal year. (More information on the Land and Property Rights Tribunal can be found under 
“Annexations,” and “Subdivision and Development Appeals” in the Land and Property Rights Tribunal 
section.)  
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Red Tape Reduction 

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs continues to remove regulatory barriers and reduce costs for Alberta’s job 
creators, modernize our regulatory systems, and improve the delivery of government services while ensuring 
effective regulatory oversight over vital consumer, environmental, health and safety protections, and fiscal 
accountability. The Government of Alberta’s ongoing commitment to reduce red tape by one third by 2023 
is helping to make the province the most attractive destination for investment and job creation in North 
America, while strengthening Alberta’s competitive advantage.  

Outcome One: Alberta’s local governments 
encourage and support economic prosperity 

Key Objectives 

1.1  Streamline regulatory requirements in municipal 
legislation that are hampering administrative 
efficiencies for municipalities and industry in order to 
encourage economic growth, including a review of 
land-use planning and development processes, 
requirements, and timelines. 

Municipal Government Act Review – Red Tape 
Reduction 

The Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act, 2020 (No.2), which 
received royal assent on December 9, 2020, focused on ensuring 
land-use planning and development requirements were 
streamlined, efficient, and effective for municipal governments, 
business and industry, and all Albertans. Specifically, changes to 
increase public transparency through an additional public 
hearing when municipalities change the designation of reserve 
land, and new reporting requirements when municipalities 
charge off-site levies. In addition, by reducing flexibility for 
municipalities to extend timelines, and expanding the role for 
the Land and Property Rights Tribunal to hear development 
permit appeals related to projects authorized by a provincial 
regulator, development approvals are now faster.  

In 2021-22, the Land and Property Rights Tribunal began 
hearing development permit appeals and is making decisions in 
a timely manner. Municipal Affairs has also initiated municipal 
reporting on timelines for approving development permits and 
subdivision applications to ensure municipalities are continually 
working to reduce the time taken to approve applications. These 
changes improve transparency and increase certainty for 
developers, ultimately encouraging increased development and 
growth in Alberta’s municipalities.  

Actions that Support the 
Priorities of the Government of 
Alberta Strategic Plan 

Priority Two: 
Protecting Livelihoods 

Objective Two: 
Reducing red tape 

 Through ongoing review of the 
Municipal Government Act, 
reduce regulatory burden and 
streamline provisions 
hampering administrative 
efficiencies for municipalities, 
citizens, businesses and 
industry.  

 Municipal Affairs continued 
reducing red tape in 2021-22 
and ended the fiscal year at a 
reduction level that greatly 
exceeded its 20 per cent 
regulatory requirement 
reduction target and came 
within three percentage points 
of the ultimate 2022-23 
reduction target of 33 per cent. 
A key strategy that the ministry 
used in 2021-22 was reviewing 
program policies and forms to 
identify opportunities for 
streamlining. This included 
eliminating unnecessary 
requirements and 
consolidating redundant forms. 
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In continuing its red tape reduction work, in 2021, Municipal 
Affairs completed a review of the Municipal Government Act for 
opportunities to minimize duplication and strengthen municipal 
governance and economic development.  

The review covered a broad range of topics including municipal 
council powers and processes, municipal administration, 
information management, municipal restructuring, and financial 
administration. The review also included a look at the red tape 
related to municipal business licensing, in response to input 
from various Alberta business owners. Legislation (Bill 21, Red 
Tape Reduction Statutes Amendment Act, 2022) was introduced in 
spring 2022, and is intended to reduce red tape and duplication, 
strengthen municipal governance, and support economic 
development. Amendments include expanding the minister’s 
authority to enforce viability directives to increase compliance and enhance municipal sustainability. The 
legislation also includes provisions to explicitly enable intermunicipal business licences to reduce costs on 
business owners. The legislation has received royal assent and the bill is currently available online at 
www.assembly.ab.ca.  

Some assessment and property tax processes in the Municipal Government Act are prescriptive in order to 
protect the rights of taxpayers, while others are discretionary to enable municipal councils to make decisions 
best suited to local needs. A review of the assessment and taxation sections of the Act was completed and 
recommendations for streamlining were put forward for consideration. The review identified two instances 
where the processes could be streamlined: 

• the process to create community revitalization levies can be 
streamlined by reducing Cabinet approvals from two to one; 
and 

• the ability for councils to create a small business tax rate can be 
placed in the Act rather than a separate regulation (Matters 
Relating to Assessment Sub-classes). 

The review also identified other potential red tape reductions; 
however, the ministry has deferred action on these other 
opportunities to consult further with stakeholders.  

The Libraries Act and Libraries Regulation 

Ministry staff continued their review of the Libraries Act and Libraries Regulation with a goal of reducing red 
tape. Staff held eight virtual sessions in September 2021, engaging with 267 library stakeholders. Staff also 
presented virtually at nine library board meetings and special meetings of the Alberta Municipalities 
association in fall 2021. At least 300 library community stakeholders took part in virtual sessions and 139 
responded to an online survey.  

Staff presented proposed legislative changes under four main topics (one administrative) to stakeholders 
over the course of these sessions. Stakeholders validated the proposed changes, gave feedback on details, 
and adjustments were made to the Libraries Act and Libraries Regulation for Cabinet consideration. 

  

As part of the government’s 
commitment to reducing 
legislative burden, Municipal 
Accountability Program review 
findings have directly 
contributed to the red tape 
reduction initiative, resulting in 
amendments to the Municipal 
Government Act that came into 
force on January 1, 2021. 

 These changes are expected 
to reduce costs for Alberta’s 
job creators, modernize 
regulatory systems, and 
improve the delivery and 
accessibility of government 
services – including accessing 
help through Disaster 
Recovery Programs, applying 
for grants, and launching an 
appeal with the Land and 
Property Rights Tribunal. 

https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.assembly.ab.ca%2F&data=05%7C01%7Cthomas.trofimuk%40gov.ab.ca%7C927ab6265246452caa4308da44d8ba4e%7C2bb51c06af9b42c58bf53c3b7b10850b%7C0%7C0%7C637897994876352413%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=MKmyKqVxhYeHAYpZU%2BUyCctmi4Q%2FWyDINHsMO2nVG%2Fk%3D&reserved=0
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1.2 Work with municipalities to reduce municipal red tape and impediments to economic growth 
that may be a barrier to investment, to ensure that communities are well-positioned to support 
economic recovery. 

Municipal Stimulus Program  

The Government of Alberta allocated $500 million of capital infrastructure funding to municipalities and 
Metis Settlements in response to the severe slowdown in economic activity due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The Municipal Stimulus Program was designed to fund capital projects constructed during 2020-21, with the 
intent that the funding would be fully expended by December 2021. While $500 million was allocated, 
because 12 municipalities chose not to access any of their allocated Municipal Stimulus Program funding, 
only $499 million was committed by municipalities to accepted projects. 

In 2020, $46.9 million in Municipal Stimulus Program funding was paid to municipalities, and the remaining 
$452.1 million paid in 2021. This indicates that most of the project activities occurred in 2021, helping to 
support local jobs and economic growth in Alberta’s communities. During the year, Municipal Affairs 
focused on program administration of 2020 project reporting, and the first year of red tape reduction 
reporting. Examples of projects include: 

• The Village of Linden (Linden Cultural Centre Rehabilitation), which rehabilitated the Linden Cultural 
Centre, including the roof, heating ventilation, air conditioning system, commercial kitchen, and the 
utilities and boiler. The project is expected to sustain and create local jobs, enhance competitiveness and 
productivity, and position the village to participate in future economic growth. Total Municipal Stimulus 
Program funding spent was $98,424. 

• The Town of Tofield (Pedestrian Trailway Extension - West End) added 600 meters of trail to address 
an unserved portion of the community. The project will encourage economic growth and development 
in the western portion of the community, provide safe transportation, and create local jobs during the 
construction phase of the project. The total Municipal Stimulus Program funding spent was $247,367. 

• The Municipal District of Wainwright No. 61 (Terminal Road Rehabilitation) rehabilitated 14.5 
kilometres of Township Road 42-4. The project is expected to create local jobs for engineers and 
contractors and will enhance road conditions for this connector route to an oil truck terminal. The total 
Municipal Stimulus Program funding spent was $532,415.  

• The City of Spruce Grove (Water-Sanitary-Industrial Storm Programs) replaced three kilometres of 
waterlines, wastewater lines, and storm water conduits in the Grove Meadows industrial area. These 
enhancements are expected to improve services, attract new ventures, create local jobs, and increase the 
city’s competitiveness. The total Municipal Stimulus Program funding spent was $4,194,343. 

Although the Municipal Stimulus Program was designed to distribute and expend capital stimulus funding 
before the end of 2021, the full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the economic slowdown could not 
have been anticipated. Local governments were facing unique challenges completing their infrastructure 
projects, including supply chain disruptions, contractor and tendering challenges, price escalations making 
approved projects economically unviable, municipal capacity issues, and delays with external approvals (e.g., 
permits).  

With the challenges posed in 2021, Municipal Affairs adapted the program rules to accommodate feedback 
received from municipal stakeholders. In 2021, municipalities were allowed to request an extension for an 
additional year (for issues such as supply chain delays, if applicable), modify project scope (if rationale 
supported the change), or submit new projects as some municipalities had unanticipated surplus funds 
because project costs came in lower than anticipated. These exemptions were meant to ensure critical 
Municipal Stimulus Program funds were used to restart the Alberta economy. The added flexibility around 
using the stimulus funds has helped achieve the desired outcomes of economic recovery and job creation.  
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Projects that received approval for exemptions include the following: 

• Foothills County increased the scope of their Highway 2A Fibre Network Project, adding an additional 
kilometre to the fibre-optic network, resulting in the extension of service to the Hamlet of Aldersyde. 

• The Town of Irricana was approved for a new outdoor fitness park, as its 1 Street Storm Water 
Extension project was completed under budget. 

• The Village of Beiseker was approved for a time extension on its water bypass installation, as supply 
chain issues delayed delivery of water valves. 

The success of the Municipal Stimulus Program is further highlighted by the following projects completed in 
2020: 

• The Town of Beaverlodge upgraded its 11 Street pump station, replacing piping to the water 
distribution system. 

• The Village of Rosemary rehabilitated 450 metres of asphalt on Dahlia Street. 

• The Summer Village of Norris Beach upgraded 100 metres of its trail system. 

• Kikino Metis Settlement rehabilitated approximately 71 kilometres of gravel roads. 
 

Municipal Red Tape Reduction Reports 

As a condition of the Municipal Stimulus Program, municipalities 
were required to submit a red tape reduction report in 2021 in 
addition to reporting on expenditures. This aligns with the steps 
the province is taking to reduce red tape and indicates a shared 
commitment to enhance the business and tourism environment in 
Alberta. Municipalities were asked to report on their progress on 
reducing red tape in 2020, or their plans to reduce red tape in 2021, 
in:  

• making it easier to start a new business;  

• streamlining processes and shortening timelines for 
development and subdivision permit approvals; and 

• attracting new investment and/or tourism.  

While municipalities planned more activities for 2021 than they undertook in 2020, municipalities did take 
concrete steps to reduce red tape in 2020. Municipalities focused their efforts on website development to 
increase functionality, reduce timelines, attract investment, and improve the user experience. Municipalities 
also focused on internal processes and procedures to reduce operational and administrative timelines, 
increase the speed of economic development, and improve the experiences of residents and businesses. A 
number of municipalities took steps in 2020 to build or strengthen partnerships to generate valuable 
economic benefits and opportunities for residents. From municipal planning and development 
improvements to forms and applications, municipalities looked to simplify complicated materials and 
remove barriers to attract investment in their communities.  

A total of 1,969 red tape 
reduction activities were 
undertaken by municipalities in 
2020, with 2,390 planned in 
2021. 

Cities, towns, and rural 
municipalities took more 
actions toward making it easier 
to start a new business, while 
villages and summer villages 
focused on streamlining 
processes and shortening 
timelines. 
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Red Tape Reduction Objectives/Opportunities – Municipal Actions Taken in 2020-21 

A full report on municipal red tape reduction efforts was published in September 2021, and is available at 
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/municipal-red-tape-reduction-report. Red tape reduction reporting for 
actions taken in 2021 was due on February 1, 2022, and analysis on outcomes is currently underway. 

1.3 Implement assessment and tax incentives designed to encourage new investment in the oil and 
gas sector.  

To support Alberta’s economic recovery and protect jobs, the following measures – announced in  
October 2020 – were implemented to support economic recovery and provide much-needed certainty to 
industry, investors, municipalities, and other property taxpayers for the next three years:  

• To encourage new investment, a three-year property tax exemption was instituted for all new well and 
pipeline assets; these properties will receive an assessment of zero for the 2022, 2023, and 2024 property 
tax years. This will be a savings to industry of approximately $10-12 million per year in municipal taxes, 
and approximately $3 million in education taxes.  

• To continue to stimulate new drilling activity, the Well Drilling Equipment Tax rate was set at zero. This 
change provided approximately $30 million in savings for industry in 2021.  

• Additional depreciation adjustments were provided for lower-producing wells; this is expected to result 
in a reduction of approximately $19.5 million in municipal taxes and $8 million in education taxes 
province-wide. 

• To promote continued viability of existing assets and companies, the previously introduced shallow gas 
assessment reduction of 35 per cent was in place in 2021-22 and will be maintained for the next three 
years. 
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1.4 Develop initiatives to reduce the ministry’s red tape, and establish a framework to keep future 
ministry programs, policies, forms, and legislation free of unnecessary regulatory requirements. 

Following the review of the Municipal Government Act and the Libraries Act for the purposes of red tape 
reduction in 2021-22, the ministry will continue to review the associated regulations for further reductions 
and streamlining opportunities. 

The revised 911 program guidelines have updated the list of eligible expenditures to allow public safety 
answering points to integrate new technology, enhance existing capacity, and promote and enhance public 
safety. The guidelines were updated to align with the changes to the Emergency 911 Act that came into effect 
on September 1, 2021. The Act allows secondary public safety answering points to receive funding under the 
911 Grant Program and the guidelines have been changed to reflect these new eligible stakeholders. These 
expenditures reinforce the purpose of the Act by allowing public safety answering points to integrate new 
technology, enhance existing capacity, and promote and enhance public safety. The new guidelines also 
reflect the legislative and regulatory amendments. Changes in the guidelines will reduce the administrative 
red-tape burden on Alberta public safety answering points by no longer requiring backup copies of invoices, 
receipts, or payroll documents, to be submitted with the Statement of Funding and Expenditures; receipts 
will be requested by the 911 program only if needed. The ministry delivers various emergency management 
training courses to develop Albertans’ understanding of emergency management and the essential role they 
play in a disaster. The ministry removed several outdated emergency management training documents and 
directives from the inventory.   

Municipal Affairs has identified a number of key initiatives that will be moving forward in fiscal year 2022-
23, including a description of each initiative, its goals, and the projected impacts.  

 

Performance Measure 1.a: Regulatory requirements reduced across the ministry 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 2019-20  

Actual 

(target 5%) 

2020-21  

Actual 

(target 12%) 

11% 25% 20% 30.5% 

 

Municipal Affairs continued reducing red tape in 2021-22 and ended the fiscal year at a reduction level that 
greatly exceeded its 20 per cent target and came within three percentage points of the ultimate 2022-23 
reduction target of 33 per cent. A key strategy that the ministry used in 2021-22 was reviewing program 
policies and forms to identify opportunities for streamlining. This included eliminating unnecessary 
requirements and consolidating redundant forms. Specific examples included: 

• a review of Disaster Recovery Program forms and policies by the Alberta Emergency Management 
Agency that eliminated 170 regulatory requirements; 

• the elimination of 126 regulatory requirements by the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division 
through the updating and consolidating of several forms; and 
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• a comprehensive review and streamlining of appeal forms by the Land and Property Rights Tribunal 
that eliminated 245 regulatory requirements. 

Being so close to the 2022-23 target will enable the ministry to broaden its focus beyond initiatives that 
reduce regulatory requirements and still pursue opportunities to reduce red tape in other ways, such as 
allowing programs and services to be accessed more efficiently and effectively. These changes are expected 
to reduce costs for Alberta’s job creators, modernize regulatory systems, and improve the delivery and 
accessibility of government services – including accessing help through Disaster Recovery Programs, 
applying for grants, and launching an appeal with the Land and Property Rights Tribunal. 
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Outcome Two: Albertans live in viable 
municipalities and communities with 
fiscally responsible, collaborative, and 
accountable local governments 

Key Objectives 

2.1  Enhance municipal service delivery through 
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and 
growth management boards. 

Municipalities in Alberta continue to face significant 
financial pressures, with the ongoing COVID-19 
pandemic and fluctuating oil prices. As such, it is more 
important than ever that municipalities are managing 
their finances prudently while continuing to deliver the 
services on which their citizens rely. Albertans and 
businesses have been impacted by the pandemic, and 
municipalities are looking for ways to reduce costs and 
prevent significant increases for taxpayers. 

The ministry continues to support local governments as 
they collaborate to share finite resources, build better 
relationships, and improve communication between 
municipalities that share common boundaries or shared 
service areas – to provide services for the benefit of all 
Albertans. Growth management boards, intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks, and intermunicipal 
development plans are intended to provide a forum for 
long-term planning and service delivery and to ensure 
intermunicipal disputes can be avoided or handled 
efficiently. Mandating these plans and frameworks 
ensures that municipalities are collaborating in the best 
interests of citizens and businesses in the region. 
Further, provincial economic development 
opportunities are enhanced through coordinated land-
use planning and development along municipal 
boundaries. As well, Alberta residents and businesses 
will benefit from lower costs and increased service levels 
as municipalities find ways to better deliver their 
services. 

Municipal Affairs, together with its municipal partners, 
continues to demonstrate resiliency and determination 
in adapting to the challenges of the ongoing COVID-19 
pandemic. Albertans and municipalities have 
transitioned to online and electronic-based tools to 
conduct their business and ensure operational 
continuity. This has led to struggles at times with rural 
connectivity and, in some cases, the learning curve that 
comes with using new technology. Despite these 
challenges, municipalities have continued to seek 

Actions that Support the Priorities of 
the Government of Alberta Strategic 
Plan 
 
Priority One: 
Protecting Lives  
 
Objective One: 
Delivering cost effective, sustainable, 
client-centred healthcare to all Albertans 
 
 Continue to deliver a timely, 

coordinated response to the  
COVID-19 pandemic, including 
supporting planning efforts for the 
effective and efficient distribution of 
COVID-19 vaccines by Alberta 
Health, as they were received from 
the federal government.  

 
Objective Five: 
Building better communities 
 
 Strengthen municipal accountability 

and processes in the areas of 
assessment, compensation, land 
planning, and other matters that 
impact Albertans and the 
municipalities in which they live. This 
includes supporting the Alberta 
Municipal Measurement Index, which 
gives the public direct access to 
information detailing municipal 
performance. 
 

Priority Two: 
Protecting Livelihoods  
 
Objective Three: 
Changing the tax structure to stimulate 
growth and attract investment 
 
 Develop a long-term plan to review 

how property assessments are 
determined for industrial property, 
including wells and pipelines, to 
ensure the valuations reflect current 
circumstances and do not place an 
undue burden on competitiveness. In 
the interim, a number of property 
assessment and tax incentives are 
being implemented. 
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efficiencies and cost-savings while strengthening service 
delivery and intermunicipal collaboration for the benefit 
of all Albertans. To this end, municipalities in Alberta 
continue to move forward with key priorities such as 
implementing regional growth plans, regional servicing 
plans, and intermunicipal collaboration frameworks.  

Edmonton Growth Management Board / 
Calgary Growth Management Board  

Growth management boards for the Calgary and 
Edmonton regions were established to help ensure 
regional collaboration and coordinated decision-making. 
The objectives of growth management boards are to 
promote regional economic growth, reduce 
intermunicipal conflict, and ensure the effective and 
efficient delivery of services by promoting 
intermunicipal collaboration. To achieve coordinated, 
sustainable growth, the mandate of growth management 
boards includes not only regional land-use planning but 
also regional servicing for future growth. This ensures 
sufficient land and infrastructure is available to 
accommodate future commercial and industrial growth. 

A significant milestone for the growth management 
boards was achieved in 2021, with the Edmonton 
Metropolitan Region Board and the Calgary 
Metropolitan Region Board finalizing their dispute 
resolution and appeal bylaws to address conflicts 
between member municipalities:  

• The Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board bylaw 
establishes a simple and timely three-step process 
that includes facilitated discussion, mediation, and 
an appeal hearing with a committee comprised of 
external, independent members with specialized 
knowledge and experience. The timelines for 
resolution of disputes will ensure the work of the 
board is not unreasonably delayed by conflicts.  

• The Calgary Metropolitan Region Board bylaw 
establishes a similar process but also includes an option to fast-track disputes to the appeal stage. To 
provide an objective perspective on board decisions on applications, the Land and Property Rights 
Tribunal can hear a limited scope of appeals under the Calgary Metropolitan Region Board’s bylaw.  

Both bylaws respond to the unique context of the two boards and are expected to significantly improve their 
ongoing work.  

The Calgary Metropolitan Region Board has also developed a proposed Growth Plan, Servicing Plan, and 
Regional Evaluation Framework and submitted the plans to the Minister of Municipal Affairs for approval. 
Over the past year, the minister has sought feedback from stakeholders and member municipalities regarding 
these plans and continues to work with Calgary Metropolitan Region Board members to discuss their 
perspectives. The plans are currently under review.  

 Implement a three-year property tax 
exemption for all new well and 
pipeline assets, eliminate the Well 
Drilling Equipment Tax (from 2021 
onward), maintain the shallow gas 
assessment reduction of 35 per cent 
over the next three years, and 
provide additional depreciation 
adjustments for lower-producing 
wells. These initiatives will encourage 
new investment in the oil and gas 
sector and support the continued 
viability of existing assets.  
 

Objective Seven: 
A fair deal for Alberta  

• Through the Alberta Community 
Partnership program, provide funding 
support to municipalities to conduct 
the Senate election and referenda to 
ensure the priorities and needs of 
Albertans are adequately 
represented at the federal level. 
Democratizing the Senate 
appointment process and proceeding 
with a referendum on equalization 
are two of the recommendations of 
the Fair Deal Panel. 
 

• Of the $10 million made available to 
394 local communities in Budget 
2021, 292 local governments and 
three First Nations received 
approximately $9.5 million in funding 
to conduct Senate elections and 
referenda in their communities and 
neighbouring communities on behalf 
of the province. 
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The Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board already has a growth and servicing plan and regional evaluation 
framework in place. These plans have allowed the region to grow in a more coordinated and efficient way, 
saving costs on servicing of new developments and limiting the number of intermunicipal disputes. Work on 
a regional agricultural master plan is in progress, and will provide a framework to consider how best to 
protect prime agricultural land in the region, while also allowing for development. 

The Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act, 2020 (No.2), included a number of minor changes to streamline 
growth management board legislation. The ministry continues to explore additional red tape reduction 
options for the boards.  
 
Ministry Support for the Boards 

Under the Alberta Community Partnership, provincial funding to the growth management boards is 
gradually being reduced as the boards assume greater responsibility for funding their own operations. The 
regulations enable each growth management board to requisition operating funding from their members to 
reduce reliance on provincial funding. In 2021-22, the province provided $1.5 million in funding to each 
board, used to support board operations.  

Intermunicipal Collaboration Frameworks 

The Municipal Government Act includes specific requirements for municipalities outside of the metropolitan 
regions to create intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans . 
Intermunicipal collaboration frameworks: 

• cultivate the integrated and strategic planning, delivery, and funding of intermunicipal services; 

• provide for stewardship of service resources; and 

• ensure municipalities contribute funding to services that benefit residents. 

Intermunicipal collaboration frameworks ensure coordinated and cost-effective delivery of shared services to 
residents and businesses where there is a benefit to residents with municipalities that share a border. Alberta 
residents and businesses benefit from lower costs and increased service levels as municipalities explore and 
agree on ways to deliver and cost-share their services. 

Of the 436 required intermunicipal collaboration frameworks, 97.9 per cent were completed by the  
April 1, 2021, legislated deadline. Where agreement was not reached by this date, the Municipal Government 
Act provides for a mandatory process to resolve the dispute. As of April 1, 2021, there were nine 
outstanding intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and they were resolved in the following ways: 

• one pairing of municipalities came to agreement before an arbitrator could be appointed; 

• one resolved their intermunicipal collaboration framework before the arbitration hearing; 

• one was assisted by an arbitrator through mediation to come to an agreement on their own; 

• five were addressed through an arbitrator’s award; and  

• one intermunicipal collaboration framework was imposed by the minister.  

Looking forward, the ministry intends to conduct a review of the intermunicipal collaboration framework 
arbitration process with key stakeholders. The results of this review will be used to inform any legislative 
amendments that may be required in the future, and to improve the process for the next round of 
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intermunicipal collaboration frameworks when the current frameworks are due to be reviewed (in the next 
three to five years). 

Lessons Learned 

• The majority of municipalities preferred to develop their mandatory intermunicipal collaboration 
frameworks on their own rather than going to arbitration, as demonstrated by 97.9 per cent of municipal 
pairings completing their agreements by the deadline.  

• Some municipalities completed their frameworks by 
confirming current arrangements for municipal or 
intermunicipal delivery, while mutually acknowledging their 
interest in revisiting some agreements in the next 
intermunicipal collaboration framework cycle. It is anticipated 
these municipalities will re-engage on their intermunicipal 
collaborative frameworks within two to three years to ensure 
they are completed within the mandatory five-year review 
period. 

• Mediation is an effective way to resolve disputes around intermunicipal collaboration frameworks. The 
use of a neutral third party to guide discussions has been shown to expedite a resolution, preserve 
relationships, and minimize costs.  

• For a small minority of municipalities, arbitration was a necessary and effective tool to resolve 
outstanding cost-sharing disputes for intermunicipal services. 

Alberta Community Partnership Program 

The Alberta Community Partnership grant program enables municipalities to leverage funding to advance 
local and regional priorities across the province in a cost-effective manner, including municipal regional 
collaboration and capacity building initiatives. The budget for the 2021-22 Alberta Community Partnership 
program was $25.4 million (adjusted in-year to $26.6 million), with grants supporting projects under six main 
component streams: 

1. Senate Elections and Referendum; 

2. Intermunicipal Collaboration; 

3. Strategic Initiatives; 

4. Municipal Restructuring;  

5. Municipal Internship; and 

6. Mediation and Cooperative Processes. 

 

 

 

 

 

Almost 99 per cent (98.6%) of 
municipalities successfully 
completed their intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks on 
time and without the need for 
arbitration. 

 



 

Results Analysis 

 

 

30                                                                                                                                Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2021-22 

Alberta Community Partnership Funding 

 

Component 

 

Program Budget 

Senate Elections and Referendum $10,000,000 

Intermunicipal Collaboration $5,100,000 

Strategic Initiatives* $4,426,000 

Municipal Restructuring $5,500,000 

Municipal Internship  $1,000,000 

Mediation and Cooperative Processes $600,000 

Total $26,626,000 

*Strategic Initiatives includes support for growth management boards, organizations promoting municipal 

professional development, and projects of intermunicipal and strategic significance. 

A total of $27.75 million in grants was delivered under the program. The $1.12 million in-year increase was 
offset by surplus from other programs. Alberta Transportation provided an additional $1.22 million to 
support a Strategic Initiatives project in Mackenzie County to repair critical water infrastructure in Fort 
Vermilion (see Strategic Initiatives). 

 

Alberta Community Partnership Program, by Component 

(Percentage of Total Grants Delivered in 2021-22) 

Senate Elections 
and Referendum 

34.0%

Mediation 0.4%

Municipal Internship
3.6%

Intermunicipal 
Collaboration 27.0%

Municipal 
Restructuring 5.0%

Strategic Initiatives
30.0%
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Intermunicipal Collaboration 

The Intermunicipal Collaboration component of the Alberta Community Partnership program provides 
competitive grants to municipal partnerships pursuing regional approaches to service delivery. The funding 
enables municipalities to undertake intermunicipal service delivery planning projects that can lead to shared 
services arrangements, greater efficiencies and economies of scale on the provision of services, resource 
optimization, and better access to services for Albertans. These include new or enhanced emergency 
management frameworks, and regional plans for emergency preparedness and disaster mitigation.  

Intermunicipal Collaboration funding also supports provincial priorities – specifically, economic 
development and pandemic recovery. As such, this component supported the following priorities in  
2021-22: 

• partners exploring economic growth and regional service planning initiatives for revenue and cost 
sharing agreements; 

• governance model options;  

• infrastructure; and  

• operational requirements for intermunicipal service delivery for project partners.  

The component was in demand, with 46 applications reviewed for projects related to:  

• health and safety;  

• emergency preparedness/risk mitigation;  

• operational efficiencies/reducing red tape; economic 
growth/business continuity; and  

• the development of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks 
and intermunicipal development plans. 

In 2021-22, the Intermunicipal Collaboration component provided 
$7.4 million to municipalities across Alberta as they collaborated on 
43 projects. These projects help advance Municipal Affairs’ mandate 
to directly support Alberta’s local governments and enable 
municipalities to leverage targeted funding to advance regional 
priorities.  

Funded projects from 2021-22 include the following: 

Alberta North Central Alliance Strategic Regional Plan. 

Big Lakes County received $200,000 to partner with the municipal 
districts of Lesser Slave Lake and Opportunity; the towns of High 
Prairie and Slave Lake; and the First Nations of Bigstone Cree 
Nation, Drift Pile Cree Nation, Kapawe'no First Nation, Sawridge First Nation, and Sucker Creek First 
Nation in developing the Alberta North Central Alliance strategic regional plan. 

The development of a strategic plan represents a commitment between five municipalities and five First 
Nations to build strong, enduring, and transparent inter-governmental relationships to benefit their 
communities in north-central Alberta. The plan also seeks to forge healthy working relationships with 
businesses, federal, and provincial governments, and other stakeholders in northern rural Alberta. 

Through the Intermunicipal 
Collaboration component, the 
Alberta Community 
Partnership program supported 
99 municipalities and Metis 
Settlements across Alberta to 
partner on 43 projects of 
regional significance. 

Including all components, 118 
municipalities and Metis 
Settlements in Alberta 
benefited from an Alberta 
Community Partnership grant 
in 2021-22, either as a grant 
recipient or as a formal partner 
on joint initiatives. 
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The project is expected to result in innovative resource-sharing solutions, and lead to actions that support 
economic development, health services, internet broadband connectivity, regional tourism, and that address 
physician shortages.   

District Fire Services Master Plan 

The Town of Coaldale received $42,158 to partner with Lethbridge County in developing the Coaldale and 
District Fire Services Master Plan. This plan includes the development of a strategic plan for the current and 
future expansion of fire services for the region, including a comprehensive fire risk assessment, current fire 
services performance reviews, development of recruitment and retention options, and equipment and facility 
reviews. 

The project is expected to result in increased collaboration between partners, including shared financial and 
human resources to maintain public safety and provide efficient and effective fire services in the region. 

Regional Transportation System Master Plan 

The Town of Fox Creek received $200,000 to partner with the Municipal District of Greenview in 
developing a regional transportation system infrastructure master plan. This plan necessitated an analysis of 
infrastructure conditions of the regional transportation system to address any deficiencies, develop shared 
maintenance and upgrade costs models, and update the 10-year capital plans to address future operational 
and infrastructure requirements. 

The project is expected to result in a foundational agreement that will provide critical data in support of 
existing intermunicipal development plans. The plan is also intended to guide the regional vision for 
transportation and land use, inform policy direction to support well-maintained infrastructure for the 
delivery of regional services, improve the overall safety of residents, and foster economic growth.  

Regional Stormwater Management Framework and Plan 

The Village of Cremona received $69,000 to partner with Mountain View County in developing a regional 
stormwater management framework and plan. The framework and plan will require collecting and reviewing 
climate data, water-level monitoring, creating an inventory of existing drainage infrastructure, hydrologic 
analysis (e.g., directional rainfall runoff), and developing topographic models to identify flooding triggers. 

The project is expected to result in improved health and safety of the region’s residents by addressing 
stormwater flow-management, minimizing flooding risks, and guiding stormwater infrastructure 
maintenance priorities in advance of any potential system failures.  

Strategic Initiatives  

On occasion, the ministry has an opportunity to support projects of strategic significance that fall outside 
the scope of the other funding components but align with ministry and provincial priorities.  

Alberta Municipal Data Sharing Partnership 

Under this component, the Municipal District of Willow Creek received $350,000 to support the Alberta 
Municipal Data Sharing Partnership to make enhancements to its mapping software architecture. These 
enhancements will improve emergency response through location support and ensuring compliance with 
next-generation 911 integration. The project will support provincial decision-making, protect the safety of 
Albertans, and ensure Alberta remains resilient when impacted by natural disasters.  

This strategic priority serves to protect lives, ensure compliance with 911 requirements, provide a  
cost-effective and self-sustaining system that is supported by more than 400 municipalities Canada-wide, and 
helps ensure an effective and accurate system for emergency response across Alberta.  
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Wildland Urban Interface Structure Protection Support  

The Town of High Level and Clearwater County each received $1.5 million to maintain provincially 
deployable and equipped wildland urban interface response teams over the next three years. The teams will 
provide emergency response to wildland fire events, develop provincial training curriculum to enhance 
firefighter capacity, and conduct education activities. This initiative increases provincial and municipal 
coordination and capacity to respond to emergency wildfire events.  
 
Municipalities will benefit from assistance with review of wildfire preparedness plans, equipment, and 
training programs. 
 
Fort Vermilion Flood Recovery - Wastewater Repairs and Upgrades 

Mackenzie County received more than $1.2 million to repair and upgrade critical infrastructure in the hamlet 
of Fort Vermilion, which was damaged as a result of flooding in 2020. The project includes the installation 
of a new flood barrier to protect the downtown core, and repair and improvement of sanitary and storm 
water infrastructure.  

These repairs and upgrades are expected to result in job creation for Mackenzie County that will aid in its 
economic recovery. In the longer term, the project is expected to increase disaster mitigation capacity to 
support the safety of residents, local businesses, and the attraction of additional investment in the region. 

Alberta Community Partnership Grant Accountability Enhancements 

Grant accountability is a critical part of effective program delivery and, to more effectively report on 
intermunicipal collaboration projects, program processes and requirements were improved. Application 
questions were adjusted to better capture project benefits and reduce red tape for municipal applicants.  

To facilitate on-time reporting, a phased funding approach is now in place that withholds 25 per cent of 
funding until all reporting requirements are fully met. Ongoing monitoring and analysis of this approach will 
determine if it has a positive impact on project reporting. 

2.2 Encourage municipal accountability and transparency 

Municipal Affairs is committed to helping ensure Albertans live in viable municipalities and communities 
with fiscally responsible, collaborative, accountable local governments. To achieve this, the ministry plays an 
important role in assisting and supporting municipalities in Alberta through various programs that foster 
capacity-building, transparency, and accountability – the essential elements for responsible local government. 

The Municipal Government Act may at times seem overwhelming for municipalities with limited capacity or 
small administrations. Municipalities are also bound by other statutes and corresponding regulations. 
Compliance with these statutes and regulations is essential to good governance; the successful operation of a 
municipality; and the viability, safety, and well-being of a community. Ministry initiatives designed to help 
municipalities successfully meet the challenges involved in responding to these legislative needs include the 
Municipal Measurement Index, the Municipal Accountability Program, and the inspection process. 

Alberta’s Municipal Measurement Index  

The Municipal Measurement Index (www.alberta.ca/municipal-measurement-index.aspx) is a web-based 
application that provides Albertans with easy-to-access information about their communities. Through the 
application, Albertans can explore and compare financial and statistical information for all Alberta 
municipalities. The index spans several years, and is refreshed nightly as new information becomes available.  

All municipalities receive an index value based on population, equalized assessment, and geographic area, 
which can be used to compare municipalities. The index allows Albertans to evaluate information such as 
property tax rates, property tax burdens, composition of property tax bases, revenue and expenses, and 

http://www.alberta.ca/municipal-measurement-index.aspx
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debts – with an end-goal of improving municipal transparency and accountability. The 2021-22 results 
reflect the 2020 calendar year. From April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022, the dashboard was viewed more than 
1,200 times.  

Municipal Indicators  

The Municipal Government Act requires municipalities to submit a copy of their audited financial statements 
and financial information return to the ministry no later than May 1 for the year in which the documents 
were prepared. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on municipal finances is reflected in the 2021-22 
fiscal year’s data, which was the 2020 fiscal year for municipalities.  

Performance Measure 2.a: Percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk based on financial 
and governance risk indicators 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

(2020) 

2021-22 

Actual 

(2020) 

2018-19  

(2017) 

2019-20  

(2018) 

2020-21  

(2019) 

93% 94% 94%1 90% 95% 

Note: 1. Based on financial data submitted by 332 municipalities 

Data from this municipal financial information as well as other ministry sources is used to develop the 
municipal indicators used for the ministry’s performance measure 2.a. The percentage of municipalities 
deemed not to be facing long-term viability challenges based on financial and governance indicators for the 
2020 calendar year was 95 per cent, exceeding the 90 per cent target. This target was set conservatively based 
on historical results.  

Seventeen municipalities may face long-term viability challenges based on the ministry’s financial and 
governance risk indicators in 2020. Of the 17 municipalities, 11 had at least one legislative ministerial action 
taken against them, and one of them had two ministerial interventions. The other five municipalities flagged 
three or more non-critical indicators. The most prevalent non-critical indicators were related to tax 
collection and infrastructure investment, which are indicative of municipalities struggling with reduced 
municipal revenue and aging infrastructure.  

In 2020, Alberta municipalities performed on par with the 2019 reporting year, despite the COVID-19 
pandemic. The numbers of municipalities that were flagged with critical or non-critical indicators remained 
at similar levels. However, significantly more municipalities flagged the “On-time Financial Reporting” and 
“Investment in Infrastructure” indicators. For many municipalities, a lack of investment in aging 
infrastructure has been a concern for some time, and this upward trend suggests more municipalities may 
experience reduced quality of municipal services and their long-term economic growth may be hampered.  
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Municipal Accountability Program  

The objective of the Municipal Accountability Program is to build 
municipal administrative capacity and help municipalities comply 
with mandatory legislative and regulatory requirements. Minor 
non-compliance matters are identified through the program, and 
attempts are made to mitigate these issues that – if left 
unaddressed – could have the potential to create more significant 
governance concerns, and potentially lead to a more in-depth 
municipal inspection. 

In 2021-22, the population threshold for participation in the 
Municipal Accountability Program remained at 2,500, which means 
the program applied to 200 municipalities, or 60 per cent of all 
municipalities in Alberta. While the program is not intended for 
cities, improvement districts, or special areas; reviews may be 
conducted upon request. For example, in 2020, a Municipal 
Accountability Program review was performed for the City of 
Wetaskiwin. 

The program consists of multi‑year cyclical reviews. In 2021-22, 40 reviews were conducted, with three 
additional reviews added in response to petitions received from electors. The 2021 Municipal Accountability 
Program report included a review of more than 200 legislative requirements in 13 categories. The graph 
below shows the Municipal Accountability Program reviews conducted in 2021-22 by municipal status type. 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, Municipal Accountability Program reviews in the 2021-22 fiscal 
year were conducted virtually rather than in person. While virtual visits presented various challenges – 
primarily for small communities with poor internet connectivity – Municipal Affairs successfully conducted 
all scheduled reviews in 2021-22. 

Of the 43 reviews in 2021-22, the number of non-compliant gaps identified varied from as low as three (95 
per cent compliant) to as high as 27 (53 per cent compliant). 

Since the Municipal 
Accountability Program began 
in 2018, 108 reviews were 
performed. Of these 108 
reviews, 43 per cent of all 
municipalities completed their 
reviews within one year, 70 per 
cent within one and a half 
years, 88 per cent within two 
years, and 97 per cent within 
three years. To date, only 
three municipalities have taken 
longer than three years to 
complete a Municipal 
Accountability Program review. 

Municipal Accountability Program Reviews Conducted in 2021-22, by Municipal Status Type 
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The Municipal Accountability Program identifies municipal practices or documents that do not fully meet 
requirements in the Municipal Government Act. Common legislative gaps found through the Municipal 
Accountability Program reviews are that: three-year operating and five-year capital plans do not meet 
legislated requirements; listing and publication of policies used to make planning decisions have not been 
completed; property tax bylaws do not meet legislated requirements; local assessment review boards are not 
in place; and procedure bylaws do not meet legislated requirements. 

Beyond achieving the program objectives, the Municipal 
Accountability Program has helped: 

• highlight the excellent work municipalities are doing; 

• educate municipalities about recent legislative amendments 
and responsibilities; 

• enhance public confidence that municipalities are complying 
with legislation; 

• provide chief administrative officers an additional opportunity 
to receive advisory support from the ministry; and 

• identify trends and areas where the ministry can offer 
additional training and support in the future. 

Municipal Inspections 

The objective of the municipal inspection process is to support the role of a council, or a regional services 
commission board, and its administration in providing local government services in the community. 

To date, 107 of 189 Municipal 
Accountability Program 
reviews conducted from 
January 2018 to March 2022 
have been completed to the 
satisfaction of the minister:  

• 44 of 46, or 96 per cent of 
2018 reviews; 

• 46 of 61, or 75 per cent of 
2019 reviews;  

• 16 of 39, or 41 per cent of 
2020 reviews; and  

• one of 43, or 2.3 per cent of 
2021 reviews. 

Number of Non-compliant Gaps Identified in Municipal Accountability Program Reviews  
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Inspections are ordered by the minister when, in the minister’s 
opinion, significant governance or management concerns exist. 
Inspections are undertaken as a result of: 

• the minister’s initiative; 

• a request from council; 

• a request from a member of a regional services commission; or 

• a sufficient petition submitted to the minister. 

As part of the inspection, the ministry will most often conduct a preliminary review to better determine the 
underlying reason for the request and to ensure an appropriate response is taken. If there is indication of 
significant concerns, the minister will then order an inspection. Inspectors are most typically contracted 
through the Government of Alberta procurement process and must be appointed by Ministerial Order. 

 

Inspection Requests, 2016 – 2021 

Over the past five years, 22 inspection requests have been received, with the lowest number of annual 
requests occurring in 2019. This is a strong indicator that the introduction of the Municipal Accountability 
Program in 2018 has reduced the need for inspections. 

Four sufficient inspection requests were received in 2021-22 for the following municipalities: the Town of 
Drumheller, the Village of Ryley, Vulcan County and the County of Stettler. Of these four, three were 
requested by elector petition and one was requested by the council. The Town of Drumheller and Village of 
Ryley requests each had sufficient petitions that resulted in preliminary reviews being conducted; the 
minister determined that no inspection was necessary in Drumheller, while a decision is pending on Ryley.  

A preliminary review includes interviews with councillors, administrative staff, and the petition 
representative, if applicable. This information provides context for the minister when making a decision in 
response to a request for inspection.  
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The Minister of Municipal 
Affairs has not needed to order 
a municipal inspection for 
municipalities reviewed under 
the Municipal Accountability 
Program since the program’s 
inception in 2018. 
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The petition from electors of Vulcan County was not sufficient, as the number of petitioners who signed the 
petition did not meet the legislated threshold of 20 per cent of the population of the county. 

2.3 Oversee the property tax and assessment system, and prepare assessments for designated 
industrial property 

Designated Industrial Property Assessment  

Designated industrial property comprises two categories of industrial properties: 

• The first is linear property, such as wells and pipelines, electric power systems, telecommunications 
systems, cable television systems, electric power generation facilities, and railway properties.  

• The second includes properties such as the machinery and equipment at the wells and facilities, 
refineries, oil sands projects, lumber facilities, pulp and paper mills, petrochemical properties, and any 
other property meeting the definition of designated industrial property in legislation.  

The assessment of designated industrial property has been centralized with the provincial assessor for five 
years. 

The benefits of the centralized assessment model are being realized through continued incremental 
improvements in consistency, fairness, and transparency in the application of legislation, as well as 
operational efficiencies and economies of scale. The monetary cost for doing the assessment, which in 2021 
was $13.1 million as per designated industrial property requisition, has been transferred from the 
municipality to designated industrial property owners. There is greater consistency in the assessment of 
similar designated industrial properties – notwithstanding their location in the province – and access to 
assessment information is continuing to improve as the province moves toward automating the process in 
one information technology system.  

Centralization of designated industrial property assessment was 
completed in 2018, and all the municipal assessment functions 
have been integrated into one provincial system under the 
guidance and direction of the provincial assessor in Municipal 
Affairs. At the end of the 2021-22 fiscal year, municipal assessment 
preparation for designated industrial property had been integrated 
into the provincial assessor’s office in 200 out of 228 (88 per cent) 
of affected municipalities. External delegated assessors continue to prepare assessments on designated 
industrial property located in 28 (12 per cent) affected municipalities. These municipalities have large 
numbers of industrial sites located in remote areas. These assessors include private and municipal assessors 
who carry out the work in these locations under the guidance and direction of the provincial assessor, 
through contracts between the province and the assessor’s respective municipality. While the remaining 28 
municipalities give the provincial assessor and staff additional opportunity to build collaborative 
relationships with stakeholders, assessment of designated industrial properties in these municipalities will be 
integrated into the ministry’s direct operations. The ministry remains committed to working collaboratively 
with municipalities, the taxpayer, and other stakeholders. An executive advisory group regularly brings 
together leaders from industry and municipal associations to share information and to seek advisory input 
from stakeholders. Executive advisory group members’ suggestions and opinions guided the government’s 
decision-making in the transition and continued implementation of centralized assessment of designated 
industrial property, which includes the sequenced integration of municipal assessment functions for these 
properties. 

There are 418,296 kilometres 
of assessed pipelines in 
Alberta. That is about 342 trips 
from the northern Alberta 
border to the southern border 
of the province. 
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In 2021-22, Municipal Affairs completed about 597,000 designated 
industrial property assessments for about 1,400 assessed persons 
(companies), with an assessed value of approximately $172.8 billion. 
This is an increase of $1.6 billion from last year’s assessment, which 
is mainly due to changes in the inventory of the designated 
industrial property.  

These assessments yield approximately $1.7 billion in municipal 
property taxes and $310 million in education property tax for the province. Despite the lingering challenges 
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, the ministry continues to meet its commitment of annually 
inspecting 20 per cent of all existing designated industrial property and 100 per cent inspection of new 
properties. This inspection approach is consistent with the industry standard. 

The assessment of designated industrial property is conducted on a 
full cost-recovery basis, which means the province recovers costs 
through a requisition tax rate set annually by the minister. The 
requisition is charged by municipalities to designated industrial 
property owners on their property tax notice and then submitted to 
the province to recover program costs, which includes preparation 
of assessment and defending it before the Land and Property Rights 
Tribunal as required in case of an appeal. The 2021-22 requisition 
tax rate is $0.0766 per $1,000 of assessment to recover $13.2 million 
for the program.  

Auditing for Assessment Quality 

The Assessment Quality Minister’s Guidelines set out requirements 
for municipalities to report information to the province for the annual assessment audit and the equalization 
process. As in previous years, the ministry completed annual audits of all Alberta municipalities by 
measuring and comparing property assessments against market value to determine assessment levels. These 
assessment levels are used to complete the equalized assessment, ensuring education property tax 
requisitions and assessment-based grants are allocated fairly. 

All property groups evaluated within each municipality – all 335 jurisdictions – met the highest standard for 
assessment accuracy. Out of all the municipalities, 99.4 per cent of municipalities reported and declared 
assessment information on time – with two extensions granted. The auditor accepted assessment levels for 
334 of 335 jurisdictions. Assessment levels must meet the legislated standard of being between 95 and 105 
per cent of market value, and the data must be appropriate for use to calculate the equalized assessment. In 
the one case where the assessment level was not acceptable, it was adjusted to an acceptable level by the 
auditor. This is in line with previous years’ results. 

In addition to annual audits, the ministry conducted 63 detailed assessment audits on villages and summer 
villages. Findings were grouped into best practice (valuation) and administrative (compliance) recommendations. 
Of the numerous municipal administrative recommendations, most relate to omitted details for assessment 
notices. There were a few best practice recommendations, mostly relating to land valuation and consistent 
use of costing models for improvements. Overall, assessment programs for villages and summer villages are 
functioning at a high level for compliance and valuation practice. 

 

  

Designated industrial property 
assessment of about $172.8 
billion accounts for about 18 
per cent of Alberta’s total 
property assessment of $950 
billion. 

An estimated $9.5 billion in 
revenue is generated from all 
property taxes in Alberta. Of 
this, $2.5 billion contributes to 
the cost of primary education 
in Alberta, and the remaining 
$7 billion supports the 
municipal services and 
infrastructure (roads, water 
systems, recreation facilities) 
in communities across Alberta. 
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2.4 Collaborate with municipalities and municipal associations to develop tools and programs to 
support well managed, accountable, and sustainable municipalities. 

Municipal Elections  

Since 2013, general municipal elections are held every four years in the Province of Alberta. A great deal of 
effort goes into preparing for a general municipal election. In particular, this holds true for the municipal 
administrations who carry out a multitude of duties leading up to election day; the candidates running for 
office; the citizens who stay attuned to candidates’ views and consider how to cast their votes; and ministry 
staff who provide information and resources throughout the process.  

Following the last general election in 2017, a role for the Election 
Commissioner was introduced that involved enforcement of 
campaign finance and disclosure requirements, and third-party 
advertising for the 2021 municipal elections. The ministry 
endeavours to collaborate with Elections Alberta and municipal 
stakeholders to ensure future elections are conducted in a manner 
that is reflective and responsive to Local Authorities Election Act 
amendments and post-election lessons learned. 

 
There were more than 3,300 candidates province-wide in the 2021 general municipal elections. From January 
2020, to December 31, 2021, municipalities reported that there were 35 by-elections across Alberta. Despite 
the challenges brought on by the pandemic, Albertans participated in the elections, which saw 1,816 people 
elected in the 2021 general election. 

 

The 2021 general municipal election was more complex than a standard municipal election year for a 
number of reasons, including the following:  

The Local Authorities Election 
Act is used by 322 
municipalities and 61 school 
boards to conduct elections for 
councillors and school 
trustees. 

Incumbent versus Non-incumbent in 

the 2021 Municipal General Election 

 

Elected by Ballot versus Acclaimed in the 2021 

Municipal General Election 
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• Significant amendments were made to the Local Authorities Election Act since the last election in 2017, 
some of which came into effect as late as December 2020. These amendments included changing 
financial tracking for candidates, adding a new part to the Act dedicated to regulating third-party 
advertisers, and having a longer nomination period. 

• Municipalities were responsible for conducting the provincial Senate election and referenda votes in 
conjunction with their municipal elections. This was a new experience for most municipal 
administrations, as this was last required in 1998.  

• A greater number of municipalities decided to use alternative voting equipment and special ballots for 
this election, which generated concerns among electors, including concerns about the increased 
likelihood of voter fraud and results tampering. 

• Conducting an election during the COVID-19 pandemic was a sizable concern for municipalities and 
electors. As such, the ministry experienced a higher demand for relevant election training, resources, and 
advisory support. 

Beginning in early 2021, resources were made available on the Municipal Affairs website for election 
returning officers and potential candidates, including:  

• an election procedural manual comprising 10 modules, including appendices provided by Elections 
Alberta addressing the Senate election and referenda votes and the new role of the Election 
Commissioner in enforcing campaign finance and disclosure provisions and third-party advertising 
requirements; 

• a 2021 municipal election 
calendar/checklist;  

• a by-election 
calendar/checklist; 

• sample Deputy Returning 
Officer and Presiding Deputy 
Returning Officer handbooks; 

• sample supply lists; 

• sample forms and completion 
instructions;  

• downloadable election forms; 

• sample voting station layouts; 
and 

• a candidate’s guide to running 
for municipal office in Alberta. 

Ministry staff also responded to hundreds of telephone and written inquiries from municipal and school 
board administrations, elected officials, potential candidates, and electors. Calls included general inquiries 
about the municipal election processes; questions relating to qualification of candidates and elector eligibility; 
and inquiries from returning officers seeking advice or clarification, especially relating to the recently 
amended legislative requirements, the Senate election and referenda votes, and the safe conduct of the 
election during the pandemic.  

Breakdown of the Client Type Seeking Advisory 

Support for the 2021 Municipal Election 

Elected Officials
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Citizens
25%

Municipal Staff
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Election Training Support 

Between April and June 2021, the ministry offered live election training webinars to municipal returning 
officers in collaboration with Elections Alberta. This was a new and radically different way of training that 
required ministry staff to quickly learn how to use the technology effectively and to adapt in-person 
facilitation strategies to a virtual format. Although some participants said they would have preferred an in-
person format, many election officials – especially from smaller municipalities – appreciated the virtual 
format as they typically could not afford the time and expense of travelling to attend in-person sessions. 

An average of 162 municipal and school board election officials participated in each of the 22 live election-
training sessions. Recordings of these sessions were also posted on the Municipal Affairs website for those 
that could not attend the live sessions.  

In April 2021, the ministry offered a virtual training session specifically for summer villages as those 
elections occur in July and August, two to three months ahead of elections in other Alberta municipalities. 
Twenty-five participants representing approximately 40 summer villages attended this training opportunity, 
which consisted of two half-day sessions. 

Participation in 2021 Election Training (Number of Participants, by Module) 

Senate and Referenda Initiative 

Residents of municipalities not conducting municipal elections in October 2021 (summer villages, 
improvement districts, Special Areas, First Nations, and the Alberta side of the City of Lloydminster), could 
vote through mail-in ballots on the Senate election and referenda. The outcomes of this initiative were as 
follows: 

• eighteen municipal partners were secured for 32 First Nations to conduct the Senate election and 
referenda votes;  

• eleven municipal partners were secured for 40 summer villages. The remaining summer villages either 
voted in their community or participated via special ballots administered by Municipal Affairs; 
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• the City of Lloydminster agreed to conduct Senate and referenda votes in the community;   

• three municipal partners were secured for Improvement Districts 4, 9, and 12; and 

• Municipal Affairs was responsible for conducting the votes for the remaining First Nations (19), 
summer villages (two), Improvement Districts (two), and the Special Areas, as municipal partnerships 
were not possible.  

Grants for Senate Elections and Referenda 

In conjunction with the municipal elections in October 2021, the Government of Alberta held elections for 
Senate nominees and referenda. Both the Alberta Senate Election Act and Referendum Act required payments to 
be made to municipalities, Metis Settlements, band councils, and other bodies to conduct the vote, and each 
Act has separate grant regulations. Budget 2021 allocated $10 million in funding to cover the costs incurred 
by municipalities and elected authorities that conducted Senate elections and referenda on behalf of the 
province. Of that $10 million, the Senate Election Grants Regulation accounted for $5 million, and the 
Referendum Payments Regulation accounted for the remaining $5 million. 

To meet the obligations under the Acts, the grant regulations stipulate the following: 

• Where an election is required in a municipality or ward, the elected authority or other body that 
conducts the vote in that municipality or ward is to be paid a grant of $1 per capita or $1,000 whichever 
is greater ($2 per capita or $2,000 for both the Senate elections and referenda). 

• The amount is doubled where there is no election required in a municipality ($4 per capita or $4,000 
minimum for both Senate elections and referenda). 

• In a situation where a municipality conducts an election in some wards and not others due to 
acclamation, the per capita rates are applied at the ward level and the municipality is eligible for the 
$4,000 minimum for the Senate election and referenda. 

Out of the $10 million made available to 394 local communities in Budget 2021, 292 local governments and 
three First Nations received $9.5 million in funding to conduct Senate elections and referenda in their 
communities and neighbouring communities on behalf of the province. Of these:  

• there were 273 municipalities and eight Metis Settlements that conducted their own elections; 

• twenty-nine of the 273 municipalities held elections on behalf of 74 summer villages, improvement 
districts, and First Nations, where Municipal Affairs was responsible for conducting the vote for 
electors;  

• fourteen summer villages, improvement districts, and First Nations conducted their own elections; and  

• twenty-four summer villages, improvement districts, and First Nations participated in the election via 
special ballots (mail-in-ballots) administered by Municipal Affairs. 

Ongoing Advice, Resources, and Training  

Municipal Advisory 

Advisory support is provided to municipalities on a wide range of topics, including municipal governance, 
administration, elections, planning, finance, and tax and assessment. The support is tracked through a 
database. Over the past four years, a negligible number of advisory calls were made on improvement 
districts, and more calls were received in the two years leading up to 2021-22 on most topics, with elections 
and council/governance topping calls in 2021-22. In 2021-22, the ministry responded to a higher than usual 
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advisory support call volume, largely due to the October 2021 municipal elections and the pandemic. 
Including the election inquiries noted previously, ministry staff responded to more than 2,300 telephone and 
written inquiries. 

Providing advisory support continues to be critical 
to the ministry’s goal of supporting well-managed, 
accountable, and sustainable municipalities. The 
number of advisory calls and emails managed by 
staff has been consistently increasing since the 
tracking system was introduced.  

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, nine 
municipal governance updates were emailed 
directly to municipalities, regional services 
commissions, and regional planning commissions. 
The updates responded directly to frequently asked 
questions about governance, operational issues, 
and the election, and helped these organizations 
navigate the public health orders relating to 
masking, the Restrictions Exemption Program, and 
other pandemic-related matters. 

1,701

2,242
2,332

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Number of Advisory 

Calls/Emails Received 

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

Administration

Assessment and Taxation

Council/Governance

Elections

Finance

Improvement Districts

Inspections

Intermunicipal Relations/Dispute Resolution

Municipal Accountability Program

Petitions

Planning and Development

Training

Other

Nov. 30, 2018 to Mar. 31, 2019
Apr. 1, 2019 to Mar. 31, 2020
Apr. 1, 2020 to Mar. 31, 2021
Apr. 1, 2021 to Jan. 13, 2022

Number and Type of Advisory Calls Received, by Topic 



 

Results Analysis 

 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2021-22 45 

Municipal Training 

In 2021-22, Municipal Affairs focused on delivering comprehensive election training to municipal returning 
officers. The ministry also delivered property tax recovery training in conjunction with the Alberta Municipal 
Taxation Professionals Association virtual conference in September 2021. Eighty-five municipal tax clerks 
from across the province participated in this session.  

Training for Public Libraries 

Municipal Affairs supports public libraries by delivering a variety of training sessions, distributing 
documents, and providing direct support in response to stakeholder inquiries.  

The ministry has delivered its training to public library stakeholders online since the beginning of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. In 2021-22, staff delivered more than 50 online training sessions or virtual conference 
presentations on library board governance, strategic planning, library operating grant applications, 
Indigenous library service, and more. Municipal Affairs staff also hosted an online symposium on resiliency, 
disaster planning, and business continuity in April 2021. The intent of this online training was to ensure 
library board members and staff across Alberta continued to receive essential information so they can better 
support their libraries and communities, even when they could not gather for in-person training due to 
public health restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Throughout 2021-22, Municipal Affairs distributed electronic training documents on topics essential to 
library boards and staff, including board member appointments, the relationship and responsibilities of 
library boards and municipalities, and library service for Indigenous communities. In 2021-22, Municipal 
Affairs has taken action to ensure these training documents are accessible to people with print disabilities 
and visual impairments, as part of its work to improve accessibility. In 2021, the Public Library Services 
Branch hired a staff member with lived experience with accessibility issues and who is an expert in ensuring 
documents are accessible for people with print disabilities to be part of this work. 

Municipal Viability 

The viability review process, enabled through the Municipal Government Act, provides a framework to help 
municipalities facing significant challenges determine their ability to continue as a municipality by evaluating 
key areas including governance, finances, infrastructure, and services. Municipalities confronting viability 
challenges often face limited administrative capacities, declining populations and tax bases, and infrastructure 
deficits. The viability review process is concluded through a vote of local electors and can result in an action 
plan to address challenges in these key areas or a municipal dissolution. Through dissolution, the municipal 
corporation no longer exists, and the community becomes part of a neighbouring municipality.  

A viability review is a collaborative process that includes the municipality under review, the municipality that 
would absorb the dissolved municipality, the municipal associations, and the ministry. These reviews look at 
a municipality’s governance, finances, infrastructure, and services in order to determine what changes are 
required for the community to remain viable. In order to provide an accurate picture of the municipality’s 
infrastructure status, each viability review typically includes a comprehensive infrastructure study funded 
through the Municipal Restructuring component of the Alberta Community Partnership program.  

Viability reviews can be initiated in three ways:  

1. at the request of a municipal council;  

2. upon receipt of a sufficient petition from a municipality’s electors; or  

3. at the discretion of the minister if there is evidence that a municipality is facing significant challenges.  
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The Village of Hythe was the only viability review completed in 2021-22. The vote was conducted in March 
2021, and 95 per cent of the votes cast were in favour of dissolving the village to become a hamlet in the 
County of Grande Prairie. With Cabinet’s approval, the village dissolved on July 1, 2021. 

Two additional viability reviews were in progress in 2021-22 for the villages of Halkirk and Warner. Due to 
municipal general elections taking place in October 2021, these two viability reviews were briefly paused to 
avoid interfering with the local election process. The Village of Halkirk’s vote was conducted in March 2022, 
following an in-person public information session held the previous month. Of the votes cast, 40 per cent 
were in favour of dissolving the village to become a hamlet in the County of Paintearth, and 60 per cent 
were in favour of remaining a municipality. The Village of Warner’s vote was conducted in March 2022, 
following an in-person public information session. Of the votes cast, 10 per cent were in favour of 
dissolving the village to become a hamlet in the County of Warner, and 90 per cent were in favour of 
remaining a municipality. 

Overall, the number of viability reviews remains very small in the context of the total number of 
municipalities, and this is consistent with the number of reviews and dissolutions that have occurred over 
the last 10 years. In the past 10 years, 14 municipalities have dissolved based on a public vote. Residents of 
nine others voted to remain as a municipality, and these municipalities have either implemented – or are 
implementing – directives to improve their viability.   

In June 2021, the Village of Clyde became the first municipality in the province to complete a five-year 
report on its actions to improve viability and progress on its multi-year capital plan, which was ordered by 
the minister in 2016 at the conclusion of a viability review. As a result, the Village of Clyde has allocated $4.2 
million to address its infrastructure deficit between 2016 and 2026, to the long-term benefit of the entire 
village. 

Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, several mitigations have 
been necessary to adapt to the health measures in place at the time, 
including conducting virtual meetings with municipal 
administrations, councils, and the public, rather than in person, and 
implementing safety protocols during the elector votes. Mitigation 
practices have included virtual meetings when necessary and for in-
person public engagement events, the use of masks, social 
distancing, capacity limits, sanitization, plastic barriers, and single-
use pens.  

A combination of in-person and virtual meetings is preferred moving forward. Collecting information for 
the viability reviews via virtual meetings with municipal officials works well and has cut down on travel costs 
and saved time. However, because it can be challenging to connect with audiences attending online 
presentations, the ministry is committed to resuming in-person public meetings for viability reviews when it 
is safe to do so. To this end, the ministry will continue to seek guidance from Alberta Health on public 
events going forward. 

Viability Review Evaluation Project 

In 2021, the ministry engaged KPMG to evaluate the viability review process independently. Surveys and 
focus groups were conducted with stakeholders of municipalities that participated in viability reviews 
completed from 2012 through 2021, including residents, municipal elected officials, and administrative 
officials. 

The project evaluated satisfaction with the viability review process, the outcomes, and the support from the 
ministry post-viability review. Some key opportunities for improvement included: 
 

The last voluntary 
amalgamation in Alberta was 
in 2007, when the Town of Lac 
La Biche and Lakeland County 
amalgamated to become Lac 
La Biche County.   
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• expanding engagement opportunities in the municipality under review and with neighbouring 
municipalities; 

• improving project management and status reporting to streamline the viability review process; 

• providing explicit role clarity for all stakeholders that are involved in the review process; 

• adding a plain language section to the viability review report that explains the findings of the review for 
the average resident and, where possible, providing relatable context for residents to help make an 
informed decision; and 

• developing a more robust post-review process.  

The ministry continues to review the results of the evaluation with the intent of applying the information to 
ensure continuous improvement for the program.  

Other Municipal Restructuring  

The Municipal Government Act provides a process for amalgamation, which occurs when two or more 
municipalities join to become one municipality. Municipalities may explore voluntary amalgamation if they 
believe they can operate more effectively or efficiently together rather than separately.  

In September 2021, the Town of Black Diamond and the Town of Turner Valley submitted their report on 
amalgamation negotiations and requested the minister recommend to Cabinet that the towns be 
amalgamated effective January 1, 2023. Following the 2021 municipal general election, the minister 
requested the newly elected councils of each municipality to confirm their support for the submission of 
their predecessors. In February 2022, the councils confirmed that they support moving forward with the 
amalgamation. The final decision rests with Cabinet and is expected to be made in 2022.  

The Town of Rocky Mountain House, Clearwater County, and the 
Village of Caroline completed a regional governance study in 2021-
22, which was funded by the Alberta Community Partnership 
program 2020-21. The key recommendation of the regional 
governance study was for the county and village to pursue 
amalgamation and continue their regional collaboration with the 
town. The county and village have not yet decided whether to move 
forward with amalgamation. 

Eight summer villages in Lac Ste. Anne County began a municipal 
restructuring study to examine opportunities for improving local 
governance and intermunicipal collaboration and potential amalgamation. The study has proceeded with 
significant municipal dialogue and public engagement sessions since the election of new councils in 2021; 
however, it remains incomplete. 

The Municipal Government Act also provides the ability to form new municipalities. This is an exceedingly rare 
occurrence, as all lands in the province are located in municipal boundaries; however, municipal formation is 
a tool that can be used to restructure the boundaries between new and existing municipalities.  

In response to a 2019 elector petition, the ministry led a study to explore the viability of forming a new 
municipality that would constitute approximately half of the existing lands in Mackenzie County and the 
Town of Rainbow Lake. The study, completed in late 2021 with the support and close collaboration of the 
two impacted municipalities, indicated the proposed formation would result in a non-viable situation for a 
majority of residents. The minister has met with the municipalities to understand their perspectives and 
long-term desires. 

The towns of Turner Valley 
and Black Diamond have been 
voluntarily exploring 
amalgamation intermittently 
since 1987, culminating in 
submitting their formal 
application for amalgamation 
to the province in September 
2021. 
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Municipal Internship 

Municipal Affairs continues to offer the Municipal Internship 
Program, which is celebrating its 21st year. As the longest running 
program of its type in Canada, this partnership initiative continues to 
support Alberta’s municipalities and planning services agencies to 
provide jobs for recent post-secondary graduates eager to pursue 
careers in municipal administration.  

Municipal interns benefit from the hands-on work experience, 
mentoring, and learning opportunities provided by their host 
organizations, as well as the unique professional development 
opportunities facilitated by program staff. Organizations that host 
interns benefit from the education, skills, and passion for learning 
brought by the interns. Overall, the municipal field benefits from the 
addition of these new professionals, with more than 100 municipalities and seven planning services agencies 
participating as internship hosts since 2002. 

In 2021-22, the ministry provided $980,000 in grant funding through the Alberta Community Partnership 
program (first- and second-year funding) to help municipalities cover the costs of hosting 11 administrator 
interns, five land-use planner interns, and eight finance officer interns.  

 

 

Of the more than 350 interns 
who have participated in the 
internship program since 2002, 
more than half are now 
employed in the municipal 
field, as well as a number of 
participants employed in other 
public sector organizations. 
Many alumni of the program 
mentor, or directly supervise, 
municipal interns in their 
organizations. 
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Minister’s Awards for Municipal Excellence  

The annual Minister’s Awards for Municipal Excellence recognize successful initiatives among Alberta 
municipalities. The Minister’s Awards for Municipal Excellence contribute to well-managed municipalities by 
celebrating successes in municipal service delivery and promoting knowledge-sharing to build capacity. 
These awards recognize the great work being done in communities across Alberta.   

A review committee that includes representatives from the following organizations evaluates the awards: 

• Alberta Municipalities; 

• the Rural Municipalities of Alberta; 

• the Local Government Administration Association; 

• the Alberta Rural Municipal Administrators’ Association; 

• the Society of Local Government Managers; and 

• the Government Finance Officers Association. 

The 2021-22 fiscal year marked the 20th year of the awards program and a record number of submissions 
were received for this milestone. In total, 64 submissions were received for consideration and the following 
municipalities received awards from the minister: 
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Building Economic Strength Category 

City of Medicine Hat – Innovative Approach to Economic Supports 

The City of Medicine Hat took innovative approaches to sustaining the local economy and encouraging the 
community to shop local during the COVID-19 pandemic, including the development of the Medicine Hat 
Business Innovation Grant to support local businesses that experienced a material adverse impact on their 
operations. The grant encouraged business innovation, maintained or enhanced new revenue streams, and 
reduced barriers for businesses to remain open as a result of increased costs associated with new guidelines 
put in place to mitigate the impact of the pandemic. As well, the city created Shop YXH, a one-stop shop 
website that focuses on buying local.  

Enhancing Community Safety Category 

Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo – Vulnerable Persons Self-Registry 

Lessons learned from the 2016 wildfires identified a void in the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo’s 
practices when it came to vulnerable populations, such as those with disabilities, those dependent on life-
sustaining technology, or elderly persons living alone. To address this gap, the municipality’s Regional 
Emergency Services department developed the Vulnerable Persons Self-Registry. The Vulnerable Persons 
Self-Registry is a centralized, current, accessible, and secure information source that Regional Emergency 
Services and other municipal departments use to quickly identify vulnerable populations, and to account for 
their special needs during an emergency response or during an evacuation due to an imminent threat such as 
a flood, wildfire, extreme weather, or other disruptive event.  

Partnership Category 

Town of Devon and Enoch Cree Nation (Maskekosihk) – Indigenous Engagement and Relationship Building 

The Town of Devon is a diverse community with a large population of Indigenous peoples, including 
Nehiyaw (Cree), Isga (Nakota), and a strong Métis community. Since the Truth and Reconciliation 
Commission of Canada: Calls to Action was published in 2015, the Devon council made it a priority to work 
on reconciliation throughout the community and its administration. The town hired an Indigenous 
engagement coordinator to help the town on its path of reconciliation and relationship-building. The town 
also undertook actions to actively engage and collaborate with neighbouring First Nations and Métis 
communities; provide opportunities for education and awareness of Indigenous peoples and cultures to 
municipal leadership, staff, and residents; and collaborated with First Nations and Indigenous peoples to 
bring cultural awareness events, workshops, and programs to Devon. The initiative reaffirmed the 
community’s role as treaty partners with Indigenous peoples of Treaty Six. 
 

Service Delivery Innovation Category 

Town of Okotoks – Okotoks Transit On-Demand 

Using demand management technology, the Town of Okotoks launched a curb-to-curb on-demand public 
transit service for all passengers. This technology manages all parameters of the system (including pickup 
and drop-off locations, boundaries, pickup window time, trip times, and total trip windows), so transit users 
can use the Okotoks Transit App to book their trip or contact the call centre to book on their behalf. The 
adaptability of the transit system allowed the town to adjust its service quickly in response to public health 
measures for social distancing. Okotoks transit was also able to fill a gap in the community during the early 
months of the pandemic by assisting local stores with the delivery of food and essential supplies to self-
isolating residents. This allowed the transit service to provide another essential service, sustain transit 
revenue, and retain staff.  
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Smaller Municipalities Category 

Town of Bruderheim – Climate Resilience Action Plan 

The Town of Bruderheim worked with the towns of Gibbons and Lamont to form the Resilient Rurals 
partnership to develop capacity for regional climate change adaptation and resilience. Through the work of 
this partnership, the town was able to develop a small-town approach to addressing risks associated with 
climate change that reflects the risks posed to a small community. The Climate Resilience Action Plan was 
built on the themes of flood management and drainage, infrastructure, ecosystems and natural areas, urban 
trees and landscaping, human health and safety, and agriculture and food security. The plan identifies ways 
to manage risks and opportunities expected to result from climate change over the next several decades. The 
project involved an assessment of each municipality’s risks and opportunities related to the environment and 
other factors, such as the economy, infrastructure, communication, and emergency response. Once the plan 
is completed, the municipalities will collectively decide which projects to pursue, based on need and 
potential impact. 
 

 

Recognition for Red Tape Reduction Initiatives  

For the 2021 Minister’s Awards for Municipal Excellence, the Minister of Municipal Affairs also provided 
special recognition for Red Tape Reduction initiatives to municipalities that demonstrated their commitment 
to finding efficiencies, reducing red tape, and encouraging private sector investment. The recipients of this 
special recognition were: 

Urban Municipality Under 10,000: Village of Elnora  

The Village of Elnora undertook efforts to improve electronic access to information for residents so they 
can keep up-to-date on council activities, including updating and simplifying municipal documents for 
current and potential businesses, and providing other services such as online payments. An extensive 
amount of effort went into enhancing the services provided to residents, particularly when public health 
restrictions where in place and access to the village office was reduced.  

Urban Municipality Over 10,000: City of Lloydminster  

The City of Lloydminster undertook a LEAN project to review the city’s business licence process in 
consultation with the Chamber of Commerce, Community Futures and Startup Lloydminster. The city made 
it easier for new businesses to establish themselves by extending the vacancy period from six to 12 months 
so seasonal businesses are not required to reapply for a licence and adopting a 12-mile permit radius around 
Lloydminster within which non-resident businesses are offered a reduced fee.  

Rural Municipality: Red Deer County  

Red Deer County worked to make it easier for businesses to start up in the municipality by streamlining 
business approvals and establishing a Concierge Business Development Service to guide developers and 
businesses through the full development process. The county took a collaborative approach to this work 
with an overall goal of helping businesses succeed in the community. 

A red tape reduction category will be added for next year’s awards program.  
 

Minister’s Awards for Municipal and Public Library Excellence 

In early 2022, the minister approved the amalgamation of two awards programs effective 2022: the 
Minister’s Awards for Municipal Excellence and the Public Library Excellence awards. The new program – 
called the Minister’s Awards for Municipal and Public Library Excellence – will create a streamlined and 
consistent recognition initiative for Municipal Affairs, be more cost-effective than running the two programs 
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separately, and increase awareness among municipalities and library boards of the innovative and excellent 
work accomplished by both of these stakeholder groups.  
 

Collaborative Governance Initiative 

In 2021-22, three municipalities accessed advice, assessment, training, and conflict coaching in situations of 
internal council conflict through the Collaborative Governance Initiative. 

In municipal election years, the Collaborative Governance and Intermunicipal Dispute Resolution Initiatives 
programs receive fewer grant applications than normal, as the newly elected councils become orientated, 
familiarize themselves with local and intermunicipal issues, and set priorities for their four-year term. The 
ministry will continue to promote the benefits of the collaborative governance initiatives to municipalities as 
a means of building stronger relationships. 

Intermunicipal Dispute Resolution Initiative  

Through the Intermunicipal Dispute Resolution Initiative, the ministry offers proactive support to local 
governments to explore ways to improve conflict management, build better relationships, and improve 
communication between municipalities that share common boundaries or shared service areas. The use of 
mediation or other dispute resolution alternatives is encouraged as a way for municipalities to resolve issues 
before resorting to legal proceedings. Typically, intermunicipal issues resolved through mediation pertain to 
annexation, land‑use planning, cost‑sharing, or the need for improved relationships.  

The ministry has been providing intermunicipal dispute resolution support for 23 years in response to a need 
identified by municipalities for alternatives to quasi-judicial appeals. An advisory committee composed of 
municipal associations, the Alternative Dispute Resolution Institute of Alberta, and the Canadian Bar 
Association has supported the initiative. In those 23 years, the ministry has supported 162 mediations with 
an overall success rate of 86 per cent.   

In the last three years, from 2019 to 2021, there were 33 intermunicipal collaboration framework mediations 
with an 82 per cent success rate, and four intermunicipal development plan mediations with a 75 per cent 
success rate.   

In 2021-22, the ministry provided $115,000 in funding in support of two requests for mediation assistance 
involving an intermunicipal land-use dispute and an annexation. There was one application from 
municipalities for organizational protocol projects, which establish how municipalities will work together 
internally and/or externally.  

Regional Services Commissions  

Regional services commissions are a long-standing – and successful – form of governance for delivering 
services on behalf of municipal members. They can deliver one or more services, which can include water, 
wastewater, solid waste management, property assessment, emergency services, land-use planning, and 
transit. Regional services commissions have their own distinct legal status, operate independently from the 
member municipalities, and provide their own administration and operations. The board of directors of each 
commission provides governance and oversight; these boards are comprised of councillors from the 
member authorities.  

Streamlined provisions put in place in 2020 in the Municipal Government Act, created efficiencies for the 
regional services commissions. This included reducing – and in most cases, removing – the need for 
ministerial approval for specific functions, such as passing or revising board of director appointment bylaws, 
disposing of assets, and providing services outside of members’ boundaries.  
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Seventy-five regional services commissions established under the former legislative framework were 
maintained by Ministerial Order, ensuring their status and ability to continue operations was not affected. In 
2021-22, one new regional services commission was established: the Leduc and District Regional Waste 
Management Commission was the first regional services commission formed under the new legislation.  

The Sylvan Lake Regional Water Commission and Sylvan Lake Regional Wastewater Commission merged to 
create efficiencies in service delivery, as they both had the same members and served the same area. This 
resulted in the disestablishment of the Sylvan Lake Regional Water Commission, with the newly formed 
Sylvan Lake Regional Water/Wastewater Commission providing both water and wastewater services to its 
members. The Beaver Regional Waste Management Services Commission was also disestablished. 

As municipalities continue to seek efficiencies in service delivery for residents, it is expected regional services 
commissions will continue to be a valuable regional option. 

Alberta Community Partnership 

Municipal Restructuring  

The Municipal Restructuring component of the Alberta Community Partnership program provides grants to 
municipalities undertaking viability reviews or restructuring activities, such as dissolution or amalgamation.  

In 2021-22, $1.2 million was provided to the County of Grande Prairie for transitional and infrastructure 
funding relating to the dissolution of Hythe; and $100,000 funded one regional governance study involving 
two municipalities. 

Intermunicipal Collaboration 

The Intermunicipal Collaboration component of the Alberta Community Partnership program provides 
competitive grants to municipal partnerships pursuing regional approaches to service delivery. To be eligible, 
projects must focus on supporting regional land-use and service-delivery planning — specifically, 
development of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans. 

In 2021-22, the Intermunicipal Collaboration component provided grant funding totalling approximately 
$200,000 to support the municipalities of Drayton Valley-Brazeau County, and Sturgeon County and City of 
St. Albert, in the development of new or updated intermunicipal development plans and intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks. Approximately $4.9 million went to support 63 municipalities as they developed 
regional land-use and service-delivery arrangements. 

Mediation and Cooperative Processes 

The Mediation and Cooperative Processes component provides grants to municipalities to access dispute 
resolution services, develop pre-emptive cooperation protocols and procedures, or to engage third-party 
mediators or facilitators to assist with intermunicipal collaborative framework negotiations. Under this 
stream, funding can be used to hire a mediator or facilitator (one-half the cost, up to $50,000), in order to 
help negotiate service agreements pertaining to intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and/or 
intermunicipal development plans. 

In 2021-22, $75,000 was provided to support four applications: two for an intermunicipal land-use dispute 
and annexation negotiation, one for a collaborative governance initiative, and one for a citizen engagement 
strategy. 

Municipal Internship 

The Municipal Internship component provides grants and capacity-building to municipalities and planning 
services agencies to host land-use planner, finance officer, or municipal administrator internships.  
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The ministry also approved $980,000 in grant funding to participating municipalities to cover the costs of 
hosting 11 administrator interns, eight finance officer interns, and five land-use planner interns in 2021-22. 
To ensure the highest-quality program possible and a positive experience for most interns and their host 
municipalities, the ministry also provided approximately 500 hours of training and coaching support to help 
build the capacity of interns and their supervisors. 

Public Library Provincial Funding  

Stable provincial funding for public libraries ensures library service remains equitable across the province. In 
2021-22, the Government of Alberta funded public libraries and library services in Alberta at $37 million. Of 
this, $30.5 million was direct operating grant funding to public library boards. This funding supports library 
service to municipal residents and residents of neighbouring First Nation reserves and Metis Settlements.  

Municipal Affairs invests $1 million annually in electronic resources for all public libraries across Alberta. 
This investment widens the range, quantity, and quality of library resources available to residents throughout 
the province. It also helps ensure equitable access to resources for all Albertans, even if they do not enter a 
physical library building. Electronic resources funded in 2021-22 include: 

• audiobooks and e-magazines; 

• PressReader, which provides international newspapers and magazines electronically; 

• Pronunciator, which provides language learning opportunities to Albertans; and 

• the Read Alberta Ebooks Collection, which makes nearly 2,000 Alberta-published ebooks available to 
readers across the province in partnership with the Book Publishers Association of Alberta. Included in 
the collection is the Prairie Indigenous Ebooks Collection, which has more than 200 books written by 
Indigenous authors and published in Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba. 

To support access to these and other resources on the internet, Municipal Affairs funds SuperNet use for all 
libraries in the Public Library Network at a cost of $2.5 million per year. Municipal Affairs continues to 
support equitable access to library resources for people with print disabilities by providing $323,000 in 
combined funding to the National Network for Equitable Library Service and the Centre for Equitable 
Library Access. Municipal Affairs also provided $50,000 to the National Network for Equitable Library 
Service to fund three internship positions to assist with creating accessible format materials at the University 
of Alberta School of Library and Information Studies.  

In 2016-17, Municipal Affairs began providing $700,000 annually to three large urban libraries and six 
regional library systems to serve neighbouring Indigenous populations outside municipal boundaries, and 
continued to do so in 2021-22. Traditionally underserved in Alberta public libraries, all on-reserve and on-
settlement populations now have equitable access to public library resources. 

Public libraries or Indigenous outreach services are now available at Alexis Nakota Sioux Nation, Cold Lake 
First Nation, Elizabeth Metis Settlement, Enoch Cree Nation, Frog Lake First Nation, Fishing Lake Metis 
Settlement, Goodfish Lake First Nation, Heart Lake First Nation, Maskwacîs, Saddle Lake Cree Nation, and 
Sunchild First Nation School. Frog Lake First Nation and Fishing Lake Metis Settlement also joined their 
local regional library systems in 2021-22. Examples of services include books written by and for Indigenous 
people, Indigenous art programs, and programs with Elders.  

As shown in the chart below, the number of on-reserve and on-settlement library cards have increased in 
each of the past four years, even following the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020. 
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On-reserve and On-settlement Library Card Issuance, 2017-2020 

2.5 Provide capital grants to support sustainable investment in municipal infrastructure 

Municipal Sustainability Initiative 

The Municipal Sustainability Initiative is Alberta’s primary municipal infrastructure grant program. Since its 
inception in 2007, the program has directly helped municipalities make significant investments in local 
infrastructure, which promotes economic development, creates jobs, and meets the needs of Albertans.  

The program balances accountability and transparency with significant municipal autonomy to determine 
local priorities. Examples of program-funded infrastructure projects include:  

• new and rehabilitated roads;  

• light-rail transit lines and vehicles to support public transit; 

• library buildings to support learning activities;  

• recreational facilities to improve personal and community health and wellness;  

• wastewater pumping facilities and lift stations that provide wastewater removal for residents;  

• stormwater retention ponds to protect municipalities from flooding; and  

• fire halls to manage fire safety, services, and equipment. 

Since 2007, Alberta’s municipalities have been allocated more than $14.1 billion in Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative funding. In 2021-22, the ministry provided more than $1.2 billion to municipalities through the 
Municipal Sustainability Initiative program, including $29.1 million under the Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative Operating component.  
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The Municipal Sustainability Initiative was initially set to expire after March 2022, to be replaced with the 
Local Government Fiscal Framework in April 2022. However, the Local Measures Statutes Amendment Act 
extended the program by two years from its planned conclusion date. In 2024-25, the program will be 
replaced with the new framework. This will include capital funding legislated under the Local Government 
Fiscal Framework Act and non-legislated operating funding. In February 2022, the province extended the 
Municipal Sustainability Initiative agreements between the Government of Alberta and municipalities, so 
funding will continue to be provided to municipalities until March 31, 2024. 

Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital Funding 

Despite Alberta’s fiscal challenges, the government will continue to 
make a substantial financial commitment to municipalities by 
providing an annual average of $722 million to local governments 
until the end of the Municipal Sustainability Initiative (2021-24 
fiscal years). This funding level represents a 25 per cent reduction 
from the $963 million budgeted in 2020. Budget 2021 announced 
that Municipal Sustainability Initiative capital funding, over the last 
three years of the program, would average $722 million. The 
funding was front-loaded in the first year so that priority projects 
could continue, and as a result, municipalities received $1.196 
billion in capital funding in 2021. This means municipalities will 
receive $485 million in each of 2022 and 2023. This will help 
municipalities become accustomed to the reduced funding level 
under the Local Government Fiscal Framework, which will replace 
the Municipal Sustainability Initiative in 2024, with funding starting 
at $722 million. 

To lessen the impact of the budget reduction and ensure 
municipalities could plan and continue priority infrastructure projects that were underway, Municipal 
Sustainability Initiative Capital funding was front-loaded in 2021-22. Municipalities received $1.2 billion in 
capital funding in 2021, and will receive $485 million in each of the next two years. As the result of front-
loading the funding in 2021, local governments are estimated to receive 40.6 per cent of what they received 
in 2021 for both 2022 and 2023, with all municipalities receiving an equal percentage reduction. 

Given the significant and urgent spending pressures on the provincial government due to the COVID-19 
pandemic and economic downturn, the province implemented a new step in the payment process for the 
2020-21 capital allocation. To access payments, each municipality was asked to indicate whether they 
intended to spend the payment on a Municipal Sustainability Initiative capital project in 2020. If not, the 
payment was not made until the first quarter of 2021. Of the 206 municipalities that were eligible to receive 
payments, 65 deferred payments or did not respond to communication from the ministry, meaning 141 
requested the payment. This helped to manage provincial cash-flow requirements while ensuring capital 
funding was available as soon as a municipality needed it, and to support jobs and economic activity in 
communities across Alberta. The Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital payment process was 
implemented in 2020 and continued in 2021. If funding was not required in 2021, the payment would be 
withheld until February 2022. Approximately $177 million was paid in January 2022 to the 65 local 
governments that deferred payments or did not respond to 
communication from the ministry. 

Municipalities are accountable to provide a true estimation of costs 
for the appropriate use of grant funds. Applications include 
estimated project costs, and municipalities report annually on the 
status of each project and its expenditures. The quality of 
submission of the 2020 statement of funding expenditure reporting 

Since the start of the MSI 
program, more than 10,300 
capital projects, totalling nearly 
$13.5 billion, have been 
accepted under the program, 
and $532 million has been 
expended on operating 
priorities. 

To access an annual allocation 
payment, a municipality must 
be up-to-date on program 
reporting and have committed 
their allocation to eligible 
projects. 

In 2021-22, 138 eligible 
municipalities opted to be paid 
their 2021 allocation prior to 
February 2022, which reflects 
that they intended to proceed 
with their capital infrastructure 
projects in 2021. 
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(i.e., requiring no changes) improved by 25 per cent as compared to the 2019 program year. 

Capital Funding for Local Infrastructure Projects, 2021-22 

 

In 2021-22, municipalities committed $704 million of capital funding for 860 accepted projects. Projects 
include: 

• replacing the Rundle Manor affordable housing complex in the City of Calgary to provide 145 more 
spaces for Calgarians in need; 

• rehabilitating the Grandview, Eastwood, Elmwood, and Yellowhead corridor neighbourhoods in the 
City of Edmonton, including roads, sidewalks, and park and recreation areas, and updating flood 
mitigation and safety features in mature neighbourhoods; 

• replacing several bridges, strengthening bridge spans and constructing new culverts in Sturgeon County; 

• stabilizing the slope along Rosevear Bridge in Yellowhead County, ensuring a natural erosion process 
and preventing damage to the bridge structure; 

• replacing a snow blower for the Town of High Level, providing snow clearing capacity for both the 
airport and town roads; 

• constructing the Starline Business Park in the Town of Claresholm, including roads and underground 
utilities, for future industrial development; 

• installing a fibre-optic internet network in the Town of Nanton to provide consistent internet service to 
key municipal facilities; 

• purchasing fire-fighting bunker gear to ensure the safety of the firefighters in the Town of Trochu; 

• installing wireless water meters in coordination between the Village of Myrnam and County of Two 
Hills to ensure accurate readability; 

• rehabilitating the water tower in the Village of Big Valley, for a reliable supply of water; 
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• purchasing and installing a new playground in the Summer Village of Sundance Beach to provide 
families a place to enjoy; and  

• extending Willow Flat Road by several kilometres, providing room for residential and agricultural 
development in the Kikino Metis Settlement. 

Local Government Fiscal Framework  

The Local Measures Statutes Amendment Act, 2021, amended the Local Government Fiscal Framework Act and 
postponed the implementation of the Local Government Fiscal Framework until 2024-25. The amendments 
received royal assent on June 17, 2021. The Local Government Fiscal Framework will replace the Municipal 
Sustainability Initiative Capital program in April 2024, as set out in the Local Government Fiscal Framework Act.  

The new funding framework will implement a baseline funding of $722 million in 2024-25, with $382 million 
allocated to the cities of Calgary and Edmonton based on a legislated formula, and $340 million allocated to 
the remaining local governments, based on a formula that is under development. Overall program funding in 
future years will be adjusted based on half of the percentage change in provincial revenues. This will 
strengthen predictability for municipalities, while ensuring overall funding amounts remain sustainable for 
the province.  

While the Act does not set out the formula to allocate funding between most local governments, it does 
include the formula to allocate funding between the cities of Edmonton and Calgary, which is based on 
population, education property tax requisitions, and kilometres of local road. For other municipalities, 
Municipal Affairs is planning to engage with local governments in 2022; this will ensure local governments, 
as well as associations, can provide input on the Local Government Fiscal Framework funding formula and 
the administrative elements of the new program.  

Federal Programs 

Canada Community-Building Fund 

The Canada Community-Building Fund (formerly the federal Gas Tax Fund) is a municipal infrastructure 
program fully funded by the federal government but administered by third parties. The program provides 
up-front, predictable long-term funding to address local infrastructure priorities. In Alberta, Municipal 
Affairs administers the current program through a bilateral agreement between the province and Canada, 
which is a 10-year extension (2014-2024) to the previous federal Gas Tax Fund agreement. The province 
reports financial activities annually, and outcomes every five years, to the federal government. 

In 2021-22, the Canada Community-Building Fund provided $497.7 million to help Alberta municipalities 
build and revitalize their local public infrastructure, while creating jobs and long-term prosperity. The 
funding had a base of $254.4 million, plus a one-time addition of $243.3 million to support the critical role 
communities play in the safe restart of the economy and to reduce the risk of projects being delayed or 
cancelled due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  

In 2021-22, Alberta municipalities committed more than $328.7 million in program funding for 353 new 
municipal infrastructure projects. Eligible project categories include the following: 

• roads and bridges; 

• public transit; 

• drinking water; 

• wastewater; 

• solid waste; 

• community energy systems; 

• sport, recreational, cultural, and tourism 
infrastructure; 

• capacity building; 
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• disaster mitigation; 

• brownfield redevelopment; 

• broadband connectivity;  

• local and regional airports; and 

• fire hall and fire station infrastructure. 

In fall 2021, Municipal Affairs participated in the annual program workshop hosted by Infrastructure 
Canada. The group discussed the program to-date (it is now in year eight of the 10-year agreement), and 
Infrastructure Canada announced its intention to engage with the province in 2022-23 to discuss program 
design improvements in advance of negotiations for the extension of the program beyond 2023-24. 

Small Communities Fund 

Under the federal New Building Canada Fund – Small Communities Fund agreement, initiated in 2015, 
Alberta and Canada each committed $94 million to fund infrastructure projects that benefit communities 
with populations of fewer than 100,000 people. Approved projects are generally funded on a one-third cost-
sharing basis, with the federal, provincial, and municipal governments all providing equal amounts toward 
eligible project costs. Fifty-six projects were approved under the Small Communities Fund in July 2015, with 
provincial funding allocated over five years starting in 2015-16.  

Since 2015-16, 38 projects have been completed, including the following seven projects reported as 
completed in 2021-22: 

• City of Airdrie (40th Avenue phase one and two – total project cost - $14.1 million; total provincial 
funding - $3 million; and total federal funding - $3 million); 

• Town of Drayton Valley (south sanitary trunk sewer twinning – total project cost - $7.5 million; total 
provincial funding - $2.5 million; and total federal funding - $2.5 million); 

• Town of Rainbow Lake (water distribution system rehabilitation – total project cost - $2.4 million; total 
provincial funding - $0.8 million; and total federal funding - $0.8 million); 

• Town of Rocky Mountain House (regional landfill waste disposal cell construction – total project cost - 
$2.3 million; total provincial funding - $0.7 million; and total federal funding - $0.7 million); 

• Town of Smoky Lake (cast iron watermain replacement – total project cost - $0.5 million; total 
provincial funding - $0.18 million; and total federal funding - $0.18 million); 

• Village of Consort (wastewater system upgrades - installation of new force main – total project cost - 
$1.6 million; total provincial funding - $0.53 million; and total federal funding - $0.53 million); and 

• Village of Empress (water distribution pump station replacement – total project cost - $1.2 million; total 
provincial funding - $0.38 million; and total federal funding - $0.38 million). 

Completing projects has had positive impacts on economic growth and the environment, and helped build 
stronger communities. A final progress report – to be prepared when the program is complete in Spring 
2024 – will provide an overview of the positive impacts the Small Communities Fund projects had on 
specific communities and, broadly, for the province. 

In late 2020, the federal government initiated an audit of a variety of grant programs, including the Small 
Communities Fund, and Municipal Affairs assisted the federal auditor in a review of the program. The 
federal government finalized the audit report in late 2021, and the province was found to be in compliance 
with the obligations, terms, and conditions of the agreement.  
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Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 

The Government of Canada introduced the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program in 2018-19 that will 
provide $3.65 billion to Alberta over 11 years. The program is focused on infrastructure projects that 
support the three key federal goals of:  

1. creating long-term economic growth;  

2. supporting a low-carbon, green economy; and  

3. building inclusive communities.  

In December 2018, Alberta and Canada amended the Integrated Bilateral Agreement for the Investing in 
Canada Infrastructure Fund, increasing the maximum federal commitment from $3.4 billion to $3.65 billion. 
In December 2020, a second amendment to the bilateral agreement was completed, which modified 
distribution levels under the original four funding streams and added a fifth funding stream – COVID-19 
Resilience Infrastructure. Third and fourth bilateral agreement amendments, completed in January 2021 and 
July 2021, respectively, further revised funding commitments available under each of the five funding 
streams. Current federal commitments are: 

• public transit ($1.98 billion);  

• green infrastructure ($1.17 billion);  

• community, culture, and recreation infrastructure ($140.3 million);  

• rural and northern communities ($124.5 million); and 

• COVID-19 resilience infrastructure ($238.7 million). 

Alberta Infrastructure oversees primary administration of the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 
agreement, with individual ministries throughout government responsible for the grant delivery of approved 
projects. Municipal Affairs is responsible for grant delivery for 24 of the 198 projects approved to date by 
the federal government. Funding agreements were executed in 2020, and most are expected to be completed 
in the next four years. Of the 24 projects, 11 have confirmed they have started construction, seven are 
finalizing engineering in advance of tender for construction, and three are awaiting approval of federal 
reporting requirements prior to being able to proceed to construction. Three projects reported as complete 
in 2021-22: 

• City of Brooks (sanitary wastewater replacement and hort lift station – this project was approved under 
the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program Green Infrastructure funding stream. The total project 
cost was $3.8 million, with Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program funding of $1.3 million); 

• Town of Millet (agriplex upgrade – This project was approved under the Investing in Canada 
Infrastructure Program Rural and Northern Communities funding stream. The total project cost was 
$1.3 million, with Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program funding of $0.29 million); and 

• County of Westlock (stormwater management facilities upgrading – the Town of Westlock project was 
approved under the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program Green Infrastructure funding stream. 
The total project cost was $4.4 million, with Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program funding of $1.3 
million). 

Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program funds are reimbursed based on submitted expenditure claims, 
with the funds paid to recipients claimed back from the federal government through Alberta Infrastructure. 
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Other Ministry Activities in Support of Outcome Two 

Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating Funding 

In 2021-22, the Municipal Sustainability Initiative provided $29.1 million in operating grant funding to 
Alberta municipalities and Metis Settlements. This funding supports capacity-building activities to improve 
efficiency and effectiveness, municipal services, planning activities, and contributions to non-profit 
organizations. Of the budgeted $30 million operating funding, $900,000 was transferred to capital funding at 
the request of municipalities.  

To provide stability in annual funding for municipalities and improve predictability in remaining Municipal 
Sustainability Initiative Operating funding allocations, operating allocations will be frozen at the 2021 level 
for both 2022 and 2023. Municipalities will therefore receive the same amount of operating funding for the 
next two years as they received this year. 

In 2020-21, an exception was made to allow municipalities to use this operating funding unconditionally. 
This provided additional flexibility and reduced administrative requirements as municipalities responded to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2021-22, Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating returned to normal 
operations, and municipalities were again required to follow standard Municipal Sustainability Initiative 
Operating expenditure eligibility criteria. Funds are allocated by municipalities to projects supporting four 
main government-wide objectives:  

1. municipal viability and long-term sustainability;  

2. maintenance of safe, healthy, and vibrant communities;  

3. the development and maintenance of core municipal infrastructure; and  

4. capacity building.  

Since 2019, and as part of the government’s strategy to reduce red tape, the Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative Operating program no longer requires spending plans to be submitted with estimates of how the 
funding was expected to be used. Instead, local governments report annually on how the funding was 
expended on eligible activities in the prior year. 

To manage Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating program funding better, the ministry is developing a 
new information technology system that will streamline the processing of reporting and payments to 
municipalities. The current plan is to implement the system for use in 2022. 

Asset Management  

Asset management is the process of making decisions about the use and care of infrastructure assets – such 
as roads, bridges, and wastewater systems – to deliver services in a way that considers current and future 
needs, manages risks and opportunities, and makes the best use of resources. The state of public 
infrastructure plays an important role in every Albertan’s quality of life. Attention is turning toward asset 
management as a process for making informed decisions to achieve the goal of delivering sustainable 
services, managing risks, and ensuring value for money. Municipalities are essential partners of the 
Government of Alberta in providing infrastructure for Albertans. Local governments are responsible for a 
significant amount of the infrastructure on which Albertans rely on each day, and can do their part by 
strengthening their capacities to prioritize and plan for infrastructure spending within their available 
resources.  

Asset management practices, which are required to be performed throughout an asset’s life cycle, allow 
municipalities to sustainably manage infrastructure in a planned and integrated manner to maximize value to 
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the community. Municipal Affairs continues to support the enhancement of asset management practices in 
municipalities, which provide decision-makers with information to ensure their infrastructure appropriately 
supports residents over the long-term. In addition to providing funding under the Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative Capital, Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating, and Canada Community-Building Fund, 
Municipal Affairs supports and participates in Infrastructure Asset Management Alberta, a community of 
practice that supports and shares asset management best practices between local governments, associations, 
and private industry.  

The ministry has conducted an annual survey of all municipalities’ asset management practices since 2017. 
The results have consistently demonstrated that municipalities continue to enhance their asset management 
programs. For example, the percentage of local governments that report their staff are trained in asset 
management has constantly increased since 2017. 

To collect the municipal asset management data for the year 2021, Municipal Affairs surveyed all eligible 
local governments (i.e., those that have infrastructure assets) from December 2021 to January 2022.  

According to the 2021 survey results, more than one-third of local governments reported they were planning 
to implement council-approved asset management policies in 2022. Compared to 2020, more local 
governments reported they have developed a schedule to regularly update and review their asset 
management strategies. 

Grants in Place of Taxes 

As Government of Alberta property is exempt from municipal taxation, municipalities may be given a grant 
in place of taxes – not to exceed the value of the property taxes – on eligible properties in which the Crown 
has an interest in the municipality. The payment acknowledges that the Government of Alberta benefits 
from municipal services such as roads, snow clearing, transit, and emergency services. Examples of eligible 
properties include provincial buildings, courthouses, correctional institutions, and grazing reserves.  

Despite the province’s difficult economic situation, continuing to provide grants in place of taxes payments 
demonstrates an acknowledgement of the vital services provided by municipalities in communities where 
Crown properties are located. The overall Grants in Place of Taxes program budget was reduced in 2019-20 
and for following years. In 2021-22, the majority of the applications (tax notices) were paid at 50 per cent of 
the eligible amount. In total, $28.9 million was provided to 167 municipalities for more than 4,700 Crown 
properties. 
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Under Schedule 2 of the Municipal Affairs Grants Regulation, the province pays a Grant in Place of Taxes 
to municipalities on behalf of a limited number of eligible seniors’ accommodation facilities. Schedule 2 of 
the regulation was set to expire in 2021, and the provincial government has since extended the schedule to 
the 2024 taxation year to provide financial stability to these facilities during the province’s economic 
recovery. 

Equalized Assessment and Education Property Tax  

Each year, the ministry prepares equalized assessments for every municipality in the province under the 
authority of the Minister of Municipal Affairs. Equalized assessments are the basis for requisitioning 
provincial education property tax and other requisitions from municipalities. The equalization of municipal 
property assessments is determined by adjusting each municipality’s taxable assessment to a common level, 
as prescribed by regulation.  

Equalized assessments are used in determining the specific contributions to be made by each municipality 
and in formulas for provincial grants to municipalities. The equalized assessment process levels the playing 
field for municipalities, so property tax requisitions and grants can be fairly allocated. Just as property 
owners pay taxes in proportion to the value of the property they own, municipalities are required to 
contribute to the provincial education and other requisitions based on the proportion of assessment in their 
jurisdictions.  

Intermunicipal fairness and equity are important when requisitioning property taxes from municipalities and 
calculating grants. In this regard, it is usually necessary to make some adjustments in the assessment base 
figures that each municipality reports to the province before those assessments are used to determine each 
municipality’s contribution to a regional or provincial program, or its equitable share of grant dollars. These 
adjustments are made through the equalized assessment process.  

The Municipal Government Act requires most properties be assessed at market value. Ideally, all properties 
would be assessed at 100 per cent of market value. However, in practice, assessments may vary from market 
value. Municipal assessors estimate the market values of sold and unsold properties by applying a technique 
called mass appraisal. Using common data and standard methodology, this technique enables an assessor to 
value a large group of properties in a short period. Mass appraisal is a practice used widely in the assessment 
of property, but it does not necessarily result in a value at 100 per cent of market value. This variation is 
recognized by legislation, which specifies an acceptable range (95 to 105 per cent) within which a group of 
properties can be assessed below or above market value.  

Because this range may occur, equalization is used to adjust each municipality’s assessments to 100 per cent 
of market value. The equalization process removes the variations in assessment levels to make the 
assessment bases more comparable among municipalities. The process produces a set of adjusted, or 
equalized, assessments that can then be used to distribute requisitions, or allocate grants, among 
municipalities in a fair and equitable manner. 

The official 2022 provincial equalized assessment is about $938 billion, which is a decrease of approximately 
$10.3 billion (1.09 per cent) from 2021. This decrease is the result of a decline in residential (0.8 per cent), a 
decrease in non-residential (3.1 per cent), and growth in machinery and equipment equalized assessment  
(2.4 per cent). The total equalized assessment comprises 64 per cent residential, 27 per cent non-residential, 
and nine per cent machinery and equipment. Of interest is the approximate $5 billion decrease to Calgary 
and Edmonton’s non-residential equalized assessment. This decline is the result of the slower Alberta 
economy over the last two to three years and the COVID-19 pandemic, which resulted in significant 
assessment reductions (20 to 40 per cent) in the commercial lodging property category between the 2021 and 
2022 equalized assessments. 

Education property taxes provide stable funding for the kindergarten-to-Grade 12 education system. The 
Government of Alberta determines the total education property tax to be collected, and Municipal Affairs 
supports the provincial education property tax system by calculating the annual education property tax 
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requisition for each municipality. Municipalities collect the education property taxes on behalf of the 
provincial government and remit the funds to the Alberta School Foundation Fund or the opted-out 
separate school boards. The education property taxes are then pooled by the provincial government and 
distributed to public and separate school boards based on an equal, per-student funding formula.  

The Municipal Government (Restoring Tax Accountability) Amendment Act 

The Municipal Government (Restoring Tax Accountability) Amendment Act, 2021, proclaimed in December 2021, 
amended the Municipal Government Act to strengthen the budgets of municipalities by restoring a special lien 
giving municipalities priority to collect unpaid property taxes from oil and gas companies. 

The amendment provides a legal framework for municipalities to continue to fund the programs and 
services residents need and restores a special lien that gives municipalities priority over other creditors from 
oil and gas companies whether operating or bankrupt. The special lien assigns liability to the owner and 
operator for unpaid property taxes and introduces a 120-day period between the passing of the legislation 
and the payment date to negotiate payment arrangements. It also applies to all the debtor’s assessable 
property in the municipality, and applies to unpaid taxes owing at the passing of the legislation and 
thereafter. This amendment balances the need for corporations to pay their fair share, while maintaining 
sustainable municipalities. 

Requisition Credit Programs  

Provincial Education Requisition Credit program  

In addition to the special lien provisions in the Municipal Government (Restoring Tax Accountability) Amendment 
Act, 2021, the Provincial Education Requisition Credit program was extended by an additional two years to 
the 2023 tax year. The budget for the program was increased to $30 million for the 2021-22 intake and  
$15 million for each of the following two years.  

This program supports municipalities as they address unpaid property taxes related to oil and gas properties. 
Municipal Affairs facilitates this program by accepting and reviewing applications from municipalities. 
Recommendations are then made to Education to provide successful applicants with an education property 
tax credit equal to the uncollectable education property taxes on delinquent oil and gas properties. Municipal 
stakeholders continue to react positively to the Provincial Education Requisition Credit program. For 2021-
22, 52 municipalities submitted applications, for a total claim of $8.6 million. 

Designated Industrial Requisition Credit program  

The province introduced the Designated Industrial Requisition Credit program in 2019 to address concerns 
raised about unpaid property taxes from designated industrial property owners. If the municipality does not 
collect the designated industrial requisition, they do not have to remit the requisition amount to the 
government, but must request cancellation through the Designated Industrial Requisition Credit Program. 
To streamline and reduce the administrative burden on municipalities, this program’s documentation and 
intake process was combined with the Provincial Education Requisition Credit program in 2020; however, 
the approval processes for the two programs remain unique. When an application is approved, the 
Designated Industrial Property Tax Requisition is cancelled by a Ministerial Order issued by the Minister of 
Municipal Affairs. In 2021-22, 52 municipalities filed applications for the Designated Industrial Requisition 
Credit, which totalled $276,420.47.  

Community Revitalization Levy  

The Community Revitalization Levy is a program that allows municipalities to borrow against future 
property tax revenues to cover infrastructure costs aimed at development in an economically blighted area. 
The levies are authorized under the Municipal Government Act, and there are currently five established areas in 
Alberta: Calgary’s Rivers District; Edmonton’s Belvedere, The Quarters, and Capital City Downtown; and 
Cochrane’s South-Central area. The total amount of Community Revitalization Levy revenues from 
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municipal and education property taxes redirected from all five Community Revitalization Levy areas 
combined was $83 million for the 2021 tax year. 

Prior to establishing a community revitalization levy, a municipality is required to engage in discussions with 
the province regarding the development projects intended for the area. If provincial approval is provided, a 
community revitalization levy area is delineated and the municipality specifies the intended development 
projects for the area in a community revitalization levy plan. 

In 2021-22, the province agreed to the City of Edmonton’s request for a new project in the Capital City 
Downtown Community Revitalization Levy. The new Station Lands project (expected to cost approximately 
$78 million) will involve the building of a pedway and related infrastructure, and the Downtown Community 
Revitalization Levy revenues are expected to cover the expenses. Construction of the pedway and 
renovation of related infrastructure will improve walkability and better connect the Station Lands site to 
surrounding downtown areas, and is expected to lead to large-scale residential and commercial developments 
in this portion of the community revitalization levy area. Edmonton amended the Downtown Community 
Revitalization Levy bylaw and the plan to incorporate the Station Lands project. The Downtown 
Community Revitalization Levy is due to expire in 2034. 

Other Regulation Amendments 

The education property tax exemption for electric power generation system components began in the 2003 
tax year as part of a provincial agreement with industry to facilitate targeted expansion of new electricity 
generation capacity, following government’s efforts to de-regulate power generation in Alberta. The 
exemption was scheduled to expire on Dec 31, 2021. Its continuation ensures stability in a long-standing 
government policy regarding the provincial property tax treatment of electric power generation facilities, 
which still serves a public interest. This exemption ensures electric power generation facilities are treated in 
the same manner as machinery and equipment, which receive an education property tax rate of zero.  

The value of the education property tax exemptions is estimated at an equivalent $26 million over 85 
facilities. Analysis from Alberta Energy and Municipal Affairs determined that continuing the exemption:  

• provides investment certainty regarding the tax treatment of electric power generation property during 
the transition from coal to gas generation;  

• maintains stability in the utilities and power industry;  

• avoids triggering change-in-law coverage in 11 of 12 renewable energy program contracts;  

• preserves equitable taxation policies for all electric power generating properties; and  

• mitigates potential for negative impacts of shifting increased electricity costs to Albertans.  
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Outcome Three: Albertans are protected with safe buildings, homes, and 
communities 

3.1 Align the safety system (i.e. administration of the Safety Codes Act and the New Home Buyer 
Protection Act) to a quality assurance framework that increases partner autonomy and 
accountability. 

Quality Assurance Framework 

In Alberta, the public safety codes system includes all of the activities under the Safety Codes Act, and New 
Home Buyer Protection Act, safety codes and standards, and numerous stakeholder partners involved in 
administering the legislation. The safety codes incorporate 10 disciplines: amusement rides, boilers and 
pressure vessels, building, electrical, elevator, fire, gas, plumbing, private sewage, and ski lifts. The system is 
designed to reduce the risk of harm and loss in Alberta’s buildings, facilities, and associated infrastructure to 
protect Albertans in their communities. The quality assurance framework is a policy document that 
articulates roles, responsibilities, and overall expectations of all safety codes system partners, and identifies 
five desired outcomes for the safety codes system, which are:   

• effective oversight of safety codes system delivery;  

• clearly-defined roles and expectations;  

• risk-based strategic priorities informed by data;  

• collaboration with partners/stakeholders in the safety codes system; and  

• an accountable safety codes system through a defined system of monitoring.  

Specifically, the framework: 

• provides direction and support so the system is responsive and aligned to meet the needs of system 
partners, the economy, and the public;  

• provides opportunities to set policy priorities based on evidence and prioritize work and collaborate 
with safety codes system partners to leverage expertise, reduce duplication, and ensure alignment;  

• serves as the basis for the ongoing evolution of the safety codes system and provides a foundation to 
inform decisions on future system direction; 

• outlines an accountability system that focuses on a more strategic and transparent approach to planning, 
as well as a way to communicate priorities and direction; and 

• identifies processes for continuous improvement through monitoring and evaluation. 

The framework provides the guiding direction and vision for the various initiatives of the department and its 
safety codes system partners.  

Assurance Reviews 

As part of its role in safety codes system oversight, Municipal Affairs assesses whether administrative 
partners are providing quality services that align to and mitigate risks to achieving system outcomes. 
Program staff from the ministry are responsible for quality assurance reviews of safety codes system 
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administration partners, including the Safety Codes Council, the Alberta Boilers Safety Association, and the 
Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association.  

Ministry staff initiated the first assurance review of the Safety Codes Council to evaluate how well it was 
doing when it comes to achieving system outcomes associated with core elements of the safety codes system 
such as:  

• policy and code development;  

• certification and education;  

• accreditation;  

• compliance; and  

• evaluation and monitoring.  

The initial review was designed to help understand how the Safety Codes Council was performing in 
achieving expected policy and code development outcomes within their scope. The assurance plan concept 
is intended to compliment – not replace – other requirements and accountabilities, such as financial audits. 
Progress on the review slowed due to personnel changes, and the challenges around the COVID-19 
pandemic. However, the ministry still intends to undertake quality assurance reviews of safety codes system 
partners, and staff will be looking to continue the review process in the coming year. 

Data Analytics 

Data analytics is considered a foundational piece in the ministry’s quality assurance framework. The use of 
data analytics is key to supporting two changes under the framework: 

• A shift from a reactive system to a proactive one. Data and analytics will be used to identify risks 
proactively, outline strategic priorities, and guide risk tolerance and mitigation responses.   

• A shift from a fragmented system focused on administrative data to a unified system focused on robust 
data analytics. This will allow partners/stakeholders to make informed decisions as they mitigate risks 
and improve the safety codes system.  

There are a number of data systems in the safety codes system, primarily for specific administrative or 
financial purposes, and most of this data is not widely accessible to the system as a whole. Improvements, 
such as data-sharing agreements and/or information technology modernizations, are needed so each 
partner/stakeholder can access useful information. The ministry is working to move forward with these 
changes.  

Administrative Penalty Program 

Administrative penalty provisions were amended under the Safety Codes Act to provide an additional tool to 
enforce and promote compliance with the Act. The use of administrative penalties reflects a shift in the 
safety codes system, as it provides an additional enforcement tool when it comes to responding to matters of 
non-compliance. Administrative penalties came into effect on July 23, 2020. 

An administrative penalty may be imposed by the administrator of 
administrative penalties – an employee of the Government of 
Alberta appointed by the Minister of Municipal Affairs – when a 
person has failed to comply with certain provisions of the Safety 
Codes Act; an order made under the Act; or a condition in a permit, 
certificate, or variance issued under the Act. Administrative 

Administrative penalties 
provide an additional tool for 
gaining compliance within the 
safety codes system. 
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penalties support improved compliance outcomes, and do not replace orders and prosecution under the 
Safety Codes Act. A penalty can be issued as a single amount, or an amount for each day the contravention or 
failure to comply continues to a maximum daily amount of $10,000. The most a penalty can be cumulatively 
is $100,000.  

As an enforcement tool under the Safety Codes Act, administrative penalties expand the compliance tools 
within the safety codes system by providing an additional option for managing quality assurance by 
providing an additional option when issuing an order (or multiple orders), or pursuing lengthy court 
proceedings is not appropriate  

Accreditation and Certification 

Municipal Affairs is accredited by two international boards, the International Fire Service Accreditation 
Congress and the Pro Board – to administer provincial testing and certification to National Fire Protection 
Association standards. The program serves municipal fire departments, industrial fire departments, and 
schools. 

The Alberta Fire Service Certification Program is responsible for:  

• developing and maintaining assessment tools (exams and skills evaluations) for all standards for which 
the program is accredited;  

• creating and delivering exam and evaluation packages;  

• overseeing the administration of exams and evaluations by approved proctors and evaluators; and 

• reviewing appeals and investigating concerns.  

In addition, the program is responsible for reviewing and approving assessment packages, scoring exams, 
reviewing applications for certification and issuing certificates, and maintaining student records. 

In 2021-22, the testing program made changes to accommodate provincial COVID-19 restrictions, including 
transitioning from paper-based to digital records, to increase efficiency and allow for staff to work from 
home. Approximately 5,000 to 6,000 fire services exams are administered every year, with 5,391 written in 
2021-22. The Alberta Fire Service Certification Program maintains records for more than 15,000 students. 

Appointments to the Safety Codes Council and Delegated Administrative Organizations 

The Minister of Municipal Affairs appoints the chair of the board of the Safety Codes Council, public 
representatives to the council’s technical sub-councils, and members to the boards of two delegated 
administrative organizations – the Alberta Boilers Safety Association and the Alberta Elevating Devices and 
Amusement Rides Safety Association. Public member representatives ensure the Alberta public is 
represented in decisions that affect public safety. 

The Safety Codes Council’s sub-councils provide technical advice and conduct the majority of the province’s 
code review work for the disciplines on which the council advises the minister. This work includes 
developing standards and compliance monitoring criteria for accredited organizations, as well as hearing and 
deciding appeals of orders and written notices. In addition, the sub-councils establish competency 
requirements for safety codes officers as well as evaluate the effectiveness and quality of training for safety 
codes officers.  

The sub-councils are comprised of volunteer representatives from municipal government, educational and 
training institutions, industry, trades and labour, professional organizations, persons with disabilities, and 
other groups or organizations with an interest in the disciplines. In fall 2020, at the Safety Codes Council 
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Annual General Meeting, the membership voted to approve bylaw changes that included the establishment 
of two new sub-councils, for private sewage disposal systems and electrical utilities, bringing the number of 
sub-councils to 12. 

In 2021, the minister appointed or reappointed nine public member representatives to nine Safety Codes 
Council technical sub-councils and made one public member reappointment to the Alberta Elevating 
Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association. The diversity of female and male public member 
appointees to the boards that the Technical and Corporate Services Division supports has progressed to a 
relatively level split at nearly 50 per cent. In addition, recruitment postings now include a statement on the 
importance of diversity and inclusion when it come to the boards of Alberta’s public agencies. 

3.2 Represent Alberta and its policy interests, including the reduction of trade barriers, during the 
development of national and international codes for potential adoption in Alberta.  

Alberta continues to be represented and actively involved in federal-provincial-territorial reconciliation and 
cooperation tables on matters related to safety codes and standards.  

Regulatory Reconciliation and Cooperation Table 

The Canadian Free Trade Agreement established a regulatory reconciliation process to help address barriers 
to trade, investment and labour. The Regulatory Reconciliation and Cooperation Table is a federal-
provincial-territorial body that oversees the regulatory reconciliation process and promotes regulatory 
cooperation across Canada. The goal of the table is to reduce barriers to trade, investment, and labour under 
the Canadian Free Trade Agreement. The Regulatory Reconciliation and Cooperation Table often relies on 
federal/provincial/territorial committees to act as working groups to facilitate harmonization initiatives, and 
Municipal Affairs has membership on the following committees: 

• The Provincial Territorial Advisory Committee is a provincial-territorial advisory committee that 
promotes cooperation and communication between provinces and territories in reviewing 
standardization issues.  

• The National Public Safety Advisory Committee provides input and advice on the development and 
common adoption of safety codes and standards related to elevating devices, passenger ropeways, 
amusement rides, gas systems, pressure equipment, and electrical systems. The committee played an 
important role in the development, modernization, and harmonization of the Canadian Electrical Code 
to fundamental safety principles of the International Electronic Commission’s International Standards. 
The harmonized Canadian Electrical Code was published on February 1, 2021. 

• The Provincial Territorial Policy Advisory Committee on Codes, which Alberta chairs, comprises 
government-appointed officials and provides policy advice to the Canadian Commission on Building 
and Fire Codes in the development of the national building, fire, plumbing, energy, and farm codes. This 
committee also acts as a forum for provinces and territories to share best practices and promote 
harmonization of construction codes across Canada. As a result, Alberta and other jurisdictions ensure 
the use of the most recent edition of national safety codes and standards in construction of new 
buildings and homes.  

National Public Safety Advisory Committee 

The Safety Advisory Committee, of which Municipal Affairs is a member, continued to work on the 
Canadian Registration Number Agreement in 2021-22. This agreement for pressure vessels aims to establish 
mutual recognition of approved pressure equipment designs across Canada. Currently, a designer for a 
pressure vessel that is meant to be used across Canada needs to have its design registered individually in each 
province. Mutual recognition of registered designs aims to reduce this trade barrier by making it so 
registration in one province is registration in all provinces. To date, Alberta has not signed the agreement 
due to concerns that it does not adequately address qualification requirements and a common validation 
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process for design review. Alberta continues to participate in discussions toward reconciling issues in the 
agreement and is, in practice, treated as a member of the agreement by other provincial/territorial signatory 
members.  

Alberta has established itself as a leader in pressure equipment safety through the Alberta Boilers Safety 
Association’s programs and innovative approaches to supporting pressure equipment safety. The association 
is the delegated administrative organization to administer pressure equipment safety programs under the 
Safety Codes Act. The association established the Canadian Registration Number Online web portal in 2019, 
and in 2021, the portal continued to be an effective and efficient tool in facilitating real-time electronic  
file-sharing of technical design data among Canadian regulatory authorities. Other provinces and territories 
(including New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Newfoundland and Labrador, Northwest Territories, and Nunavut) 
have also been using the portal for their design reviews.    

Gasfitter Licensing Labour Mobility  

Provinces and territories are developing a gasfitter licensing labour mobility agreement to allow gasfitters 
licensed in one province to be able to more easily work in other provinces by harmonizing certification and 
training standards across Canada. This work to reduce barriers to certification formally began in September 
2020, and Alberta and other provinces and territories have completed a draft agreement that is currently 
under review. The Provincial Territorial Advisory Committee is the Regulatory Reconciliation and 
Cooperation Table working group on this agreement. 

Construction Codes Reconciliation Agreement 

The Construction Codes Reconciliation Agreement is a federal-provincial-territorial agreement related to the 
harmonization of construction codes across Canada (building, fire, energy efficiency, plumbing, and farm 
codes). Harmonizing construction codes promotes an open, efficient, and stable domestic market for  
long-term job creation, economic growth, and stability. It also encourages innovation and competition 
across Canada by reducing administrative and compliance costs, red tape, and time to market. The Provincial 
Territorial Policy Advisory Committee on Codes is the Regulatory Reconciliation and Cooperation Table 
working group for this agreement. 

Key commitments of the agreement include: 

• reducing or eliminating technical variations between the provincial/territorial construction codes and the 
national model codes; 

• aligning the timeframe for implementation of codes across Canada to support harmonization (timely 
code adoption); 

• transforming the national code development system to better meet the needs of federal, provincial and 
territorial parties; and  

• providing access to a free electronic format of the national model codes, which offers cost-savings to 
industry and broad access for the general public.  

The Construction Codes Reconciliation Agreement came into force on June 1, 2020, and Alberta signed on 
February 22, 2021. The Government of Canada and all other provinces and territories – except for New 
Brunswick, which has endorsed the agreement and is reviewing – have signed the agreement. 

The federal, provincial, and territorial parties have begun work under the agreement to plan the 
transformation of the national code development system.  
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Timely Code Adoption  

Alberta continues to harmonize with national and international 
codes through timely code adoption that ensures the most recent 
edition of the codes is being used. Code harmonization refers to the 
consistent provincial adoption of the most recent editions of 
national and international safety codes and standards. Adopting 
codes in a timely manner results in consistency in codes across the 
country and prevents barriers to economic development and 
innovation. For example, Alberta adopts the National Plumbing 
Code, which includes standards for regulating the technical 
provisions for the design and installation of new plumbing systems 
and applies to the extension, alteration, renewal, and repair of 
existing plumbing systems. Under the timely code adoption process, 
national and international codes are automatically implemented one 
year after publication. The Minister of Municipal Affairs also has 
the authority to bring codes into force earlier, later, or not at all, as 
circumstances require. 

Municipal Affairs’ technical administrators and other provincial 
representatives continue to be actively involved in code 
development provincially, nationally, and internationally. Municipal 
Affairs remains engaged with stakeholders through the Safety Codes 
Council’s technical sub-councils, which review new codes and 
provide advice on the implications of adoption or proactively 
identify issues and trends including the need for Alberta-specific 
variations.  

Up until this year, nine of the 10 safety disciplines (building, 
electrical, fire, gas, plumbing, pressure equipment, amusement rides, 
passenger ropeways, and private sewage) were under timely code 
adoption. In November 2021, the Government of Alberta approved 
amendments to include elevating devices under timely code 
adoption effective December 1, 2022. This means all 10 safety disciplines are now under automatic code 
adoption. In fall 2020, at the Safety Codes Council Annual General Meeting, the membership voted to 
approve bylaw changes that included the establishment of two new sub-councils, for private sewage disposal 
systems and electrical utilities, bringing the number of sub-councils to 12. Sub-councils are created to carry 
out activities of the board in an area of a discipline. 

Codes automatically come into force in Alberta one year after publication. For example, a notice was issued 
to industry and stakeholders in 2020 on the new gas codes that came into force in 2021. This provides for an 
efficient process that is beneficial to stakeholders and the public, as it allows for predictability in the schedule 
of code adoption and ample time to prepare.  

Adoption of new codes in multiple disciplines 

To reflect Municipal Affairs’ ongoing commitment to release modernized safety codes that reflect the 
standards developed through national committee participation, the following new codes were adopted and 
declared in force this fiscal year: 

• April 2021 – One pressure equipment standard came into force for pressure piping.  

• June 2021 – One amusement ride standard came into force, reflecting standard practice for design, 
manufacture, operation, maintenance, and inspection of amusement rides and devices in Canada. 

Building Code Review  

Alberta continued to work with 
the National Research Council 
of Canada in the development 
of new model national codes in 
building, fire, energy and 
plumbing. At the end of 2021-
22, the National Research 
Council of Canada published 
these new model codes. In 
reviewing their content, 
Municipal Affairs identified two 
areas where further work and 
analysis is needed: the 
inclusion of large farm 
buildings into the model 
building code and the use of 
‘tiers’ to support energy 
efficiency. To support the 
analysis, the minister has 
directed the Safety Codes 
Council to conduct targeted 
engagements with a broad 
cross-section of stakeholders. 
The engagements will occur in 
spring 2022 and help inform 
next steps in the review and 
potential adoption of the 
national codes. 
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• October 2021 – One pressure equipment standard came into force for power piping. 

• February 2022 – The Canadian Electrical Code 2021 Edition came into force as well as two CSA gas 
standards – the compressed natural gas and liquefied natural gas refueling stations installation codes. 

Regulation Amendments 

On October 20, 2021, the Government of Alberta approved amendments to two safety regulations under 
the Government Organization Act.   

• The Boilers Delegated Administration Regulation delegates administration of the Safety Codes Act for 
boilers and pressure vessels to the Alberta Boilers Safety Association, which ensures the ongoing safety 
of pressure equipment by conducting design reviews and inspections and by certifying power engineers 
and pressure welders. The amendments included new provisions pertaining to pressure equipment 
records, new provisions to ensure the association continues to track submissions for unregistered 
pressure equipment, and extension of the expiry date to March 30, 2027.  

• The Authorized Accredited Agencies Regulation allows the Minister of Municipal Affairs to enter into 
agreements with authorized accredited agencies to collect fees for permits, conduct inspections, and 
enforce the Safety Codes Act. The regulation was amended to extend its expiry date to April 30, 2024, to 
allow additional time for a comprehensive review and to add two new elevating devices agencies to the 
schedule in the regulation.  

3.3 Reduce red tape for home builders to lower the regulatory cost that has increased the price of 
new housing. 

Residential Protection Program Initiatives  

The Residential Protection Program is responsible for overseeing and enforcing the New Home Buyer Protection 
Act, which establishes regulatory requirements for new home warranty and residential builder licensing. The 
program’s objectives include: 

• effective and efficient service delivery that provides value for 
Albertans; 

• ensuring new home warranty and builder licensing protects 
homeowners and holds residential builders accountable; and 

• promoting code compliance and best practices in the 
construction of new homes. 

Based on an internal review conducted in 2020, and recommendations that resulted from that review, several 
improvements were made to the Residential Protection Program in 2021-22, including the following: 

• Enhanced complaints tracking system – The program has implemented a more detailed system for 
documenting consumer complaints related to the construction of new homes and home warranties. This 
allows the program to track trends and identify key areas of concern. Over the last year, the complaint 
management tool recorded input from more than 200 complaints in 15 categories, and logged more than 
60 issues related to individual circumstances. 

There were 2,536 builders with 
an active residential builder 
licence for the fiscal period 
ending March 31, 2022 – 
compared to 2,456 licences for 
the fiscal period ending  
March 31, 2021.  
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• Roles and responsibilities overview for residential construction 
– The program’s advisory group, representing industry, 
delegated authorities and government, collaborated to identify 
and draft an overview of the many roles and responsibilities 
involved in the construction of new homes. This overview will 
be used to inform the development of educational resources 
and to improve collaboration and information-sharing among 
regulators.  

Building on this work, a broader review of new home buyer 
protections programs and policies is continuing. 

Appeal of Variances  

Variances, which are issued by technical administrators or safety codes officers, provide an alternative 
solution to respond to unique situations while still meeting the safety objectives of existing codes and 
standards. If in their opinion, a proposed thing, process, or activity provides equivalent or greater safety 
performance with respect to persons and property a variance can be issued. Stakeholders expressed concern 
that the issuance of variances by safety codes officers was not consistent across the province, leading to 
confusion and a lack of innovation in safety. By enabling a means for variance refusals to be reviewed 
through the Safety Codes Council, industry will have greater confidence that the system is more consistent. 

Sections 19 and 25 of the Safety Codes Amendment Act, 2015 were proclaimed with a coming into force date of 
December 1, 2021. These sections establish a process for individuals to appeal the refusal of a safety codes 
officer to issue a variance (Section 25), and to establish that variances issued by an administrator cannot be 
appealed (Section 19).  

Stakeholders have expressed concerns that variance requests had been dismissed by safety codes officers 
without due consideration. To improve the perceived integrity of the variance system and address concerns 
related to administrative fairness, the Safety Codes Council implemented training for safety codes officers on 
variances and related decision-making. 

An applicant who receives a variance refusal notice from a safety codes officer may, within 30 days after the 
notice is received, appeal the refusal to the Safety Codes Council in accordance with the council’s bylaws.  

Risk-based Inspections  

Municipal Affairs continues to support the Safety Codes Council on planning and implementing a data-
driven approach to inspections for accredited entities. Municipalities, agencies, corporations, and regional 
commissions can be accredited to administer the Safety Codes Act in a specified jurisdiction. 

The safety codes system requires inspections to be performed on permitted buildings or systems to verify 
safety requirements have been met. To ensure codes are being applied correctly, local authorities accredited 
by the Safety Codes Council to perform inspection services for various disciplines in their jurisdiction, must 
complete site inspections at specified stages for each project that vary based on discipline and complexity.  

The renewed provincial accreditation framework will enable accredited entities that administer the Safety 
Codes Act to facilitate more efficient, evidence-based inspections. Under the proposed framework, lower-risk 
activities may be inspected with less frequency, allowing municipalities to confidently allocate inspection 
resources to higher-risk activities, thereby maintaining appropriate safety standards and removing barriers to 
economic growth. Data collection and analysis will provide the evidence to support changes in the frequency 
of inspections to address current risks to persons and property.   

In February 2022, the Safety Codes Council began engaging with stakeholders on the accreditation 
framework. The council anticipates the renewed accreditation framework will be implemented in late 2022.  

A unit is a home. This could be 
a single-family home, 
condominium, townhouse, 
duplex, or ready-to-
move/manufactured home. For 
the fiscal period ending  
March 31, 2022, there were 
26,125 new home registrations 
in Alberta. 
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Performance Measure 3.a: Number of injuries and fatalities caused by structural or mechanical 
failure of buildings and associated systems per 100,000 population in Alberta 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

(2021) 

Target 

2021-22 

(2021) 

Actual 

2018-19 

(2018)  

2019-20  

(2019) 

2020-21  

(2020) 

0.83 0.80 0.59 0.82 0.67 

 

The 2021-22 results for this performance metric reflect the 2021 calendar year. In 2021, there were  
30 injuries and fatalities due to mechanical/structural failure in the 10 measured disciplines in the safety 
codes system, compared to 25 in 2020. The relatively small number of injuries and fatalities suggests there 
continues to be a low level of risk in the system.  

While there is not yet a substantial pool of historical data from which to pull, recent data suggests the 
number of incidents is small enough that one or two incidents (plus or minus) are within the general range 
for the measure and do not indicate anything substantial in the system that needs to be addressed.  

When this measure is viewed in combination with performance indicator 3.b, it is clear that the vast majority 
of injuries and fatalities in the safety codes system are not due to mechanical or structural failure, and this 
suggests that the safety codes system is effective at ensuring buildings, equipment, and devices are safe. 

The majority of injuries and fatalities in 2021 were in the fire discipline (53 per cent, or 16 incidents), with 
the next highest number in the elevating devices discipline (33 per cent or 10 incidents).  

The actual numbers shown in this metric reflect the source data available at the time the metric was 
prepared, they represent the data at a certain point in time, and are not adjusted once reported. As  
late-arriving data for previous periods is entered, the source data may shift slightly. This is especially true for 
numbers involving the fire discipline, which make up a large share of the incidents reported here. 

Performance Indicator 3.b: Number of injuries and fatalities involving buildings or associated 
systems not caused by structural or mechanical failure per 100,000 population in Alberta 

Prior Years’ Results 

2021 
2018  2019  2020  

5.12 4.05 3.04 4.44 

 

The 2021-22 results for this performance indicator reflect the 2021 calendar year. In 2021, there were 198 
injuries or fatalities identified across the safety codes disciplines that were not caused by structural or 
mechanical failures. The population of Alberta for 2021 was recorded as 4,464,170. As such, the number of 
injuries or fatalities per 100,000 was 4.44.  

This was an increase of 68 incidents from the 130 incidents reported in 2020, and 25 more than the 173 
incidents reported in 2019.  
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Initially, this indicator reported on only six of the 10 safety disciplines (fire, electrical, pressure equipment, 
elevating devices, amusement rides, and passenger ropeways). It was expanded to include the remaining 
disciplines under the Safety Codes Act, (building, plumbing, gas, private sewage), with the intention of 
continuing to update numbers for all disciplines annually.  

The actual numbers shown in this metric reflect the source data available at the time the metric was 
prepared, they represent the data at a certain point in time, and are not adjusted once reported. As late-
arriving data for previous periods is entered, the source data may shift slightly. This is especially true for 
numbers involving the fire discipline, which make up a large share of the incidents reported here. 

Performance Indicator 3.c: Number of reported fires not caused by structural or mechanical failure 
of buildings and associated systems, per 100,000 population in Alberta 

Prior Years’ Results 

2021 
2018  2019  2020 

100.09* 80.22* 89.68 102.64 

*Note: Indicators from previous years are recalculated using the most up-to-date information on reported fires in the Fire Electronic 

Reporting System to capture corrections and late-arriving reports from previous years. 

The 2021-22 results for this performance indicator reflect the 2021 calendar year.  

After a gradual reduction in the number of reported fires received by the division from 2017 to 2019, the 
number of reports received in 2020-21 increased by about 12 per cent, and in 2021-22, by approximately 15 
per cent.  

While the population has also increased every year in the past five years, it has not grown at the same rate as 
the number of reported fires (not caused by structural or mechanical failure of buildings and associated 
systems), resulting in an increasing per-capita number.  

This increase could be due to any number of factors, including: 
 
• an underlying increase in fire activity across the province; 

• changes in fire reporting practice among the fire agencies and insurance adjusters that provide the 
information to the Fire Electronic Reporting System;  

• changes in underlying building use and risk exposure due to the effects of public health orders and 
restrictions issued to address COVID-19; or  

• a mix of all of these factors.  
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Outcome Four: Alberta is emergency-ready and resilient to the impacts of 
disasters 

4.1 Work with and support Albertans and their communities as they manage the impacts of the 
pandemic. 

Community Emergency Management Plans 

Every local authority in Alberta is required to have an emergency management plan, as mandated under the 
Emergency Management Act and the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation. A local authority is 
defined as the council of a city, town, village, summer village, county, municipal district, specialized 
municipality, Metis Settlement, or improvement district governed by a council. 

In 2021-22, the ministry continued to conduct the standardized community emergency management plan 
review process; however, the COVID-19 pandemic limited the number of in-person reviews. These reviews 
ensure local authority plans and processes meet the regulation's requirements. In 2021, an online tool was 
developed to streamline data collection and help identify and rectify any gaps in regulatory compliance. 

Performance Measure 4.a: Percentage of communities visited by an Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency field officer and had their Community Emergency Management Plan 
reviewed annually 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 2018-19  2019-20  2020-21 

93% 85% 83% 80% 85% 

 

This performance measure was introduced in the 2016-17 fiscal year. It reflects Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency’s efforts to plan and conduct emergency management plan reviews. Community visits 
are typically within operational control unless an emergency or disaster event occurs.  

The results indicate that 84.6 per cent of communities – municipalities, First Nations, Metis Settlements – in 
Alberta were visited by an Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officer, and had their community 
emergency management plan reviewed. Field officer visits and plan reviews were completed in 323 out of 
382 communities, including the combined activities of regional field officers and First Nations’ field officers.  

The regional field officers completed visits and plan reviews for 311 out of 336 communities (92.6 per cent), 
while the First Nations field officers completed visit and plan reviews for 12 out of 46 communities (26 per 
cent). The 2021-22 result of 84.6 per cent is 4.6 per cent above the established target of 80 per cent. It is an 
increase of 1.3 per cent from the previous year’s results. The variance from the target is “not greater than the 
three per cent materiality threshold,” so the result is within the expected range for this measure. The target 
for 2021-22 was adjusted to account for the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and though the actuals for 
the past three years have been consistent, this year’s result is the first in that period that the “actual” 
surpassed the “target.”  

Factors that affected the results are the operational disruption that the COVID-19 pandemic placed upon 
the field officers and the reduced staffing levels because of recruitment delays. In addition, plan reviews and 
visits for First Nations communities were significantly lower than previous years due to the demands on 
staff resources, restrictions limiting non-band members from entering the land as a measure to reduce the 
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spread of COVID-19, and because First Nations communities are not under the jurisdiction of the Emergency 
Management Act – meaning plan reviews and visits are not a legislated requirement. 

Emergency management planning is a legislated practice for local authorities, not including First Nations, 
which is intended to ensure communities are prepared in the event of disasters and emergencies. Alberta 
Emergency Management Agency field officers routinely visit communities and provide many face-to-face 
services, including community emergency management plan reviews. Community visits are a vital service 
provided by field officers, as direct interactions and relationship-building are integral to how the ministry 
supports communities with emergency management activities. 
 
Regional Emergency Management Collaboration  

The Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation provides direction to local authorities on their 
emergency management roles and responsibilities, including governance, training, emergency planning, and 
emergency exercise requirements. To assist municipalities with compliance, field officers and other ministry 
staff support municipalities with training and emergency management-related services and respond to 
inquiries as they arise. Support is also given to communities that seek to collaborate regionally – to either 
fulfil their regulatory duties or to combine resources and capacity – to better deliver emergency management 
services for residents. In 2021-22, five regional collaboration initiatives were undertaken, involving 18 
municipalities that combined their resources and expertise to improve emergency response and support 
public safety in their communities. The five regional collaborations are: 

1. Lamont Regional Emergency Advisory Committee; 

2. Athabasca County Emergency Advisory Committee; 

3. Clearwater Regional Emergency Management Advisory Committee;  

4. Cardston County Regional Emergency Advisory Committee; and 

5. Westlock County Regional Emergency Management Partnership.  

When municipalities do not have the capacity or the necessary resources, they often have to rely on 
provincial resources to respond to disasters. Regional emergency management collaboration fosters regional 
partnerships, which assist municipalities with limited resources to manage disasters more effectively by 
building emergency management capacity. The ministry continues to work with and support communities to 
ensure bylaws and agreements meet regulatory requirements. 

Provincial Operations Centre Activities 

The Provincial Operations Centre provides central communication 
and coordination for the Government of Alberta during 
emergencies and disasters. The centre is staffed 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week to respond to requests for information and 
assistance from municipalities and other Government of Alberta 
ministries. There are four operational levels, which change based on 
the severity of the emergency event. Each level corresponds with an 
increase in activity and staffing requirements. In September 2021, the Provincial Operations Centre was 
moved to the Muriel Stanley Venne Provincial Centre, a larger space that better supports the delivery of 
emergency management coordination activities. Due to challenges with implementing technology and 
disruptions to provincial supply chains, the 24/7 Watchstation did not make the transition to the new facility 
until January 2022.  

In 2021-22, the Provincial Operations Centre supported several events, including: 

In 2021-22, the Provincial 
Operations Centre was 
elevated above Level 1 for 192 
days, compared to 285 days in 
2020-21. 
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• COVID-19 pandemic (ongoing support twice: April 1-July 6, 2021; and September 17-December 14, 
2021);  

• Parkland County wildfires (May 6-10, 2021);  

• Dene Tha’ Chateh flooding (June 19-22, 2021); and  

• Yellowhead County wildfires (June 22 to July 12, 2021). 

Additionally, the Provincial Operations Centre coordinated resources and the deployment of staff to the 
Province of British Columbia to assist with significant wildfire activity and a flooding emergency. Nineteen 
staff were deployed (one employee was deployed twice) to help with flooding in British Columbia. The 
ministry continues to sustain the Provincial Flood Stockpile with an associated budget of $105,000 per year. 
The stockpile includes deployable equipment – such as portable flood mitigation trailers, sandbagging 
machines, lights and generators – and consumable supplies, such as sandbags, which communities at risk of 
flooding can access. The stockpile was accessed by five municipalities and the RCMP in 2021.  

With COVID-19 public health measures still in place in 2021-22, the Provincial Operations Centre 
maintained a remote work environment, which presented opportunities to develop processes and procedures 
to augment the centre remotely. The lessons learned will provide an opportunity to refine and improve 
remote working processes and procedures for future Provincial Operations Centre elevations. During the 
onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, temporary-wage staff were hired and then retained for the 
extended duration of the elevation to maintain sufficient staff levels and support the workload. 

COVID-19 Pandemic 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Government of Alberta utilized its powers under the Public 
Health Act to declare a State of Public Health Emergency from September 15, 2021, through to  
December 14, 2021. Public health orders, such as masking and quarantine requirements, minimize the 
impacts of the pandemic on Albertans and continue to be updated to reflect new and emerging data, such as 
COVID-19 vaccines and variants. To assist with the provincial coordination, Provincial Operations Centre 
staff held weekly operational briefs with all consequence management officers and business continuity 
officers from across the government and produced a weekly common operation picture report. Provincial 
Operations Centre staff also took part in weekly coordination calls with counterparts at the Alberta Health 
Services Emergency Operation Centre. 

COVID-19 Vaccine Task Force  

The COVID-19 Vaccine Task Force supported the Government of Alberta in distributing the available 
supply of COVID-19 vaccine in an expedited and efficient manner in order to maximize the province’s 
resources for the benefit of Albertans. This task force worked with Alberta Health and Alberta Health 
Services to review and refine the COVID-19 vaccination program plan. 

Community Outreach Table Initiatives 

In 2021-22, the Government of Alberta continued to work on the Community Engagement Plan to help 
support Alberta’s two largest cities in combating the spread of COVID-19. The focus of this plan was to 
reduce existing COVID-19 case numbers and community transmission rates in communities that were 
experiencing significantly higher rates of COVID-19 transmission. 

Formal grant agreements between Municipal Affairs and the cities of Edmonton and Calgary were signed in 
December 2020. Municipal Affairs worked with the cities to identify the scope and specific deliverables of 
this initiative, which included developing and managing a community outreach table to engage with 
communities. Both cities leveraged stakeholder expertise to provide support and resources. The agreement 
for the City of Edmonton ended in December 2021, and the final reporting from the city will be available in 
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summer 2022. The City of Calgary is expected to complete their project by July 2022, with a final report 
available in fall 2022.  

Personal Protective Equipment Task Force 

Established in April 2020, the Personal Protective Equipment Task 
Force, mandated by the Emergency Management Cabinet Committee, 
coordinated and managed the procurement, storage, and distribution 
of personal protective equipment provided to non-healthcare sector 
stakeholders. With limited capability for staff to work from home and 
to better manage and coordinate the equipment, the task force leased 
warehouse space until November 30, 2022. The task force distributed 
personal protective equipment, such as hand sanitizer, masks, gloves, 
face shields, gowns, and disinfectants to help enable the operation of 
government, non-government organizations, and the non-healthcare 
sectors.  

The task force also provided logistics support to Municipal Affairs, the Emergency Management Cabinet 
Committee, the Priorities Implementation Cabinet Committee, and other areas of the Government of 
Alberta. This logistics support included: 

• validating personal protective equipment safety requirements and vendor credentials;  

• procuring personal protective equipment through direct purchase or tender;  

• shipping and receiving, product inventory, and warehouse services; and 

• creating a Personal Protective Equipment stockpile, to maintain a 60-day supply of specific personal 
protective equipment products (i.e. disinfectant solution and wipes, face shields, gowns, hand sanitizer, 
adult and child masks and gloves). 

  

From April 2020 to April 2022, 
the Personal Protective 
Equipment Task Force shipped 
108 million personal protective 
equipment items in 35,145 
orders to 9,981 organizations, 
with an overall value of  
$92.3 million. 
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Distributed Personal Protective Equipment Value 

By distributing surplus supplies to non-healthcare organizations across Alberta, a surplus personal protective 
equipment initiative ensured personal protective equipment did not go to waste. Organizations receiving 
surplus protective equipment included daycares, day homes, food services providers, food banks, and private 
home care providers. The task force received requests for 9.6 million personal protective products from 
more than 4,600 organizations. Between November 2021 and February 2022, the task force distributed: 

• 9.42 million masks; 

• 153,000 bottles of disinfectant/hand sanitizer; 

• 15,000 packages of wipes; and 

• 10,000 face shields. 

Additionally, a “masks for education” initiative was developed in 
response to the rapid spread of the COVID-19 virus in December 
2021, amid concerns of students returning to schools after the 
December break. The task force distributed more than 49 million 
masks through this initiative, representing a six-week supply of 
medical-grade masks and 8.2 million rapid tests to schools and school 
authorities. With an approved budget of $28.8 million, the task force 
worked with Alberta Health Services to plan the logistics and the 
procurement of child- and adult-sized masks.  

Evacuation Guidelines in a COVID-19 Environment 

The safety of Albertans, first responders, and emergency management personnel is the priority when 
conducting evacuations in a COVID-19 environment. In 2021-22, the ministry collaborated with Alberta 

The Government of Alberta 
recouped $0.5 million in 
providing at-cost personal 
protective equipment to 
organizations no longer eligible 
as a result of the Emergency 
Management Cabinet 
Committee’s mandate in June, 
which allowed these 
organizations to request at-
cost personal protective 
equipment until they 
established their own supplies. 
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Health to review and reissue evacuation guidelines to align with changing COVID-19 health and safety 
considerations. Keeping the guidelines up-to-date means local authorities and first responders were better 
able to ensure the safety of all Albertans during emergencies. 

Major Event Support Apparatus 

The Major Event Support Apparatus is a vehicle that provides a suite of communications functions and 
provides space for up to 14 people to host meetings and other coordination activities during emergencies or 
disaster situations. The vehicle can be used during community engagements and outreach events. In 2021-
22, with public health measures in place due to COVID-19, and community engagement and outreach 
events cancelled, the use of the Major Event Support Apparatus vehicle was limited. 

Regional Field Operations and First Nation Field Operations Activities 

The Regional and First Nation Field Operations of the Alberta Emergency Management Agency supports 
communities and their emergency management teams to build their emergency management capacity and 
capability by providing training, program support, plan reviews, advice, and assistance. Ministry-delivered 
supports have resulted in community emergency management teams, and better prepared and more capable 
programs.  

The ministry is recognized as a national leader in the application of the Incident Command System and 
defines many best practices that emergency management agencies adopt in other jurisdictions. These best 
practices include: 

• leading the country in developing collective emergency management training through the All-Hazards 
Incident Management Team initiative; 

• supporting First Nations with an approach that was adopted in partnership with Indigenous Service 
Canada; and  

• other Incident Command System Canada partners tracking the ministry’s practices and leveraging these 
experiences for their programs. 

The public health measures around the COVID-19 pandemic affected the ministry’s ability to conduct in-
person training and other community engagements, which impacted community emergency management 
programs, plans, and training requirements set out in the Local Authority Emergency Management 
Regulation. In 2021-22, the ministry adjusted to remote methods to ensure communities received the 
support they needed to build their capabilities and capacities. 

Emergency Social Services 

The Emergency Social Services unit leads the coordination of province-wide social services support to local 
authorities in an emergency. The five-person unit works with stakeholders to develop local and regional 
social services capacities in all phases of emergency management and at the time of the event. Through 
stakeholder engagement and feedback, the ministry identified opportunities to strengthen emergency social 
services support to communities and increase the resiliency of communities. The team researched and 
developed three comprehensive emergency social services training sessions and delivered them in person at 
first, then shifted to remote training when public health measures implemented during the COVID-19 
pandemic prevented in-person training. The sessions, delivered to more than 2,000 community stakeholders, 
included the topics of: 

• Emergency Social Services Basics; 

• Facilities Management; and 

• the Registration and Reception Centre Program/MyAlberta Emergency Registration System. 
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The goal of this training was to increase disaster resilience. Municipalities reported that the training program 
enabled them to build additional skills to better develop tailored emergency social services in their region. 
The ministry is working on developing an emergency social services plan guideline to support communities 
as they develop emergency social services plans. Another training session was offered in April 2022.  

MyAlberta Emergency Registration System 

The MyAlberta Emergency Registration System allows Albertans to use a mobile device or computer to 
register themselves and their family members with their local authority prior to, or during, an emergency. 
The system:  

• builds upon the Registration and Reception Centre Program; 

• continues to support local authorities in accepting and distributing online registration data; and  

• supports Albertans in accessing government services as soon as an emergency is declared.  

There were 380 registrations in 2021-22. Coordination support and registration services were provided to 
the evacuated residents during a St. Albert extended care facility evacuation in 2021. The Registration and 
Reception Centre Program was enhanced to better support the registration of First Nations during 
emergencies by tailoring the forms to allow First Nations stakeholders to identify if the potential evacuees 
are living off or on reserve, how long they were away from home, and to where they were evacuated. There 
are three First Nations reflected as active registered users of the program.  

In 2021-22, the Emergency Social Services team strengthened emergency social services support to 
communities by increasing the unit from one full-time employee to five full-time employees and two wage 
staff. In July and August 2021, five team members were deployed to British Columbia to assist with the 
wildfires, which interrupted training sessions for communities.  

On November 16-17, 2021, the Emergency Social Services unit cohosted the Refresh/Recharge/Renew 
online conference with the Emergency Social Services Network of Alberta. The 324 registrants represented a 
full range of the emergency management community, including elected municipal officials, municipal staff, 
dedicated volunteers, provincial and local emergency management personnel, non-government agency staff, 
ministry staff, and community-based emergency social services specialists. The conference offered six 
different sessions:  

1. When COVID-19 Hits a Resort Town;  

2. Emergency Social Services Education and Training; 

3. Supporting our British Columbia Neighbours; 

4. Community Partnerships and Business Continuity Resources; 

5. Companion Animals in an Emergency Social Services Activation; and  

6. Breakout Session: Stop Blurring the Lines.    

Intergovernmental Collaboration 

Working to form consensus across jurisdictions around improving emergency management approaches and 
practices, advancing public safety issues, and identifying means to facilitate cross-jurisdictional mutual aid 
across Canada, Municipal Affairs represents the Government of Alberta on several intergovernmental 
committees, including: the Senior Officials Responsible for Emergency Management (federal, provincial, and 
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territorial forum) and the Canadian Council of Emergency Management Organizations (provincial and 
territorial forum). Both committees include representatives from provincial and territorial emergency 
management organizations, and aim to advance public safety issues and identify means to facilitate cross-
jurisdictional mutual aid.  

The current work of these committees includes items of significant interest to Albertans, such as supporting 
national discussions on developing a pan-Canadian flood insurance and relocation program, further public 
alerting, and a national public safety broadband system. 

The ministry continues to co-chair a federal, provincial, and territorial working group that guides the 
development of the National Public Safety Broadband Network and the National Public Alerting System, 
which are programs that support enhanced emergency communications and public emergency notifications. 
The ministry is also participating in the development and refinement of a cross-border mutual assistance 
process and protocol, as well as the federal government’s review of its Disaster Financial Assistance 
Arrangement through its membership in the Senior Officials Responsible for Emergency Management and 
the Canadian Council of Emergency Management Organizations forums. 

Flood Insurance and Relocation Project 

Due to the growing threat of disasters to the safety of Canadian communities, the Government of Canada 
created the Flood Insurance and Relocation Project to explore the viability of a low-cost national residential 
flood insurance program and national relocation action plan. The project aims to develop policies and tools 
to improve flood resilience throughout Canada and promote risk-informed decision-making by 2030 and a 
net reduction in flood-related disaster impacts across Canada by 2050.  

A low-cost, national flood insurance program would protect homeowners at a high risk of flooding and 
lacking access to adequate insurance protection. A national relocation action plan would assist homeowners 
at the highest risk of repeated flooding with potential relocation.  

The ministry contributes to the project by participating in the provincial/territorial task team and 
coordinating feedback from ministries across the Government of Alberta. In addition, the ministry provides 
expertise on current disaster financial assistance programs and costs, existing relocation efforts, and policy 
considerations related to flood insurance and relocation. The ministry’s goal of participating in the task team 
is to ensure that the interest of Albertans is represented. 

National Disaster Mitigation Program 

The federal National Disaster Mitigation Program is a 50/50 cost-sharing initiative with provincial and 
territorial governments in Canada to fund projects that address significant, recurring flood risk and costs. 
Each round of funding consists of projects under the four funding streams of:  

1. risk assessments;  

2. flood mapping;  

3. mitigation planning; and 

4. investments in non-structural and small scale structural mitigation projects. 
 

Municipal Affairs’ role is to address the increasing flood events in the province by coordinating the 
submission of project proposals from Alberta to the federal government. In April 2021, Public Safety 
Canada approved 15 of Alberta’s project proposals with a federal contribution of $892,000, and the province 
contributing an equal cost share. These projects will provide critical data to inform planning and decision-
making for flood-prone areas. To deliver the National Disaster Mitigation Program in Alberta, Municipal 
Affairs manages the grant administration and reporting processes, while Alberta Environment and Parks 
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provides the technical expertise, project management, and the cost-sharing budget for the approved projects. 
A contribution agreement was signed in March 2021 to complete these carry-over projects. The impacts of 
COVID-19 delayed the completion of some projects from previous rounds.  

4.2 Lead the implementation of a provincial hazard identification and risk assessment to help 
reduce disaster risk. 

Provincial Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Framework 

In 2019, the ministry restarted the development of a process to assess hazard risk, by drafting a framework 
and implementation plan. The work, which originally began in 2014, renewed focus on assessing hazard risk 
and is in line with a 2020 report from the auditor general that recommended implementing a system to 
develop and maintain a provincial hazard assessment. The Provincial Hazard Identification and Risk 
Assessment Framework is intended to provide Government of Alberta departments and stakeholders with a 
consistent, comprehensive, and integrated disaster risk management process.  

One of the goals of the assessment framework is to help inform decision-making around reducing disaster 
risk. Better informed decision-making will encourage actions that contribute to reduced costs and reduced 
impacts of disasters in Alberta. By enhancing municipalities’ abilities to identify, assess, and communicate 
disaster risks and hazards, they will generate more robust risk mitigation strategies.  

The ministry manages the development of the hazard identification and risk assessment process. The 
assessment will provide departments and stakeholders with a greater understanding of the cumulative 
disaster risk and potential cascading effects, which can help inform their emergency management planning 
and decision-making processes.  

The initial work on provincial hazard identification and risk assessment resulted in the development of the 
Provincial Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Framework, which outlined the purpose, roles, and 
responsibilities of involved stakeholders, the process the framework will follow, and the resulting 
deliverables. The framework was developed using a collaborative process with internal Government of 
Alberta risk and disaster management stakeholders and was presented to the Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety 
Committee in December 2020. The committee approved and endorsed further development of the process. 
Once developed and refined, the province will look to implement the framework with its external partners 
and stakeholders.  

The complexity and scope of the framework’s development requires the collaboration of many stakeholders, 
and in 2021-22, one additional full-time staff member was added to provide assistance. The ministry 
continues to work with a cross-departmental working group to complete a comprehensive hazard 
identification and risk assessment workbook and assessment tool. The workbook will include a disaster 
resilience guideline, and a reference tool for emergency management stakeholders on approaches to 
mitigating disaster risk. In December 2020, after reviewing the department’s plans to develop and implement 
the Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment, the Office of the Auditor General issued a letter indicating 
its satisfaction with the planned approach. In subsequent follow-up meetings, the Office of the Auditor 
General was provided the opportunity to comment on draft work, including the workbook and resilience 
guideline. The Auditor General indicated there was no requirement to revise or change the planned 
approach. 

Alberta Emergency Plan 

The Alberta Emergency Plan, mandated through the Government Emergency Management Regulation, is an 
overarching plan describing Alberta’s emergency management system and the roles and responsibilities of all 
emergency management partners. It includes the policies, processes, and procedures for coordinated and 
effective emergency response. Recognizing the value of emergency management stakeholders, the ministry 
released the Alberta Emergency Plan 2021 in July 2021, as a working document to enable engagement with 
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local and regional emergency management stakeholders. The feedback gathered from these engagements 
with stakeholders and targeted consultations with local authorities will inform refinements in the 2022 
version of the Alberta Emergency Plan.  

All-Hazard Incident Management Teams 

With the increasing frequency and severity of disasters, responding to multiple large-scale emergencies 
simultaneously can occur in Alberta, and resources at all levels of government may be overwhelmed. The 
All-Hazard Incident Management Teams initiative drives significant change to the Alberta emergency 
management landscape by improving municipal and regional emergency management capacities and 
capabilities.  

The ministry supports the development and growth of the five regional teams to better support a 
municipality responding to an emergency or disaster that is beyond its internal capacity. In summer 2021, the 
North Central All-Hazard Incident Management Team was deployed to support the Incident Command 
Post for the Parkland County wildfire. In 2021-22, the COVID-19 public health measures limited the 
ministry’s ability to conduct in-person training, which affected the progress of this initiative. The initiative is 
maintained through conditional grant agreements of $250,000 per year split between the ministry and five 
regional all-hazard incident management teams: the Town of High Level, the Capital Region Emergency 
Preparedness Program, Red Deer County, the City of Medicine Hat, and the City of Cold Lake. The 
agreements are scheduled to end in March 2024. 

Integration of Wildland Urban Interface Field Officers 

Wildland urban interface is the area where human-developed 
infrastructure meets an undeveloped wildland, and wildfires in 
these areas are complex because of the different burning 
characteristics of wildland and human-developed structures and 
overlapping jurisdictions. This area, if not properly protected, can 
be a means of transmission of wildfires from rural areas into heavily populated urban zones, or vice versa. 
Ideally, wildland urban interface field officers will visit municipal fire departments to verify the status of 
equipment, maintenance, and training levels of municipal departments. In 2021-22, three additional wildland 
urban interface field officers joined the Regional Field Operations unit to increase the frequency of visits. 
The ministry is working on developing a process for conducting visits and verifying vendor information on 
equipment, maintenance, and training for municipal employees outside of forest protection areas. This work 
will increase preparedness for, and mitigate the effects of, wildland urban interface wildfires. 

Emergency Management Preparedness Program 

Funding for the Emergency Management Preparedness Program supports the expansion and enhancement 
of emergency management preparedness capacity in Alberta, and the idea that communities are stronger and 
more resilient when residents are well prepared for emergencies. Examples of projects eligible for funding 
include municipal emergency management preparedness training and disaster simulation training exercises. 
The total maximum annual funding for this program was $150,000, with the last funds provided in 2019-20. 
Projects approved in 2019-20 remain active until December 2022, with the possibility of an extension.  

4.3 Support public and private disaster recovery through coordination, planning expertise, and 
financial assistance. 

Disaster Financial Assistance 

Disaster Recovery Program Administration 

Municipal Affairs helps Albertans recover after disasters by providing financial assistance and expert 
recovery advice, and coordinating resources from across the Government of Alberta and recovery 
stakeholders. The Disaster Recovery Program provides financial assistance for uninsurable loss and damage 

Wildland urban interface 
assets include equipment and 
trained/qualified personnel. 
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caused by emergencies and disasters. Municipalities affected by a disaster can apply for a disaster recovery 
program and if the event meets program criteria, the application is approved and affected residents in the 
municipality can apply for financial assistance.  

In 2021-22, the Mackenzie County April Flood Disaster Recovery Program was established, and Smoky 
Lake County and Athabasca County were added to the 2020 East Central Alberta Flood Disaster Recovery 
Program. Mackenzie County also submitted an application for a June 2021 flood event. The ministry 
collaborated with Mackenzie County to launch its program for their approved April 2021 flood Disaster 
Recovery Program and applications were open to Albertans impacted by the event until April 28, 2022. 
There were five additional municipal applications that did not meet the extraordinary threshold for a 
Disaster Recovery Program to be established.  

In 2021-22, the Government of Alberta approved $27 million to support communities impacted by flooding 
events across the province: 

• $1 million for the 2021 Mackenzie County April Flood Disaster Recovery Program; 

• $1.6 million to add Athabasca County and Smoky Lake County to the 2020 East Central Alberta Flood 
Disaster Recovery Program and $400,000 to address additional eligible costs for the previously approved 
communities; and 

• $24 million to support funding pressures identified in the 2020 Northern Alberta Flood Disaster 
Recovery Program.  
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Summary of Private Sector Disaster Recovery Program Applications and Payment by 

Municipality in 2021-22 

Program Total 

Received  

Complete Payments 

2018 Slave Lake Area 16 16 $233,248 

2018 Town of Beaverlodge 42 42 $711,316 

2019 Buffalo Lake Metis Floods 54 54 $739,146 

2019 Central Alberta Floods 54 54 $483,675 

2019 County of Northern Lights 

Floods 

1 1 $11,332 

2019 Slave Lake Area 18 17 $182,320 

2019 Southern Alberta Floods 5 5 $48,001 

2020 Calgary Area Flood Event 302 301 $1,362,999 

2020 East Central Alberta Flood 182 169 $2,129,190 

2020 Northern Alberta Spring 

Flood 

1,417 1,375 $41,070,343 

2020 Saddle Hills County Flood 4 2 $56,603 

2020 Village of Acme Flood 16 15 $204,179 

Totals 2,111 2,051 $47,232,352 

*Shaded programs are now closed 

2020 Disaster Recovery Programs 

In 2021-22, under the 2020 Northern Alberta Flood Disaster Recovery Program, $17.6 million was provided 
to impacted property and business owners and $15.1 million was paid to private sector applicants, including 
$11.5 million to the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo, $1.8 million to Mackenzie County, and  
$1.8 million to 16 other communities. Four other 2020 Disaster Recovery Programs (Calgary area flood, 
Saddle Hills County flood, east central Alberta flood, and the Village of Acme flood) paid $2.5 million out to 
private sector applicants in 2021-22. As of April 25, 2022, $56.7 million has been provided to communities 
through the 2020 disaster Recovery Programs. 

Ministry Grant Management  

Government of Alberta ministries may also be eligible for disaster financial assistance under the Disaster 
Recovery Program to compensate ministries for costs incurred in conducting emergency operations. As of 
March 31, 2022, the ministry provided more than $40 million in eligible disaster recovery program costs to 
ministries for six different programs. 

 



 

Results Analysis 

 

 

88                                                                                                                                Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2021-22 

As of March 31, 2022, the ministry completed program administration for the following: 

• The 2013 Southern Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program with a budget of $1.2 billion: 

o $850 million to ministries since the inception of the program in 2013;  

o an additional $200 million in ministry disaster expenses that were not initially under the disaster 
recovery program that the ministry reviewed and incorporated for federal cost-sharing; and 

o an additional $156 million that includes response and program administration costs. 

• The 2016 Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo Disaster Recovery Program with a budget of $296 
million: 

o $272 million to ministries since the inception of the program in 2016; and 

o an additional $24 million that includes response and program administration costs. 

Performance Measure 4.b: Percentage of residential disaster financial assistance files that have 
received 90 per cent of its estimated funding within 90 days of being determined eligible for disaster 
financial assistance 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 2018-19  2019-20  2020-21 

94% 78% 41% 90% 70% 

 

The 90/90/90 performance metric measures residential (homeowner and tenant) grant administration 
efficiency and timeliness. This ambitious target depends on the magnitude of the program and the number 
of applicants. The likelihood of achieving the target is impacted by the ability of applicants, insurers, 
professional trades, program staff, and non-government organizations to work together to clarify the extent 
of damage and eligible payments.  

The 2021-22 fiscal year result is 70 per cent. This means 70 per cent of all eligible residential program 
applicants received at least 90 per cent estimated funding within 90 days of becoming eligible for the 
program. Of the 324 eligible applications counted in the 2021-22 fiscal year, 226 met the target. The 
performance measure target was not achievable for the 2020 disaster recovery programs in 2021-22. 

The largest contributing factor to this year’s performance measure result came from the strategic decision to 
advance only a portion of expected payments to applicants based on a simplified approach to evaluations. 
This process provided early payments to applicants as soon as possible, by deferring full eligibility of 
damages to a later date. Once full eligibility of damages was determined, applicants’ payments were adjusted. 
This process greatly improved the time taken for applicants to receive at least one payment; however, as a 
result of the advance, the ability to provide applicants with 90 per cent of their estimated funding within 90 
days was unattainable. Given this program delivery change, the 90-day target that is part of this performance 
measure was not flexible enough to track the efficiencies achieved by providing partial early payments.  

The dependencies of requiring documentation, scheduling, and completing evaluations, and the provision of 
all necessary insurance information to mitigate risk of overpayment generally takes longer than 90 days. 
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Municipal Affairs has reviewed the metric and determined that unless there is an increase in risk tolerance to 
overpay applicants or if, on program initiation, the required number of trained staff are available within 30 
days, the 90/90/90 measure remains unachievable. Work is underway to develop a new measure in 
conjunction with workforce metrics, as the ministry is examining how to most effectively and efficiently 
meet the recovery needs of those impacted by uninsurable loss or damage. 

Federal Cost-Sharing for Disaster Recovery Programs 

When the cost of a Disaster Recovery Program exceeds the province’s established threshold (based on per 
capita costs), the Government of Alberta can request Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada to 
share disaster recovery costs through the Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangements. In instances where 
there is uncertainty in applying the Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangements or there are extenuating 
circumstances in a disaster event, business cases are developed and submitted to the federal government for 
consideration to maximize Alberta’s cost-sharing potential. Cost-sharing with the federal government 
reduces the province’s disaster response and recovery costs. Submitting expenses to the federal government 
will result in the province cost-sharing the incremental costs associated with disasters that have affected the 
province over the last 10 years.  

In 2021-22, the ministry submitted $75 million in business cases for federal approval for expenses associated 
with three Disaster Recovery Programs: 

• 2018 Alberta spring flood ($7 million); 

• 2019 northwest Alberta flood ($34 million); and  

• 2020 northern Alberta flood ($34 million). 

Municipal Affairs has submitted and received approval from the federal government for approximately $780 
million in expenses from Disaster Recovery Programs related to the 2013 southern Alberta floods, the 2016 
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo wildfire, the 2018 Alberta spring floods, the 2019 northwest Alberta 
wildfire, and the 2020 northern Alberta flood. 

Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program Administration 

The Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program provides financial 
assistance to municipalities when they incur extraordinary 
incremental costs while fighting wildfires outside Alberta’s forest 
protection area. In 2021, $4.8 million was approved for the four new 
program applications: 

• Thorhild County wildfire between May 15 and 18, 2021  

• Lac La Biche County wildfire between May 6 and 12, 2021 

• The Municipal District of Willow Creek wildfire on March 28, 
2021  

• Parkland County wildfires between May 6 and 27, 2021, and 
August 13 and 27, 2021  

Recovery Activities 

The province works to connect subject matter experts with municipal leaders after a disaster or emergency 
to help with the recovery process, from the onset of response activities through long-term recovery efforts. 

Total disaster assistance 
approved for Disaster 
Recovery Programs and 
Municipal Wildfire Assistance 
Programs for 2021-22:  

 Six extraordinary disaster 
events 

 $31.8 million disaster 
assistance approved 
funding 

 Seven municipalities 
approved 
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To better address the needs of Albertans and municipalities impacted by disasters, the ministry works 
continually to improve recovery processes and procedures. 

Provincial Recovery Framework 

The Provincial Recovery Framework describes the function of recovery in the Government of Alberta’s 
emergency management system. The aim is to clarify how the Government of Alberta supports all 
emergency management partners under an all-hazards framework. The framework provides strategic 
guidance on how the Government of Alberta will approach disaster recovery in future events, and identifies 
strategies and tools used to support recovery stakeholders before, during and after disaster events. The 
framework serves as a standalone document and is an appendix of the Alberta Emergency Plan. The 
ministry will continue to work with its partners to improve the tools and processes for implementing the 
framework.  

Provincial Recovery Coordination Centre 

In the Alberta Emergency Management Agency, the Provincial 
Recovery Coordination Centre acts as the Government of 
Alberta’s central body for sharing recovery information. In 2021-
22, the centre coordinated ministerial and Government of Alberta 
approval for one Disaster Recovery Program and four Municipal 
Wildfire Assistance Program events. The Provincial Recovery 
Coordination Centre staff also supported Emergency Management 
British Columbia when the Province of British Columbia 
experienced catastrophic floods and mudslides in 2021. Fourteen 
ministry staff were deployed to provide on-the-ground assistance and guidance on disaster response and 
recovery. Eight recovery specialists provided remote assistance. The Provincial Recovery Coordination 
Centre also:  

• acts as the central information-sharing and distributing body with respect to disaster recovery 
information;  

• leads the preparation of the Government of Alberta recovery plan and briefings for decision-makers;  

• coordinates the implementation of recovery-related decisions, including financial decisions, and 
organizes cross-ministry working groups;  

• empowers communities to lead recovery efforts in their jurisdictions;  

• acts as the central banker for the Government of Alberta and reviews ministry initiatives for Disaster 
Recovery Program eligibility;  

• secures funding for all disaster recovery programs and, in 2020-21, secured funding for the ministry’s 
COVID-19 response activities; 

• prepares recovery briefings for all government stakeholders; and  

• provides support to the Provincial Operations Centre through an agency representative. 

Remote Evaluation – Private Sector Disaster Recovery Program 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the ministry implemented a new and innovative process to 
complete evaluations remotely as an alternative to the traditional in-person evaluation of property damaged 
after a disaster. Whenever possible, this process was used to remotely review property documentation, 
photographs, videos, and applicant testimony; and this enabled evaluators to finalize payment 

In 2021-22, staff from the 
Provincial Recovery 
Coordination Centre supported 
Emergency Management 
British Columbia when British 
Columbia experienced 
catastrophic floods and 
mudslides. 
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recommendations quickly. As the process is not possible in all cases, in-person evaluations were still required 
for complex cases, such as damages involving agricultural property. In 2021-22, the ministry completed 52 
per cent of evaluations remotely. COVID-19 public health measures did not affect evaluators’ ability to 
complete a damage evaluation and payment recommendation for simplified evaluations, and the process will 
continue to be used whenever possible. The ministry will monitor and modify the process and make 
adjustments to meet the needs of the program and Albertans.  

Remote Evaluation Policy 

The ministry streamlined the evaluation of loss and damage in basements and garages with a simplified 
evaluation model. Development of the model started in 2021 when COVID-19 restrictions prevented in-
person evaluations. This model provides a calculation tool that uses pre-set rates for private sector Disaster 
Recovery Program files with water-related damage in basements and garages of residential homes and rental 
properties. In situations where complex damage and in-person evaluation are not involved, the simplified 
evaluation model was applied, resulting in shorter service delivery timelines and increased capacity for 
evaluators to focus on properties with complex damages. The alternative approach provided by the model 
also enabled staff to adhere to the COVID-19 public health measures without impacting service delivery and 
resulted in reduced administrative burden for ministry staff without increasing regulatory requirements for 
disaster recovery program applicants.  

Municipal Mitigation Funding 

In February 2021, funding was approved through the Disaster Recovery Program to assist the Regional 
Municipality of Wood Buffalo and Mackenzie County with buying out or relocating residents in specific 
high-risk flood zones. The ministry collaborated with stakeholders to negotiate the terms of conditional 
grant agreements for each municipality, which directs how the mitigation funds will be administered.  

The agreement with the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo was 
executed in January 2022 with approved funding of $11 million, 
which will be used to buy out properties located in the flood zones 
of the Ptarmigan Court community. The municipality completed 
buy-outs for 52 properties and will remove all structures from these 
properties and decommission and remove utilities. 

The agreement with Mackenzie County was executed in October 
2021, with approved funding of $12.8 million. The funds will be 
used to build subdivisions to relocate residents out of the flood zones in the town and the surrounding areas 
of Fort Vermilion. The subdivisions will be developed in three phases, with an estimated 2024 completion 
date. 

Other Ministry Activities in Support of Outcome Four 

Public Emergency Communication 

Alberta’s 911 System 

Alberta’s 911 system is critical to the health and safety of Albertans and serves as a communication line 
between Albertans and emergency services. Several standards and regulations are in place to ensure 911 
services are efficient, consistent, and robust.  

Emergency 911 Act 

The Emergency 911 Act authorizes the establishment of guidelines regarding the processes and procedures 
around answering calls, establishing fines for frivolous 911 calls, and a monthly 911 levy on wireless devices 
to support 911 public safety answering points. In Alberta, there are two types of public safety answering 
points: 

Through the Municipal 
Mitigation Funding initiative, 
134 households will be 
removed from the flood plain in 
the Regional Municipality of 
Wood Buffalo and Mackenzie 
County. 
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1. primary centres, which answer emergency calls directly through the 911 network; and  

2. secondary centres that answer emergency calls from primary centres and further evaluate 911 calls and 
dispatch first responders.  

On September 1, 2021, the Act was amended to:  

• allow secondary call centres to receive funding generated through the 911 levy; and  

• require secondary call centres to comply with provincial standards, similar to primary centres.  

911 Grant Program 

The 911 Grant Program is an initiative under the authority of the Emergency 911 Act. The program`s purpose 
is to support and enhance the development and delivery of local 911 services. The program’s budget is 
funded entirely through a monthly levy – collected by telecommunications providers – that is applied to 
every active cellphone in Alberta. This levy is remitted to the province each month to fund the program. The 
fund supports operations and improved technology for 911 call centres across the province.  

After amending the Act, the associated Emergency 911 Levy 
Regulation was also amended to re-establish a proportionate 
funding model for 911 centres by adjusting the monthly wireless 
911 levy charged on all wireless devices in Alberta to 95 cents from 
44 cents. The increased monthly levy brings Alberta in line with 
the Canadian average 911 levy of 98 cents and allowed the 911 
Program to grant substantially more funding to 911 call centres in 
2021-22 compared to 2020-21. All the funds generated by the 911 
levy are required to be directed toward supporting the delivery of 
911 services to the public, and the funding is separate from 
Government of Alberta revenue. 

The amendment to the Act makes secondary public safety answering points eligible for funding, allowing for 
more effective call answering and transferring and a more robust service network. The ministry conducted 
virtual engagement sessions with stakeholders to reach agreement on an updated funding formula that meets 
the needs of the agencies that operate Alberta`s 26 public safety answering points.  

Funding will support updates that 911 call centres will be required to implement in order to meet federally-
mandated Next Generation 911 capabilities, such as:  

• network upgrades that will allow public safety answering points to obtain additional information 
regarding the emergency call and location; and  

• the ability to send a real-time emergency text message in situations where the caller cannot speak.  

This will modernize the existing 911 infrastructure by moving to an internet protocol-based system. The 
funds will also be used to acquire and upgrade the complex 
software and hardware technology and for future system 
maintenance. Although the current 911 system has been a success 
story for more than 30 years, the system must be updated so that it 
continues to meet the needs of Albertans and can leverage 
evolving technologies. The implementation of Next Generation 
911 will enhance emergency services, creating a more efficient and 
resilient system. The transition will be completed by March 2025, 

Next Generation 911 is an 
upgrade to the 911 system and 
will introduce new features 
such as real-time texting for 
emergency situations during 
which a call cannot be placed. 

Alberta is the first Canadian 
province to share 911 levy 
funding between primary and 
secondary public safety 
answering points, which sets 
the foundation for Alberta’s 
911 network to be the most 
robust and interoperable in the 
country. 
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as mandated by the Canadian Radio-Television Telecommunications Commission.  

Funding to Support 911 Call Centres, 2017-18 to 2021-22 

 

The 911 Program updated the program guidelines and grant agreements to reflect the changes in the 
Emergency 911 Act, and these updates were approved by the Minister of Municipal Affairs in March 2022. 
The revised program guidelines have updated the list of eligible expenditures to allow public safety 
answering points to integrate new technology, enhance existing capacity, and promote and enhance public 
safety. The new guidelines also reflect the legislative and regulatory amendments. Changes in the guidelines 
will reduce the administrative red-tape burden on Alberta public safety answering points by no longer 
requiring backup copies of invoices, receipts, or payroll documents to be submitted with the Statement of 
Funding and Expenditures. Receipts will only be requested by the 911 Program if needed. 

In 2021-22, the 911 Grant Program application process was streamlined for efficiency and reduced red tape 
for public safety answering points. The ministry will continue to collaborate with stakeholders with the goal 
of enhancing the application and reporting process. The new program application – completed in November 
2021 – resulted in a slight decrease in program administrative expenses. 

Enhancing 911 

The Alberta 911 Program was established through the Emergency 911 Act to promote and enhance public 
safety by supporting 911 centres as they enhance their existing capabilities. In 2020-21, progress was made 
toward enhancing 911 access in underserved communities.  

Some geographic areas of Alberta remain without direct 911 service, where a 911 call will go through a third-
party operator before being connected to the appropriate public safety answering point. A direct 911 service 
will allow 911 calls to be processed faster and first responders to provide assistance more promptly. To 
successfully establish a 911 service in a community, a proper addressing format for specifying the location of 
a 911 call and installation of street and building signage is required. The ministry engaged with five 
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underserved communities in the fall 2021 and winter 2022, with one community anticipating completing the 
process of establishing a 911 service in spring 2022. 

Alberta 911 Standards 

The Alberta 911 Standards were developed through collaboration between representatives of Alberta 911 
stakeholders and the Alberta 911 Program. Version 2.0 of the Alberta 911 Standards came into force on 
January 27, 2021, to ensure public safety answering points are complying with the Canadian Radio-
Television Telecommunications Commission’s mandated changes for Next Generation 911. Due to the 
COVID-19 public health measures, virtual site-visit audits were completed for 10 primary public safety 
answering points. The Alberta 911 Program worked efficiently in returning completed audit reports, on 
average, eight days after the site visit. This is significantly faster than the eight weeks timeline required in the 
standards. Although virtual site visits were conducted efficiently, the preferred method is still in-person, as 
facility and technology standards can be more effectively audited.     

Regular revisions are required to keep the standards aligned with current operational changes of the rapidly 
evolving technology. Version 2.0 provided amendments to the standards that included:  

• updates to the public safety answering points’ transition to Next Generation 911 timelines;  

• the inclusion of secondary public safety answering points; and  

• how 911 calls should be evaluated in an agency and potentially co-evaluated between agencies.  

Alberta First Responders Radio Communications System 

The Alberta First Responders Radio Communications System is a province-wide two-way emergency 
response radio network for first responders in municipal, provincial, federal, and First Nations agencies. The 
system provides these agencies with a secure and common radio network to communicate with one another 
during large-scale incidents and regular operations. Continuous improvements, maintenance, and upgrades 
to the system increase the system capacity, resiliency, and operability and ensure a reliable and secure public-
safety radio network for Alberta’s first responders and Albertans in distress.  

In 2020-22, network upgrades were completed to improve system 
resiliency and performance, including modernization, stability, and 
technical expansion of network capability. The ministry continues to 
manage the communications system to ensure it remains a reliable 
communication service.  

In 2021-22, the Alberta First Responders Radio Communications 
System subscriber units on the network grew by approximately 2,100, with more than 39,000 subscribers. 
There are 167 agencies on the system, up from 154 the previous year. The system’s capital costs are 
approximately $2.34 million, with annual staffing costs of around $3.2 million. The ministry is working with 
internal stakeholders to develop a long-term upgrade schedule and maintenance forecast to provide a better 
financial picture of the overall needs of the system. The schedule, once completed, will help ensure the 
system is properly established and maintained to meet the demands of future emergencies. 

Coverage Gaps and Maintenance/Channel Upgrades 

System coverage and capacity are essential to the dependability and success of the Alberta First Responders 
Radio Communications System. The ministry increased coverage and capacity in the 2021-22 fiscal year by 
completing the following: 

• site upgrades to increase capacity in Jasper National Park on Whistler Mountain summit, the Hamlet of 
Zama City, the towns of Fort Smith and Banff, and the City of St. Albert – costing $ 361,597. 

There are three new tower 
sites in progress, bringing the 
total to 339, including two Sites 
on Wheels by the end of 2023. 
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• installing a new four-channel site to improve coverage in the Waterton Lakes National Park area. The 
poor coverage in and around the Waterton Lakes area was realized during the 2017 Kenow fire that 
came close to the hamlet of Waterton Lakes. To address the issue, the ministry worked with 
stakeholders and the federal government to successfully improve coverage; 

• upgrades to the mountain top repeater sites, including new switches and routers; 

• more than 16 contract lease renewals for tower use; 

• security inspections of 10 sites and four security camera installations; and 

• bringing 13 new agencies on board. 

The ministry continues to work with first responders and stakeholders to analyze coverage gaps across the 
province and identify sites and areas that require enhancements to improve the overall system performance. 
The information gathered will inform recommendations to be brought forward during 2022-23. 

Performance Measure 4.c: Percentage grade of service maintained by the Alberta First Responders 
Radio Communications System, which provides public safety grade land mobile radio 
communications to first responders throughout Alberta for both day-to-day operations and 
emergencies. 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 2018-19  2019-20  2020-21 

95.5% 98.9% 98.4% 97.0% 98.6% 

 

This performance measure is designed to demonstrate the ministry’s achievements in ensuring first 
responders’ communications are emergency ready and allows first responders from other provinces and 
countries the flexibility of interoperable communications with Alberta’s first responders in a mutual aid 
emergency. 

With the Alberta First Responders Radio Communications System, Alberta communities are better equipped 
to respond to emergencies and disasters with confidence in their communications. The ability to support and 
maintain radio communications in all situations is an appropriate measure of public safety grade radio 
communications readiness across the province. 

The 2021-22 results of 98.6 per cent exceeded the target of 97 per cent by 1.6 percentage points. The results 
of 98.6 per cent mean that the grade of service is 1.4 per cent, which is the probability of delayed access due 
to the unavailability of radio channels to support the call.  

The variance from the target is not greater than the three per cent materiality threshold, so the result is 
within the expected range for this measure. The result is also an increase of 0.2 percent from the previous 
year with results of 98.4 per cent. The actuals for the past three years have been consistent with all three 
results exceeding the target. The Alberta First Responders Radio Communications System can thus provide 
public safety grade land mobile radio communications to first responders throughout Alberta for day-to-day 
operations and emergencies.  
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Public Alerting 

Since its inception in 1992, Alberta’s emergency public warning system has evolved to keep up with 
changing technology and the needs of Albertans. The system is used to warn the public about emerging 
situations that threaten life and property and advise the public about recommended precautions and actions. 
In 2011, the system was updated and renamed as the Alberta Emergency Alert system. A mobile application 
was implemented as a new alerting medium and was released in 2014, allowing the public to receive 
potentially lifesaving notifications on their handheld devices. In 2018, Alberta Emergency Alert was 
enhanced with wireless public alerting, which distributes emergency messages to compatible mobile phones 
without requiring a downloaded app or service enrolment. The wireless public alerting feature extends the 
reach of public alerts with notifications on various mediums, such as radio and television broadcasts, 
websites, and electronic billboards. 

In the 2021, 36 alerts were issued in the following categories, 12 of 
which were critical and broadcast through the wireless public alert 
and related to: 

• police emergency (1);  

• public health emergency (3);  

• severe thunderstorm (1);  

• tornado (3); and 

• wildfire (4). 

The number of critical alerts issued increased by one per cent from the previous year; however, there were 
22 per cent fewer total alerts issued by emergency management stakeholders, down from 46 alerts in 2020. 
In addition, Alberta participated in two national test alerts, which were successfully issued and broadcast 
through a wireless public alert. Alberta’s Personal Preparedness Program link was added within the body of 
alert messages to let Albertans know about the various tools and resources the ministry has developed.  

The mobile application reached 454,449 registered users at the end of 2021, a 15 per cent increase from the 
previous year. The mobile app is available on two platforms, iOS and Android, and continues to maintain an 
average star rating of 4.45 from the public ratings submitted by the end of 2021. The end-user ratings are 
used to gather client feedback, enable continuous improvements for the mobile app, and ensure it fits 
Albertans’ needs. 

The Alberta Emergency Alert system allows system users in municipalities the ability to issue alerts on behalf 
of their stakeholders when conditions and circumstances require it. The ministry’s Authorized User Training 
Program is intended to ensure system users are aware of how to properly use the Alberta Emergency Alert 
system and how to create effective alert messages. However, with the COVID-19 public health restrictions 
on gatherings, this training has been on hold since March 17, 2020, when the State of Public Health 
Emergency was first declared in Alberta. The absence of training required the Alberta Emergency Alert 

warning notification coordinators to provide support to many 
stakeholders around issuing emergency alerts.  

The ministry co-chairs the Public Alerting Awareness Working 
Group, which is a sub-group of the Senior Officials Responsible for 
Emergency Management committee. The working group provides 
direct leadership and support to collaboration and coordination of 

public safety across Canada, and is dedicated to advancing public alerting across the country. The ministry is 
working with the federal government and other jurisdictions to address public alerting in the context of the 

There are 30 mountain top 
repeater sites throughout the 
Rocky Mountains and north-
western Alberta and are only 
accessible by helicopter. The 
highest mountain top repeater 
is Mount Hector with an 
elevation of 3,296 metres. 

In 2021, Alberta Emergency 
Alert’s Twitter and Facebook 
followers increased to 269,400 
(from 254,214 in 2020). 
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increase in the number and severity of emergency events and the associated dangers. The ministry also 
collaborated with the Ministry of Justice and Solicitor General to develop an interim policy regarding police-
initiated public alerts for active assailants and shooters. The RCMP successfully issued Alberta’s first police 
emergency alert on June 5, 2021.  

Planning, Training, and Outreach 

Government of Alberta Business Continuity Plan 

As mandated by the Government Emergency Management Regulation, all Government of Alberta 
departments are required to develop and maintain a business continuity plan for managing essential services 
and operations during business disruptions. When a significant event disrupts the provision of essential 
services to Albertans, the Government of Alberta will execute the Government of Alberta’s plan, which 
outlines the framework by which the government manages the continuity of its essential services during 
business disruptions. Coordinated through Municipal Affairs, individual departments will implement 
individual business continuity plans, as required, to ensure the continuation of critical and vital services that 
are essential for the health and safety of all Albertans. Under legislation and in conjunction with industry 
best practices, Government of Alberta departments maintain comprehensive business continuity 
management programs to address the known and unknown risks that may adversely affect Albertans.  

In 2021-22, the ministry consulted with departmental business continuity teams and conducted five 
departmental business continuity plan reviews. The ministry continues to support and guide departments in 
their biannual review of plans, ensuring they are up-to-date so essential services can be maintained or 
recovered during an emergency. 

Emergency Management Exercise  

Under the Alberta Emergency Plan, the ministry is responsible for coordinating an annual emergency 
management exercise across the Government of Alberta to practice emergency management plans. The 
annual emergency management exercise allows staff and key partners to practice and prepare for their roles 
during emergencies. The 2022 exercise on March 23 and 24 brought partners back into a functional exercise, 
designed to practice, assess, and develop Provincial Operations Centre processes and procedures that are key 
to ensuring the Government of Alberta is prepared to support and respond to provincial disasters and 
emergencies. The two-day exercise focused on the provincial response to an industrial hazard. Feedback 
from participants will be analyzed to develop key takeaways on what worked well and areas for 
improvement.  

Emergency Management Training  

The ministry delivers various emergency management training courses to develop Albertans’ understanding 
of emergency management and the essential role they play in a disaster. The primary audience for the 
courses includes municipal elected officials, Metis Settlement officials, improvement district councillors, 
Special Areas Board members, directors of emergency management, and others with assigned duties in their 
community emergency plans. Online and in-person courses help to fulfil the training requirements for 
individuals in emergency management roles under the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation. 
In 2021-22, a priority was to deliver the municipal/local elected officials course to municipalities and Metis 
Settlements to ensure they meet the 90-day requirement in the Local Authority Emergency Management 
Regulation. The training delivery method, virtual or in person, was based on the numbers allowed under the 
COVID-19 public health measures; this has created a backlog of courses requiring in-person delivery, such 
as the Incident Command System 300 course, which is more complex than other courses offered.  

Training courses previously offered in person and now done virtually come with challenges around 
providing a well-rounded training experience. Online participants lack the visual, physical, and nonverbal 
cues, which limits the ability to establish and strengthen relationships among participants. In addition, 
participants from rural communities may not gain the same experience as other participants due to, in some 
cases, weaker internet connections. The ministry is working to address the obstacles associated with virtual 
training and employ alternative training delivery methods to ensure communities are receiving training 
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before the 2022 hazard season. Further, in 2021-22, as part of the government’s red tape reduction efforts, 
the ministry removed a number of legacy training documents and directives from the inventory. 

Eligible participants can enrol for emergency management online training courses (including Basic 
Emergency Management, Scribing for Emergency Management, and Incident Comment System 100) at 
anytime. The courses continue to help build community capacity and improve resilience.  

While Alberta has the majority of Incident Command System instructors in Canada (approximately 299), a 
number of these certified instructors have been inactive. The number of active instructors is 238, and the 
ministry identified inactive Incident Command System instructors and, where appropriate, removed them 
from the provincial roster. Throughout 2021-22, the ministry continued to demonstrate agility, supporting a 
range of audiences in gaining access to the Learning Management System and the various online emergency 
management offerings. Ministry staff worked with partners to ensure virtual delivery of emergency 
management training was effective and capable of attaining the required standard for knowledge transfer and 
quality outcomes.   

Incident Command System Canada is now under the umbrella of the Canadian Interagency Forest Fire 
Centre and a new, tiered model for membership for provincial authorities having jurisdiction, and other 
members, has been created, along with renewed terms of reference and work plans.  

Incident Action Plan Workshop 

An incident action plan workshop aimed at municipal emergency management staff is under development. 
The workshop will be an advanced training course that fills in knowledge gaps in Incident Command System 
training after the completion of Incident Command System 300, and allows concept application of material 
learned. The workshop is expected to go through two deliveries, the alpha and beta, to determine if the 
training course is effective and meets the training objectives. After each delivery, the training course will be 
evaluated and refined before the finalized course is available in 2022.  

Emergency Preparedness Week  

Building awareness and understanding of disaster risks faced by Albertans is an important part of emergency 
preparedness. It helps Albertans know what to prepare for and the actions they can take to reduce their risk. 
In extreme situations, being prepared can save lives. More often though, when the people impacted by 
disruption are prepared, it helps them manage the situation more easily and reduces the strain on 
municipalities and the province. This frees up municipal and provincial resources so they can focus efforts 
on emergency response.  
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The annual Emergency Preparedness Week campaign, which is conducted nationally, encourages public 
resiliency to disasters and emergencies. Municipal Affairs, on behalf of the Government of Alberta, 
coordinated the one-week campaign from May 2 to 8, 2021. The campaign is a catalyst for promoting year-
round preparedness by bringing community leaders together to champion preparedness at the local level and 
increasing risk and preparedness literacy so Albertans can better navigate disruptions.  

The planning efforts for Emergency Preparedness Week in May 2021 resulted in new communication tools 
to get preparedness messages out to the public, including: 

• an Emergency Preparedness Week web page; 

• a presentation to the International Association of Emergency Managers, which was featured on the 
Emergency Preparedness in Canada podcast; 

• daily preparedness messages in reports to stakeholders and partners; and  

• a contest encouraging preparedness aimed at Alberta Public Service staff. 

In May 2021, the ministry saw 9,393 webpage visits, 12,583 page views, and 236 downloads of the 
Emergency Preparedness Week toolkit. Emerging issues, such as the Parkland County Wildfire and the 
announcement of public health measures such as the expanded COVID-19 vaccination roll, resulted in 

Incident Command System Courses and Related Training Completed  

(April 1, 2021 - March 31, 2022) 
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fewer participating communities. However, with the new communication tools, the website saw traffic 
increase by 76 per cent.  

Be Prepared Program 

Municipal Affairs supports building resilience through the Be Prepared program, building strategic 
partnerships, and public education that focuses on the responsibilities of Albertans before and during 
disasters and emergencies.   

The goal of the program is to build individual and community resilience. In partnership with subject matter 
experts, material about being prepared for emergencies and disasters has been translated into eight 
languages. The Be Prepared program includes: 

• 15 web pages on Alberta.ca that include information on the most prevalent hazards in Alberta and 
resources to help make an emergency plan, gather supplies, prepare pets, farm animals, and livestock; 

• public education materials including printable QR code posters, fact sheets, infographics, and 
preparedness toolkits to help leaders champion the message; and 

• 19 videos in the Get Prepared: Emergency 60 Second Emergency Tips series. 

Two new initiatives offered in 2021-22 were added to the Alberta Emergency Alerts app that displays links 
to preparedness information when alerts are issued; and weekly preparedness messaging was incorporated 
into the daily situation reports sent to emergency management stakeholders and partners. This multi-channel 
strategy has boosted the reach of preparedness messaging, with a 166 per cent increase in Be Prepared 
website visits (140,659 visits in 2021-22 compared to 52,912 visits in 2020-21).  

Building New Partnerships 

Fostering relationships and collaborating with emergency management communities builds greater public 
education and risk awareness capacity. Through virtual engagement activities with communities, capacity has 
been built by identifying preparedness champions and subject matter experts to contribute to the 
Government of Alberta’s Be Prepared program. The program is structured to allow local leaders to modify 
the messaging to meet the unique needs of their communities. The Be Prepared program can be relied on 
entirely in the absence of local preparedness programming, or communities can choose to use program 
components and adjust the messaging for a local audience. In 2021-22, the number of organizations 
(including community governments) that linked to the Be Prepared program on their website increased from 
103 to 305 (196 per cent), expanding the reach of Municipal Affairs’ preparedness information and an 
indicator that communities see value in the program.  

In 2021-22, a series of mini-surveys and polls were issued to emergency management, social services, and 
communications staff to understand what is being done to build individual resilience, and to identify 
opportunities for improvement. There were 767 individual responses, including 530 unique respondents, to 
the survey. The ministry continued to engage with community leaders who are interested in educating their 
community members in becoming more prepared through routine and consistent messaging in order to 
encourage year-round resilience.  

Personal Preparedness Survey of Albertans 

Municipal Affairs conducts research to help individuals and communities prepare for disasters. In 2021-22, 
the ministry collaborated with stakeholders and gained approval to conduct the first preparedness survey of 
Albertans in order to identify areas where the program might be enhanced. A third-party vendor conducted 
the survey by reaching out to 1,529 Albertans in May 2021 to measure the degree to which Albertans are 
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prepared, to track awareness, and determine the attitudes and behaviours that might influence people to take 
preparedness steps. The survey also asked about the impacts of COVID-19 on preparedness. 

 

Personal Preparedness Survey Results (based on a survey of 1,529 Albertans)  

The findings of the survey will be used to encourage community leaders across Alberta to take a part in 
improving preparedness and knowledge levels. This first survey established an individual preparedness 
baseline and will be a point of comparison for future surveys. Planned surveys for the next three years will 
allow the ministry to assess if the strategies developed to improve personal preparedness are successful and 
identify opportunities for improvement. 

  

10%

61%

25%

54%

41%

38%

0 20 40 60 80 100

Have a neighbourhood contact list

Receive public alerts and emergency
messages

Have an emergency kit

Have proper insurance

Feel unprepared

Have learned about the risks in their
community



 

Results Analysis 

 

 

102                                                                                                                                Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2021-22 

Land and Property Rights Tribunal: Albertans receive fair, timely, and well-
reasoned decisions from the Land and Property Rights Tribunal 

When government decisions impact the rights of citizens or where there is conflict between the competing 
interests of individuals, industry, or municipalities, the Land and Property Rights Tribunal provides 
Albertans with fair, timely, and well-reasoned decisions on a variety of matters, including land-use planning, 
assessment, development, and compensation disputes involving surface rights and expropriation. The 
overriding consideration and true measure of the success of the tribunal is that parties who appear before it 
feel that win or lose, they have been treated fairly. The tribunal’s key objectives include: 

• providing efficient, fair, and impartial appeals and advisory processes; 

• assisting parties with resolving their disputes by providing effective alternative dispute resolution and 
mediation services; 

• providing certification training and support to municipal Assessment Review Boards and Subdivision 
and Development Appeal Boards; and 

• strengthening the rights of landowners and operators to fair and timely decisions on surface rights 
matters. 

All statistical information provided regarding the work of the Land and Property Rights Tribunal is based on 
a fiscal year, with the exception of applications received for surface rights and expropriation matters.  

As an amalgamated entity, the tribunal retains the authority formerly held by the Municipal Government 
Board, Surface Rights Board, Land Compensation Board, and New Home Buyer Protection Board, and is 
able to provide a more efficient structure that saves money and eliminates red tape by reducing the number 
of agencies, boards, and commissions across the Government of Alberta. 

Following a government-wide review, direction was given to amalgamate the four quasi-judicial boards based 
on their similar mandates and operations. The administrative amalgamation was completed in 2017, and 
legislation formally amalgamating the four boards was passed in fall of 2020, with an in-force date of June 2, 
2021. The new Land and Property Rights Tribunal has the same jurisdiction and responsibilities held by each 
individual board.   

From a cost perspective, the amalgamation has generated considerable savings for Albertans and will 
continue to do so in the years to come. Having a single chair and eliminating the vice-chair roles from the 
previous boards has resulted in annual saving of approximately $500,000. Other savings have resulted from 
centralizing administrative support functions and eliminating duplication of roles by reassigning staff to 
other areas of need. Further, centralizing member training and aligning appointment terms has saved time 
and taxpayer dollars.   

From a workload perspective, the amalgamation has allowed greater flexibility when assigning members, 
which has improved the timelines for decisions and allowed members to be assigned to where they are most 
needed so that the tribunal can rapidly adapt to changing workloads and priorities.  

As an example, the tribunal has taken on responsibility for training and hearings for subdivision and 
development appeals without increasing staff numbers or the number of tribunal members.  

Increasing workloads in terms of volume and complexity puts greater pressure on the tribunal to move to a 
more specialized practice and provide cross-training for members.  
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Annexations 

In Alberta, the annexation process allows a municipality to acquire land for future development, to bring its 
municipal infrastructure in its boundary or to alter its borders to address some type of physical change to the 
landscape. This may have an impact on the rights of individual property owners and the rights and duties of 
the neighbouring municipalities or local authorities. While Cabinet is the ultimate decision-maker on whether 
an annexation is approved, the tribunal acts in an advisory capacity by making a recommendation to Cabinet 
on whether an annexation should proceed. Persons and municipalities affected by a proposed annexation 
have the right to voice their concerns prior to the tribunal making a recommendation.  

Annexations are usually high-profile hearings, and they often involve a significant intermunicipal 
compensation and impact the assessment, taxation, and land use of hundreds of properties for decades.  

While transferring land between jurisdictions can create conflict – for municipalities, other local authorities, 
the affected landowners, and the public – more than 72 per cent of all annexations approved in Alberta since 
1995 have been amicable. Only three per cent of all annexations processed by the tribunal were the result of 
municipalities not being able to reach agreement on the terms of the annexation.  

Annexation Orders in Council, 1995 to April 2022 

 

The trend of intermunicipal consultation and cooperation continued in 2021-2022, notwithstanding one high 
profile hearing involving the City of Lloydminster and neighbouring municipalities located in Alberta and 
Saskatchewan. 

In 2021-22, there were two contested annexations that required a public hearing. One hearing involving the 
City of Lloydminster, required two days for the preliminary hearing and eight days for the merit hearing. 
Given the complexity and length of this hearing, which involved 3,792 acres of land, this matter was heard 
by a five-member panel. On January 26, 2022, the Lieutenant-Governor in Council approved the 
annexation, following the tribunal’s recommendation.  

The other annexation hearing involved 3,850 acres of land and required one hearing day. In this case, the 
municipalities were able to reach an agreement and the only concerns brought forward were from affected 
landowners and the public.  
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Currently, 19 municipalities have filed notices of intent to annex with the tribunal and are in the process of 
developing annexation applications. Following public consultation, municipalities can submit an annexation 
report to the tribunal, which can take months, or even years depending on the amount of land requested, the 
number of affected landowners, and other factors. 

While the tribunal has had great success in transitioning from in-person to virtual hearings as a result of 
COVID-19 public health measures, this was particularly challenging in the context of annexation hearings. 
Members of the public are entitled to be heard and there is no requirement for advance notice of 
participation. Notwithstanding this, tribunal staff were able to implement remote video technology to 
conduct lengthy and complex virtual hearings.  

Subdivision and Development Appeals  

Decisions by local municipal authorities as to whether to approve a subdivision or development can limit the 
rights of an individual property owner to do as they choose on their own land. When a proposed subdivision 
or development will have an impact beyond the immediate community, it is considered to be of provincial 
interest. An appeal of a subdivision or development permit refusal with a provincial interest must be filed 
with the tribunal rather than a local authority.  

The tribunal hears subdivision appeals where the land is the subject of a licence, permit, or approval from a 
provincial regulator or the Minister of Environment and Parks, within the Green Area, or is a prescribed 
distance from:  

• highways;  

• bodies of water;  

• historical sites;  

• wastewater management facilities; and 

• landfills.  

The tribunal hears development appeals where the land is the subject of a licence, permit, or approval by a 
provincial regulator or the Minister of Environment and Parks. An example is large solar and wind farm 
developments valued at millions of dollars. Development appeals represent a new area of jurisdiction for the 
tribunal, following amendments to the Municipal Government Act in 2020.  

Balancing the rights of the landowners with the potential for public harm is critical, as each registered 
subdivision or development results in a permanent change in a community in terms of land use and 
development. Without appropriate approvals, the actions of one landowner can have a detrimental effect on 
the rights of neighbouring owners to use and enjoy their properties. For example, a new rural residential 
development may not be appropriate next to a confined feeding operation, heavy industrial development, 
landfill, or sour gas well.  

The tribunal has been called upon to decide matters that will have precedential impact. For example, a recent 
decision more than 90 pages in length, dealt with development on a flood plain. As appeals of tribunal 
decisions are dealt with in the Provincial Court of Appeal – a process which takes years – it is in all the 
parties’ interest that the decisions of the tribunal are sound and well-supported by the facts and the law.  

While the number of subdivision appeals has remained relatively constant, the number of appeals that 
proceed to hearing and the complexity of those matters in terms of the number of parties involved has 
changed. Of the 40 subdivision appeals filed in 2020, 31 proceeded to a hearing, which required the tribunal 
to provide notice to 1,091 affected parties. In 2021-22, all of the 41 subdivision appeals filed proceeded to a 
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hearing which required that notice be provided to 1,467 affected parties. With this increase in the number of 
parties, the tribunal now records those parties who attend to help determine the more appropriate virtual 
meeting software to use at future hearings when many people are impacted and receive notice. In 2021, there 
were 229 parties who actively participated in the hearings. 

In the tribunal’s first year of hearing development appeals, 32 development appeals were filed. All these 
appeals proceeded to a hearing, representing 49 days of hearings. Notice was provided to 1,379 affected 
parties, with 421 parties participating in the hearings. 

Number of Appeals Filed    Number of Affected Parties 

 

The deadline for issuing decisions on subdivision and development appeals is 15 days from the conclusion 
of the hearing. As these appeals may involve millions of dollars and hundreds of parties, impact local 
communities for decades to come, and are only appealable to the Court of Appeal, legislation allows the 
tribunal to extend this deadline when necessary. The tribunal strives to meet the legislated deadline in all 
cases, understanding that delays may result in large development projects being cancelled or deferred. In all 
but the most complex decisions, the tribunal has met this deadline. 

The switch to virtual hearings, although precipitated by the COVID-19 pandemic, has allowed the tribunal 
to accommodate more parties and adapt to a higher volume of hearings. This helps ensure decisions are 
issued on a timely basis.  

The new development appeal jurisdiction required the tribunal to create and provide specialized training 
quickly for members undertaking this new work.  

Other Land Planning and Development Disputes 

Under Section 690 of the Municipal Government Act, when a municipality is of the opinion that a land-use 
bylaw adopted by an adjacent municipality has, or may have, a detrimental effect on it, it can file an appeal 
with the tribunal to have the municipality repeal or amend the disputed bylaw. For example, a major 
development in one municipality might put pressure on the existing transportation infrastructure of the 
neighbouring municipality. 

Traditionally, most municipalities have been able to reach agreements so there were no intermunicipal 
disputes in 2019 or 2020. However, in 2021-22, there were two intermunicipal disputes: one has been 
resolved, and the other will proceed to hearing in 2022.  

Under Section 619 of the Municipal Government Act, when a municipality does not approve an application for 
a statutory plan amendment or land-use bylaw, and the application is consistent with a licence, permit, or 
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approval of a provincial regulator such as the Alberta Energy Regulator, an appeal can be filed with the 
tribunal. These appeals are rare but of great importance when they are heard, as even a single appeal can 
affect hundreds and potentially thousands of landowners, and often involve issues of great complexity.  

In 2021-22, two Section 619 applications were filed with the tribunal and these matters will be heard 
consecutively. In addition to eight days of preliminary hearings in 2021, a very lengthy five-week hearing has 
been scheduled to hear the merits of these appeals in spring of 2022.  

Finally, under Section 635 of the Municipal Government Act, adjacent municipalities are required to establish 
intermunicipal development plans. If they are unable to come to an agreement, the minister must refer the 
matter to the tribunal for a recommendation. The tribunal received one such referral from the minister in 
2021. As this is a new jurisdictional area for the tribunal, additional training had to be developed and 
provided to members.  

Designated Industrial Property Assessment 

Assessment of properties under the definition of designated industrial property includes major plants under 
the auspices of the Alberta Energy Regulator, Alberta Utilities Commission, and the National Energy Board. 
Linear properties such as pipelines, railways, and electric power systems are also included.  

Residential and commercial properties use comparative market value as a way to approximate value. For 
major industrial facilities, which are not bought and sold on a regular basis, a fairer measure of value is 
captured by the value of the product being produced. To ensure some predictability for industry, designated 
industrial properties are assessed based on strict formulas established under legislation and binding 
ministerial guidelines.  

The provincial assessor is responsible for making the original assessment and property owners have the right 
to appeal to the tribunal. Accordingly, the Minister of Municipal Affairs is a party to the proceedings.  

The tax revenue from these major industrial facilities may represent the majority of income for many 
municipalities.  

In the period from 2017 to 2019, of the 47 appeals filed, none proceeded to hearing. However, in the 2020-
21 fiscal year, there were 27 appeals filed that represented approximately $15 billion in assessed value and 
required 28 hearing days, including what may be the longest virtual hearing in Canada – 14 days – at the 
time. 

In 2021-22, there were 19 appeals filed representing approximately $16.5 billion in assessed value, and seven 
hearing days.  

The legislation requires that tribunal members who do this work take specialized training and be certified 
every three years. A limited number of members have this accreditation, and nearly all are scheduled for re-
certification training in the 2022-23 fiscal year.  

Composite Assessment Review 

Sharing the tax burden equitably requires an assessment of the value of property. Property owners do not 
want to pay more than their fair share; however, municipalities rely upon tax revenue to support the services 
they provide to all residents.  

For many years, property owners who wanted to challenge their annual assessment had to struggle through 
two levels of appeal: first to the local assessment review board, and second, to the former Municipal 
Government Board. Amendments to the Municipal Government Act in 2014 created a single board. While 
residential assessment appeals are heard by three municipally appointed members, appeals for commercial 
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and multi-residential properties are heard by a panel of two local members with a provincially appointed 
member of the tribunal as the presiding officer.   

Matters heard by the Composite Appeal Review Board routinely determine the value of multimillion-dollar 
properties such as apartments, hotels, and strip malls and for facilities such as major office towers and 
shopping malls, the value is measured in the billions of dollars.  

In 2021-22, the tribunal provided presiding officers for more than 925 days of hearings across the province.   

While the tribunal is required to assign members to all scheduled hearings, the settlement rate will directly 
impact the number of hearings that proceed. If the parties settle prior to a scheduled hearing, the hearing 
will be cancelled. In Edmonton the settlement rate remains relatively constant – around 45-50 per cent. In 
Calgary, as a result of factors beyond the control of the local assessment review board, the settlement rate 
reached almost 90 per cent in 2021. Settlements between the parties are the best-case scenario, as it allows 
them to resolve matters on their own terms and eliminates the requirement for a hearing, saving them time 
and money. 

The challenge for the tribunal is that members must still be assigned and will not be available for other 
tribunal work. In response, the tribunal has cross-trained a number of members so that they can handle 
written hearings under the Surface Rights Act as a backstop when assessment hearings are settled.   

Surface Rights 

Under common law, landowners and occupants of land had limited powers, as mineral owners had the 
unimpeded right to enter onto farm property even if the land was destroyed or disturbed. To redress this 
inequity, the Government of Alberta passed legislation giving landowners and occupants the right to 
compensation for the loss of their land, while providing operators with a process that ensures their right to 
enter the land. The tribunal (formerly the Surface Rights Board), is the body that adjudicates these disputes. 
Proceedings are not appeals; they are original hearings to determine compensation for the interference and 
or damage caused by operators.  

Given the legitimate but often competing interests of landowners versus operators, these are highly 
contentious disputes. The tribunal provides a faster, less expensive, and more accessible forum to decide 
these issues than the courts.   

Although there is a wide range in the complexity of the matters that the tribunal deals with, all decisions 
must be in writing. Hearings range from written proceedings before a single tribunal member to multi-week 
in-person/virtual proceedings before a five-member panel.  

In 2021, the tribunal received 7,446 surface rights applications, an increase of 41 per cent from 2020; 
conducted 6,591 hearings, both written and virtual, an increase of 19 per cent from 2020; and issued 6,555 
decisions and/or orders, up 19 per cent from 2020. 

The exponential increase in applications resulting from low commodity prices beginning in 2016 has posed 
the tribunal’s greatest challenge. The two areas where the pressure has been most keenly felt is recovery of 
compensation applications filed by landowners seeking relief when operators fail to pay and rate review 
applications filed by operators seeking to reduce annual compensation payments.  

The charts below demonstrate the increase in the number of recovery of compensation applications received 
under Section 36 of the Surface Rights Act and the total compensation directed to landowners by the tribunal 
from 2015 to 2021.   
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Recovery of Compensation Applications Received (Section 36 of the Surface Rights Act) 

 

Recovery of Compensation Amounts Directed for Payment (Section 36 of the Surface Rights Act) 

 

 

In 2021-22, the tribunal made significant progress on the backlog of routine, non-complex recovery of 
compensation applications, reducing 6,000 unprocessed routing applications in August of 2020, to 79 
applications by July 2021. This built on the success in 2020, when the tribunal eliminated the backlog in 
unacknowledged applications six weeks earlier than anticipated and the backlog in repeat applications, six 
months earlier than promised. These achievements were realized after receiving additional funding in the 
2020-21 and 2021-22 fiscal years to recruit additional staff and members coupled with streamlining internal 
processes and application forms. The tribunal understands the importance of effectively managing the high 
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volume of applications it receives while recognizing that backlogs can create extended timelines for issuing, 
which delays compensation to landowners. 

With the elimination of the backlog on routine files, the tribunal has been able to shift resources to handle 
the backlog in complex applications. These files are complex either because of a lack of evidence provided 
by the landowners or an objection filed by the operator. These complex applications require a considerable 
investment in time and human resources, and the backlog for these files rose as high as 1,200 in August 
2021. However, following a reallocation of resources to reviewing complex applications, the tribunal has 
been able to reduce the backlog to approximately 400 files. 

In 2021, the tribunal received 487 applications for a rate review under Section 27 of the Surface Rights Act, 
300 of which were filed by operators. This compares to 345 applications received in 2020 and 256 in 2019.   

Another area that has seen a substantial increase in applications are requests for reconsideration under 
Section 29 of the Surface Rights Act where the tribunal is asked to effectively reconsider its own decisions. In 
2021, there were 149 such applications filed, which represented a large increase from 2020 and 2019 when 
22 and 26 applications were received respectively. Despite the large application volumes, the backlog in 
requests for reconsideration, which rose to as high as 80 outstanding files in August of 2021, has been 
eliminated. 

In previous years, the tribunal has been criticized for the amount of time its decisions took to be issued. To 
address this, tribunal members have established targets to issue a routine decision within 90 days and 
complex decisions within 120 days. For precedent-setting applications, there are no target timelines; 
however, the panel hearing the matter may determine its own target. 

On the information technology front, enhancement of the Surface Rights E-filing Portal have modernized 
the tribunal’s processes by allowing parties to submit applications online and monitor their application 
status. The tribunal is also implementing a new robotic process automation software, scheduled for spring 
2022. Automating the application intake process will free up staff from the labour-intensive process of 
manual data entry, allowing them to address other areas of need. Plans are underway to expand the 
capabilities to include processing incoming emails from the tribunal’s recovery of compensation email 
account, which receives approximately 80 emails daily.  

Managing the backlog of complex recovery of compensation applications continues to be an issue for the 
tribunal members. However, the anticipated appointment of 20 new members in spring 2022, and the 
rigorous internal training program, will greatly assist rising to this challenge. 

Expropriation 

Expropriation is defined as the compulsory acquisition of land and property by the Crown. In a leading case 
on expropriation, it was observed that it nearly always results in a traumatic experience for affected property 
owners. The premise of the legislation is to make the expropriated owner economically whole, which may 
result in compensation for matters beyond the market value of the property, such as business disturbance 
and relocation costs.  

Where the expropriating authority is an agency other than the Government of Alberta or a municipality – 
such as an irrigation district, wastewater commission, or utility company – the tribunal decides whether the 
expropriation should proceed. If there is an objection, the tribunal will, after conducting an inquiry and 
receiving evidence, provide a written report as to whether the expropriation is fair, sound, and reasonably 
necessary to achieve the objectives of the expropriating authority.   

In all cases, if the parties cannot agree on compensation, the tribunal will decide based on a public hearing 
and the evidence presented by the parties. There is no limit on the amount of compensation claimed and 
multimillion-dollar claims are not unusual when business interests are concerned. The legislation also allows 
for recovery of reasonable legal and appraisal costs.  
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Decisions by the tribunal are final unless overturned by the Court of Appeal.  

The volume of work increases when there is an increase in the number of infrastructure projects such as the 
building of roads, light-rail transit, flood mitigation and irrigation, or wastewater systems.  

In 2021, there were 25 new claims for compensation compared to 44 claims in 2020, and 11 claims in 2019. 
The 2021 applications were primarily a result of light-rail transit expansion projects in both Edmonton and 
Calgary. The total dollar value claimed with respect to 21 of 25 claims exceeded $42.7 million, compared to 
the total of $144.5 million in 2020, and $3.5 million in 2019. 

For matters that proceeded to hearing in 2021, there were four oral hearings held virtually for a total of 27 
days for claims totaling nearly $47.5 million, and five hearings by way of written submissions. 

The chart below shows the number of expropriation proceedings from 2017-2021.  

Expropriation Proceedings 

Training 

Certification Training  

Under the Municipal Government Act, clerks and members of municipal Assessment Review Boards and 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Boards across Alberta must be certified as being appropriately trained. 
The legislation also mandates recertification every three years.  

The tribunal is the sole provider of certification training for Assessment Review Boards and in 2021, these 
training sessions amounted to 53 days and involved 257 participants. An additional 40 participants registered 
for advanced training through the tribunal where no in-person training is provided. While tribunal members 
also take this training, they are a small fraction of the participants.  

In 2020, the tribunal received additional jurisdiction for providing certification training for members and 
clerks of Subdivision and Development Appeals Boards. In 2021-22, this involved 48 days of training, 
involving 321 participants from 88 different municipalities.  
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Certification Training (All Courses) 

Member Training 

Training for members of administrative 
tribunals is extremely limited and 
expensive. Although there are public 
courses available, they are typically general 
in nature and of limited assistance. The 
Land and Property Rights Tribunal, like 
the courts, has been forced to develop 
extensive in-house training for its 
members. With the assistance of members 
of the judiciary and experienced tribunal 
members, an average of 30 days of 
member training is undertaken each year in 
the form of introductory courses, 
specialized training, workshops, and 
targeted training for areas of work where 
the volume has increased suddenly. With 
amalgamation, new jurisdiction, and the 

expected appointment of 20 new members, the demand for in-house training is expected to increase in 2022. 

Performance Measure A: Percentage of parties who are satisfied or neutral regarding the tribunal’s 
adherence to rules of natural justice while adjudicating land planning, development, right of entry, 
compensation and assessment matters 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

(2020-21) 

Target 

2021-22 

(2020-21) 

Actual 

2018-19  

(2017-18) 

2019-20  

(2018-19) 

2020-21 

(2019-20) 

89% 88% 93% 88% 86% 

 

The 2021-22 measure result of 86 per cent is two percentage points below the target of 88 per cent. It is 
seven percentage points below last year’s actual of 93 per cent. 

The achieved result of 86 per cent is slightly below the target and indicates stakeholders are less satisfied 
with the tribunal’s appeal process than in the last four years. The survey focused on two general areas: 1) the 
hearing process, and 2) timeliness of the written decision. 

The tribunal scored strongest on the hearing process component of the survey. 

Parties were overwhelmingly satisfied that the tribunal acted in a courteous manner (98 per cent); they were 
provided an opportunity to present their case (94 per cent) and the hearing process was easy to understand 
(89 per cent).  Parties were generally satisfied the hearing was conducted in a timely manner (83 per cent); 
and the hearing process was fair, unbiased, and impartial (83 per cent).  

The tribunal scored weakest on the written decision component of the survey. Parties were generally 
satisfied that the written decision was issued in a timely manner (70 per cent), which is twelve per cent lower 
than the 2020-21 result of 82 per cent. However, a result of 70 per cent is a strong result compared to prior 
years. For comparison, the tribunal scored 16 per cent lower in 2018-19 with a result of 54 per cent.  
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In recent years, the tribunal has emphasized improving the timeliness of written decisions. This was 
accomplished by introducing target timelines for issuing written decisions and reallocating additional 
resources to areas experiencing high volumes of applications or appeals.  
 
The current measure and survey has been determined to be the most effective method of measuring the 
tribunal’s performance because it relies on anonymous feedback from independent third-parties who were 
directly involved and impacted by the hearing process and decision. 
 

Performance Indicator B: Percentage satisfied or neutral regarding Land and Property Rights 
Tribunal support to Municipal Composite Assessment Review Boards 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021 

(2020) 2018 

(2017)   

2019 

(2018) 

2020 

(2019)  

96% 99% 99% 92% 

 

The results show that the Composite Assessment Review Board clerks were less satisfied with the 
performance of the members assigned to their Composite Assessment Review Board hearing. 
 
The tribunal has historically achieved a high result of 99 to 100 per cent.  
 
The 2021-22 results are from a small sampling of only 13 responses therefore the decrease from the prior 
year is the result of only one clerk of 13 being unsatisfied. 
  
A negative comment received in the survey involved members requiring more training with decision-writing. 
All remaining comments were either positive or recommendations for other services.  
 
The tribunal continues to focus on the training and development of its members through workshops and 
other learning events such as monthly teleconferences for members to discuss trends and issues.  
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Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology 

Performance Measure 1.a: Regulatory requirements reduced across the ministry 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 2019-20  

Actual 

(target 5%) 

2020-21  

Actual 

(target 12%) 

11% 25% 20% 30.5% 

 

Methodology 

A baseline count of regulatory requirements in the Government of Alberta’s statutes, regulations, policies 
and forms as of May 1, 2019, was completed in February 2020. The baseline count is the benchmark used to 
measure annual reduction targets and the final one-third reduction. 

Counters followed a common count methodology and guidelines developed by Treasury Board and Finance. 
Training and ongoing guidance were provided to ensure consistency in methodology across departments and 
agencies. The methodology identifies which types of regulatory requirements are in and out of scope, as well 
as specific instructions on how to count different kinds of in-scope requirements as they appear in different 
regulatory instruments.  

As regulatory instruments are revised, added, or repealed, departments and agencies are required to update 
the count of regulatory requirements by counting and entering resulting net changes to the count of 
regulatory requirements in that instrument. 

Source 

Regulatory requirements are counted in each regulatory instrument, including statutes, regulations, policies, 
and forms. 

Regulatory items are collected and counted by each Municipal Affairs program area and agency (specifically, 
those agencies subject to the Alberta Public Agencies Governance Act) to create a baseline count of regulatory 
requirements. The collected data are entered into the Regulatory Count Tracking Database maintained by 
Treasury Board and Finance. This database is the official repository of regulatory count data. Departments 
are required to enter ongoing updates into the Regulatory Count Tracking Database as their counts change. 

Performance Measure 2.a: Percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk based on financial 
and governance risk indicators 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

(2020) 

2021-22 

Actual 

(2020) 

2018-19  

(2017) 

2019-20  

(2018) 

2020-21  

(2019) 

93% 94% 94%1 90% 95% 

Note: 1. Based on financial data submitted by 332 municipalities 
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Methodology 

The percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk is modelled by a set of calculated risk indicators 
based on information collected from:  

• audited financial statements;  

• municipal financial information returns; 

• local government election records in the Elections Database; and  

• ministerial actions tracked in the Action Request Tracking System.  

The model assesses each municipality’s risk based on 13 indicators derived from the source data for each 
municipality. Each indicator has a defined trigger level; a municipality would either trigger or not trigger each 
indicator. The outcomes of all indicators are entered into the risk model. A municipality is deemed at risk if 
it triggers one of the two critical indicators, or three or more of the 11 non-critical indicators.  

The two critical indicators are: 1) legislatively permitted ministerial interventions, and 2) audit outcomes. 

Ministerial Interventions  

Ministerial interventions are triggered if any of the legislated ministerial actions, such as appointment of an 
official administrator, settlement of intermunicipal disputes, or initiation of a viability review, occurred in the 
given calendar year, or if a municipality is part of a multiyear ministerial process, such as the minister setting 
the budget for a municipality due to a budget deficiency. This is confirmed through documentation in the 
Action Request Tracking System.  

Audit Outcome Indicators  

An audit outcome indicator is triggered if either a going concern or a denial of opinion is found in the 
municipality’s audited financial statements.  

The non-critical indicators include: 

• eight financial indicators calculated from the financial information provided by municipalities;  

• population change, based on the ministry’s annual population lists;  

• interest in municipal office, calculated from records in the Elections Database; and 

• on-time financial reporting, which is derived from the administrative tracking tables in the Municipal 
Financial Information System. 

A list of these indicators, the indicator descriptions, data sources, and calculations are detailed in a data 
dictionary.  

The percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk is the number of not-at-risk municipalities (“total 
number of municipalities included in the analysis” minus “the number of triggered municipalities”) divided 
by the total number of municipalities (included in the analysis) multiplied by 100.   
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Calculation:  
 

% = (Total Number of Municipalities – Number of Triggered Municipalities) X 100 
Total Number of Municipalities 

 

Municipalities gather and report their information on a calendar year basis so this information is not 
provided to the department until after the end of the Government of Alberta’s fiscal year, results are for the 
calendar year with a one-year delay. For example, results for 2021-22 reflect the 2020 calendar year.  

Source 

Data Collection Processes 

The 2021-22 result reflects the 2020 calendar year (January 1 to December 31, 2020). The Municipal 
Government Act requires each municipality to prepare and submit annual audited financial statements and a 
financial information return to Municipal Affairs by May 1 of each year for the previous financial (calendar) 
year. This deadline was extended to October 1, 2020, in recognition of the challenges municipalities were 
facing in spring 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. An independent auditor contracted by the 
municipality audits the financial statements. The financial statements are certified by the auditors and 
approved by the municipal council before submission to Municipal Affairs. The audit outcome indicator is 
based on the audit opinions given to the municipality by the municipality’s auditor. The audit opinion is part 
of the audited financial statements that municipalities are required to submit to the ministry annually.  

The financial information return is a standard set of year-end reports that capture detailed financial 
information for each municipality. Municipal Affairs provides a financial information return form for 
municipalities as a means to simplify data submission. The financial information return form must be 
certified by the organization’s signing authorities before the information is accepted by Municipal Affairs. 
The data from the forms is loaded into the ministry’s Municipal Financial Information System and populates 
the relevant tables in the system’s Oracle database.  

Municipal financial information returns use the Municipal Financial Information System, and data is 
gathered from the audited financial information returns received from all municipalities. The reporting 
period is a calendar year, and information is collected once a year (May to July) and reported annually.  

A set of manual and automated processes in the Municipal Financial Information System ensures the data is 
verified and validated; administrative dates are tracked; and a municipality’s financial reporting progress is 
monitored. Municipalities flagged with data anomalies receive follow-up phone calls and/or emails from 
Municipal Affairs staff, and the municipality may be asked to provide additional supporting documents 
and/or data corrections. 

The Elections Database is an online tool for municipalities to report candidate information, election results, 
and elected official information to Municipal Affairs. For each municipal election, the municipality is 
required to report the election information according to the specified timelines in the Local Authorities Election 
Act. Municipalities have the choice of entering the election information directly to the Elections Database or 
uploading the election information to the Elections Database by using pre-programmed loadable forms. The 
indicator – election candidates to positions ratio – is calculated based on the election information reported 
by the municipalities and stored in the Elections Database.   

Information is gathered every four years (for municipal general elections/summer village elections) and on 
an ongoing basis for byelections. Data is updated after every election but compiled annually (January). 

The Action Request Tracking System is an internal database that tracks formal correspondence entering and 
leaving the Government of Alberta. This database is updated on a daily basis as correspondence is received 
or ministry action is required. This review process and the outcomes are tracked using the system. If the 
minister issues a Ministerial Order or initiates a process authorized under the Municipal Government Act, an 
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approval document must be created. In addition to searching the Action Request Tracking System, the 
business unit performs a keyword search on the Ministerial Order listing document, which is maintained by 
the ministry’s Corporate Policy and Red Tape Reduction unit. If a signed approval document authorizing 
ministerial action against a municipality is found in the Action Request Tracking System or in the list 
maintained by the ministry for that year, the municipality is deemed to have triggered this indicator. 
Information on ministerial interventions is gathered from the Action Request Tracking System – specifically 
from ministerial correspondence provided to municipalities, where the minister was required to take action. 
This information is gathered and reported on annually. 

Each year, Municipal Affairs publishes a population list of all Alberta municipalities based on the most 
recent municipal census or latest federal census. The list has municipal census population figures submitted 
to the ministry as of September 1 of the reporting year, in accordance with the Municipal Government Act. 
Conducting a municipal census is at the discretion of the municipality. Most municipalities rely on the 
information provided by the federal census prepared by Statistics Canada once every five years. 
Municipalities that had completed their own census used requirements specified in the Municipal Census 
Manual. In most instances, the municipal census count would supersede the federal census count.  

The Municipal Affairs Population List is gathered from population counts received from federal census or 
municipal census. Information is collected each November and reported annually by municipalities that 
complete a municipal census. 

Performance Measure 3.a: Number of injuries and fatalities caused by structural or mechanical 
failure of buildings and associated systems per 100,000 population in Alberta 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

(2021) 

Target 

2021-22 

(2021) 

Actual 

2018-19 

(2018)  

2019-20  

(2019) 

2020-21  

(2020) 

0.83 0.80 0.59 0.82 0.67 

 

Methodology 

Ministry staff review incident reports with injuries and/or fatalities identified and determine which were 
caused by structural or mechanical failure. This rationale for each safety discipline is documented in detail to 
ensure consistency across disciplines and so it can be replicated in future years.  

Ministry staff multiply the number of injuries and fatalities by 100,000, then divide that product by the total 
provincial population reported by Treasury Board and Finance. 

Number of Injuries and Fatalities X 100,000 

Provincial Population 

Source 

Data for this measure comes from a combination of:  

• incident reports from incidents reported by safety codes officers to the administrators for each 
discipline; and  

• population data from Treasury Board and Finance. 
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Incident reports 

Under the Administrative Items Regulation of the Safety Codes Act, safety codes officers are required to 
report incidents to their respective discipline’s technical administrator, including events that result in injuries 
or fatalities.  

Population data 

Population figures have historically been based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to 
the minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year) in compliance with the Determination of Population 
Regulation 64/2001 under Section 604 of the Municipal Government Act. As this regulation was repealed in 
2020, Treasury Board and Finance will now provide population estimates.  

The population figure for 2021 is the population as of October 1, 2021, taken from the Treasury Board and 
Finance website. The population number was the most recent published number at the time of reporting. 

3.b Performance Indicator: Number of injuries and fatalities involving buildings or associated 
systems not caused by structural or mechanical failure per 100,000 population in Alberta 

NOTE: This metric did not appear in the 2021-24 Business Plan.  

Prior Years’ Results 

2021 
2018  2019  2020  

5.12 4.05 3.04 4.44 

 

Methodology 

Ministry staff review incident reports with injuries and/or fatalities identified, and determine which were not 
caused by structural or mechanical failure. This rationale for each safety codes discipline is documented in 
detail to ensure consistency across disciplines and so that it can be replicated in future years.  

Ministry staff multiply the number of injuries and fatalities by 100,000, then divide that product by the total 
provincial population reported by Treasury Board and Finance. 

Number of Injuries and Fatalities X 100,000 

Provincial Population 

Source 

Data for this measure comes from a combination of:  

• incident reports from incidents reported by safety codes officers to the administrators for each 
discipline; and  

• population data from Treasury Board and Finance. 
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Incident reports 

Under the Administrative Items Regulation of the Safety Codes Act, safety codes officers are required to 
report incidents to their respective discipline’s technical administrator, including events that result in injuries 
or fatalities.  

Population data 

Population figures have historically been based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to 
the minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year) in compliance with the Determination of Population 
Regulation 64/2001 under Section 604 of the Municipal Government Act. As this regulation was repealed in 
2020, Treasury Board and Finance will now provide population estimates.  

The population figure for 2021 is the population as of October 1, 2021, taken from the Treasury Board and 
Finance website. The population number was the most recent published number at the time of reporting. 

Performance Indicator 3.c: Number of fire reports not caused by structural or mechanical failure of 
buildings and associated systems, per 100,000 population in Alberta 

NOTE: This metric did not appear in the 2021-24 Business Plan.  

Prior Years’ Results 

2021 
2018  2019  2020 

100.09* 80.22* 89.68* 102.64 

*Note: Indicators from previous years are recalculated using the most up-to-date information on reported fires in the Fire Electronic 

Reporting System to capture corrections and late-arriving reports from previous years. 

Methodology 

Ministry staff determine the count of all fire reports entered in the Fire Electronic Reporting System. Fires 
where the act or omission is coded as being related to a mechanical or system failure are excluded from the 
total. 

Ministry staff multiply the number of fire reports by 100,000, then divide that product by the total provincial 
population reported by Treasury Board and Finance. 

Number of Fire Reports X 100,000 

Provincial Population 

Source 

Fire Reports 

The source of this data is the Fire Electronic Reporting System. Under sections 8 and 9 of the 
Administrative Items Regulation, accredited municipalities are legislated to investigate and report all dollar 
loss and casualty fires to the fire commissioner. Safety codes officers in the fire discipline complete these 
reports. The system also receives fire reports from insurance adjusters.  

Where an unaccredited municipality has a loss or casualty fire, the ministry is the responsible entity for the 
fire investigation and subsequent report. 
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Excerpt from Section 8 of the Administrative Items Regulation: 

Reporting and investigating fires 

8(1). Subject to subsection (2), if the responding officer of a fire department knows of a fire within the 
department’s jurisdiction in which a person dies or suffers an injury that requires professional medical 
attention or in which property is damaged or destroyed, the reporting officer must report the fire to a safety 
codes officer for the fire discipline. 

8(2). A safety codes officer for the fire discipline must investigate the cause, origin, and circumstances of 
every fire within the safety codes officer’s jurisdiction in which a person dies or suffers injury that requires 
professional medical attention or in which property is damaged or destroyed. 

8(3). This section does not apply to forest fires. 

While forest fires are exempt from investigation and reporting under the Administrative Items Regulation, 
property loss suffered as a result of a forest fire is reported to the ministry’s fire commissioner. 

Population data 

Population figures have historically been based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to 
the minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year) in compliance with the Determination of Population 
Regulation 64/2001 under Section 604 of the Municipal Government Act.  

The population figure for 2021 is the population as of October 1, 2021, taken from the Treasury Board and 
Finance website. The population number was the most recent published number at the time of reporting. 

Performance Measure 4.a: Percentage of communities visited by an Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency field officer and had their Community Emergency Management Plan 
reviewed annually 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 2018-19  2019-20  2020-21 

93% 85% 83% 80% 85% 

 

Methodology 

Field officers develop and maintain relationships with all communities (municipalities, First Nations, and 
Metis Settlements) in their region. Their responsibilities include the review of community emergency 
management plans and routine visits to the communities to engage stakeholders and ensure local authorities 
have the requisite tools available to develop robust emergency management programs.  
 
Field officers review community emergency management plans using one of the following two methods: 
 

1. Communities participating in Community Emergency Management Program: For communities using 
this tool, field officers will use a continual improvement approach by reviewing and providing feedback 
to the communities. Once satisfied that a community is ready for a final review, field officers will 
schedule a visit to review the plan in person with the community’s director of emergency management 
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or another appropriate representative. Following the in-person review, the field officer will track and 
address management of outstanding issues or concerns. 

2. Communities not participating in Community Emergency Management Program: For communities that 
are not program users, the field officer will conduct an in-person review with a representative from the 
local authority, preferably the director of emergency management.  

 
The following equation is used to process the data collected in Community Emergency Management 
Program: 

Number of communities visited by 

Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officers 

% =  and had their Community Emergency Management Plan reviewed  X 100 

Total number of communities in Alberta  

This performance measure is calculated by comparing the communities that had been visited by an Alberta 
Emergency Management Agency field officer and had their community emergency management plan 
reviewed, to the total number of communities in Alberta. The resulting ratio is expressed as a percentage. A 
confidence interval is not applicable, as a representative sample is not used for statistical inference.  

With the continued implementation of the Community Emergency Management Program tool, field officers 
now have the ability to conduct plan reviews remotely. Communities that have had their community 
emergency management plans reviewed remotely, but an in-person visit has not yet taken place, are excluded 
from this performance measure. 

For communities that have adopted a regional approach for developing emergency management plans, field 
officers review the regional plan and meet with the appropriate municipal representative for the region. 
Review of an emergency management plan for a region, and subsequent field visits, count as a review and 
visit for all constituent communities. Each constituent community of a regional community emergency 
management plan is counted separately for this performance measure, rather than just counting one review 
and field visit.   

Source 

Data and information regarding field visits and reviews of community emergency management plans (those 
completed both in-person and remotely) is recorded in the Community Emergency Management Program, 
even if a community is not a participating program user.  

The program is administered by a dedicated coordinator with full access rights to the database. The data is 
stored and maintained in the program and provides workflow management functionality for tracking 
corrective actions taken by a municipality. Field officers retain records from the review process to 
supplement the data and information entered into the program.  

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency endeavours to update data in the Community Emergency 
Management Program as work occurs, or at least once a month. Ideally, data is entered at the time of the 
review; however, this is not always feasible. Senior management in the Provincial Operations branch of the 
Alberta Emergency Management Agency has the ability to conduct quality assurance checks to ensure data 
entered into the Community Emergency Management Program tool is accurate.  
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Performance Measure 4.b: Percentage of residential disaster financial assistance files that have 
received 90 per cent of its estimated funding within 90 days of being determined eligible for disaster 
financial assistance 

NOTE: This metric did not appear in the 2021-24 Business Plan.  

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 2018-19  2019-20  2020-21 

94% 78% 41% 90% 70% 

 

Methodology 

When the Alberta Emergency Management Agency receives a residential application for disaster financial 
assistance, a record is created and a data entry specialist enters the data into the Disaster Recovery Program 
database (for this performance measure, residential applications include all homeowner and tenant 
applicants). A case manager works with applicants to ensure all required documents are submitted and 
applicants are determined to be eligible for funding assistance following this review. The 90-day period for 
this measure begins once an applicant is determined to be eligible for the disaster recovery program.  

Once an applicant is determined to be eligible, the eligibility date is recorded in a centralized spreadsheet, 
and an evaluator is assigned to the file to assess the damage. Case managers then contact the applicant to 
confirm eligibility and eligible funding, and to provide information regarding the next steps. Eligible funding 
estimates are determined based on damage assessments conducted by evaluators and are reviewed and 
approved before a payment is generated.  

In order to track when an eligible applicant receives 90 per cent of the estimated funding, a manual 
calculation is required. The data from the Disaster Recovery Program database and the centralized 
spreadsheets is processed manually. The data sets are used for reporting are:  

• applicant eligibility dates;  

• verified payment dates; and  

• cumulative payments received by applicants.  

Using the data sets identified above, the percentage of eligible applicants receiving 90 per cent of estimated 
Disaster Recovery Program funding within 90 calendar days of being determined eligible is manually 
calculated. The following equation is used to calculate the percentage:  

Number of eligible residential applicants 

who receive 90% of estimated funding  

% =  within 90 days of being determined to be eligible  X 100 

   Total eligible residential applicants 

in fiscal year  

The timeframe for administering a disaster recovery program can be as long as five years, depending on the 
size and the scale of a disaster. A disaster recovery program that is not concluded within the same fiscal year 
it is established may result in eligible files that span two fiscal years. These files are tracked and included in 
the performance measure reporting for the next fiscal year. Therefore, all eligible files that have received 90 
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per cent of their estimated disaster financial assistance in the current fiscal year and the 90-day processing 
time extends into the next fiscal year will be reported in the next fiscal year. 

Source 

The ministry maintains separate files for every application within each Disaster Recovery Program, and case 
managers and data entry specialists enter the information in these records into the Disaster Recovery 
Program database.  

The Disaster Recovery Program database is a proprietary case management tool used to track various stages 
of file processing, including payments.   

In addition, three data sets (eligibility date, the 90-day period from the eligibility date, and the percentage of 
estimated funding received by an applicant in the 90-day period after the eligibility date) are collected and 
tracked in centralized spreadsheets.  

Work is underway to develop a new measure in conjunction with workforce metrics, as the ministry is 
examining how to most effectively and efficiently meet the recovery needs of those impacted by uninsurable 
loss or damage. 

Performance Measure 4.c: Percentage grade of service maintained by the Alberta First Responders 
Radio Communications System, which provides public safety grade land mobile radio 
communications to first responders throughout Alberta for both day-to-day operations and 
emergencies 

NOTE: This metric did not appear in the 2021-24 Business Plan.  

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 2018-19  2019-20  2020-21 

95.5% 98.9% 98.4% 97.0% 98.6% 

 

This performance measure is designed to demonstrate the Ministry's achievements in ensuring first 
responders' communications are emergency ready and allows first responders from other provinces and 
countries the flexibility of interoperable communications with Alberta's first responders in a mutual aid 
emergency. 

With the Alberta First Responders Radio Communications System (AFRRCS), Alberta communities are 
better equipped to respond to emergencies and disasters with confidence in their communications. Its ability 
to support and maintain radio communications in all situations is an appropriate measure of public safety 
grade radio communications readiness across the province.   

Dedicated staff consisting of network engineers, senior telecommunications support technicians, cryptology 
technicians, warehouse support, business relationship management, and finance and contracts support 
AFRRCS Operations 24/7. This ensures radio communications are fully operable while maintaining parts 
lists, contracts, evergreening, and handling any emerging issues. For example, the Business Relationship 
Coordination team is critical in building relationships with new agencies joining the system’s current 
agencies. This is important because direct interactions and relationship-building are integral to how the 
system supports first responders and their communities. 
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This performance measure was initially developed in 2016-17. The system’s governance committee, which is 
comprised of representatives of all senior first responders, such as the Chief of Edmonton Fire Rescue 
Services, Superintendent of the Edmonton Police Service, Solicitor General- Sheriffs, Royal Canadian 
Mounted Police, and Alberta Health Services, developed the grade of service as a performance measure.  

The Alberta First Responders Radio Communications System is free to first responder agencies who wish to 
join. Secondary responders can join if their first responders are already on the system, for a nominal annual 
fee per radio. There are currently 163 agencies on AFRRCS with over 38,000 subscribers, 310 trunked sites 
and 30 mountain top repeater sites for a total 340 sites. In the previous fiscal year, the Business Relationship 
Coordination team met with eight agencies and provided presentations to 10 interested agencies. 

The system can be used in mock emergencies, as requested by agency municipalities, to provide 
interoperable communications to all participants while providing staff with the training opportunity to set up 
and tear down the Sites on Wheels. Additionally, the system supports law enforcement agencies when 
additional communications are required.    

Methodology 

The grade-of-service measurement is used to help quantify system loading. The grade of service is 
characterized as a percentage and represents the probability of being delayed access to the system due to the 
unavailability of radio channels to support the call.  
 
Active monitoring by system operations personnel occurs 24 hours a day, 365 days per year. Reporting on 
the grade-of-service level takes place on a site-by-site basis over a calendar quarter. 
  
Grade-of-service minimum service level constraints include: 

• unexpected or unplanned temporary increases in radio usage; 

• poor or inconsistent radio discipline within agencies; and 

• radio features that consume more airtime than traditional PTT voice traffic flows. 

The system adjusts capacity based on use and routinely compiles predictive grade-of-service calculations to 
predict outcomes using estimated quantities and mathematical probability functions. 
 
Archived historical data and real-time traffic data, as well as subscriber quantities, are determined by using an 
industry-standard measurement to examine system grade-of-service future states. This measurement is used 
to determine how many channels are needed based on the number of calls per hour, the average duration of 
a call, and the length of time calls are left in the queue. 
  
This system maintains and manages the reporting facilities required to collect and store grade-of-service data. 
   
The following equation is used to process the data: 

 

 
 

X 100 

Total number of queued calls in the  

busiest hour of the fiscal calendar quarter   

Total number of talkgroup calls in the  

busiest hour of the fiscal calendar quarter 

Grade  

of Service = 
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Where: 
• A queued call is an unconfirmed talkgroup call originating at a site with a reported queue duration of 

>0sec; and 

• A talkgroup call is an unconfirmed talkgroup call originating at a site. 

  
The result is expressed as a percentage.  
  
The data analysis for this performance measure includes 309 sites. The system has 339 sites; however, 30 are 
Mountain Top Repeater sites, which do not operate the same way trunked sites do; therefore, certain metrics 
do not apply. 
 
The number of sites used in the calculations will change over time as new sites are added. 
 

Source 

Data and information regarding grade of service are collected and reported quarterly and annually to service 
and governance councils and as requested by an agency in the event of any issues.  

A trend analysis is performed annually to determine if a site requires a channel upgrade due to not meeting 
the three per cent grade of service. Sites with fewer channels will always have a higher percentage of queued 
calls; however, there may be other factors why a site did not meet the grade of service. 

Quarterly and annual reports are stored on system’s internal SharePoint site and an external SharePoint site, 
which governance council members can access.  

Data parameters are considered from time to time to ensure ongoing relevancy as system business 
requirements evolve. To affect the data parameters, the program area is required to engage a third-party 
contractor with database/report writing skills.   

Performance Measure A: Percentage of parties who are satisfied or neutral regarding the tribunal’s 
adherence to rules of natural justice while adjudicating land planning, development, right of entry, 
compensation and assessment matters 

NOTE: This metric did not appear in the 2021-24 Business Plan. 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

(2020-21) 

Target 

2021-22 

(2020-21) 

Actual 

2018-19  

(2017-18) 

2019-20  

(2018-19) 

2020-21 

(2019-20) 

89% 95% 93% 88% 86% 

 

Methodology 

Hearing participant contact information is gathered by Land and Property Rights Tribunal staff to use for 
the survey. The scale used is a five-point, anchored satisfaction scale that asks respondents to respond with 
the following; strongly agree, somewhat agree, neither agree nor disagree, somewhat disagree, or strongly 
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disagree. Those parties that attended hearings have an interest in the outcome of the hearing and the 
decision. 

Lists of attendees who attended hearings form April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021 are compiled from the sign-
in sheets that are provided at in-person hearings, or from an attendance list for virtual hearings.  

Any parties who do not provide an email address are asked if they wish to participate, and told that if they 
would like to, they will need to provide an e–mail address to preserve anonymity. 

In spring of 2021 an email was sent to all parties asking them to complete the optional on-line survey. One 
reminder is sent two weeks after the first email to all parties that did not respond. 

A neutral response is interpreted as satisfied, given that half of the parties appearing before the tribunal do 
not receive a decision in their favour. 

Source 

Hearing participant information is obtained from Land and Property Rights Tribunal’s internal database and 
from either sign-in sheets (in-person) or attendance lists (virtual) from hearings. The parties’ email 
information is put into Opinio and the survey is sent to parties via email. The survey was sent by Land and 
Property Rights Tribunal staff in May and completed in June 2021, in order to capture all parties that 
attended hearings in 2020-2021. 

Opinio allows reports to be run from the survey responses and the reports are stored on an internal drive. 

Performance Indicator B: Percentage satisfied or neutral regarding Land and Property Rights 
Tribunal support to Municipal Composite Assessment Review Boards 

NOTE: This metric did not appear in the 2021-24 Business Plan.  

Prior Years’ Results 
2021 

(2020) 2018  

(2017)   

2019  

(2018) 

2020  

(2019)  

96% 99% 99% 92% 

 

Methodology 

The listing of clerks who requested information or required a member from January 1 to December 31 of 
the previous year are compiled from the legal files database and emails exchanged during the year. Each 
May, all Assessment Review Board clerks who contacted the Land and Property Rights Tribunal are sent an 
email requesting the survey be completed. Two weeks after the first email, a reminder is sent to all clerks 
who did not respond.  

A five-point, anchored satisfaction scale asks respondents to answer using the following options: strongly 
agree; somewhat agree; neither agree nor disagree; somewhat disagree; or strongly disagree. Those clerks that 
requested Land and Property Rights Tribunal members for hearings or required support during the year 
complete the survey to determine if the Land and Property Rights Tribunal is fulfilling requirements and 
needs.  
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A neutral response is interpreted as satisfied, given that some hearings are cancelled and clerks may have no 
further comments to make.  

Source 

Assessment review board clerk information is maintained on a contact spreadsheet, and hearing information 
is gathered from the Land and Property Rights Tribunal’s legal files database. The tribunal used Opinio 
survey software to collect data anonymously and produces reports from the survey responses; the reports are 
stored on the Government of Alberta server.  

The indicator uses a survey that takes place in May and is completed in June to capture all clerks who, during 
the preceding calendar year, requested board members as presiding officers, or information on hearing 
procedures or legislation (e.g., the 2021 survey results reflect hearings that took place in the 2020 calendar 
year – January 1 to December 31, 2020). 
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Financial Information 

Consolidated Financial Information  

 

For the year ended March 31, 2022 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 

Reporting Entity and Method of Consolidation 

 
The financial information is prepared in accordance with the government's stated accounting policies, which 
are based on Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 
 
The reporting entity is the Ministry of Municipal Affairs for which the Minister of Municipal Affairs is 
accountable. The Government Organization Act defines a ministry as including the department and any provincial 
agency and crown-controlled organization for which the minister is responsible. The accounts of the ministry, 
which includes the Department of Municipal Affairs (Government Organization Act) and the Safety Codes 
Council (Safety Codes Act) are fully consolidated using the line-by-line method.  
 
Under this method, accounting policies of the consolidated entities are adjusted to conform to the 
government, and the results of each line item in their financial statements (revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities) are included in government’s results. Revenue and expense, capital, investing and financing 
transactions, and related asset and liability balances between the consolidated entities have been eliminated. 
 
The audited financial statements for the Safety Codes Council are included in the ministry's annual report as 
per requirement of the Safety Codes Act. 
 
The ministry is also responsible for the Improvement Districts' Trust Account and Special Areas Trust 
Account; however, these entities’ activities are not consolidated in the financial information for the ministry. 
The statement of revenues and expenses of the Improvement Districts’ Trust Account are included separately 
in the ministry's annual report as per requirement of the Municipal Government Act. The audited financial 
statements of the Special Areas Trust Account are also included in the ministry’s annual report as per 
requirement of the Special Areas Act. 
 
A list of the individual entities making up the ministry are shown on the “Management's Responsibility for 
Reporting” statement included in this annual report. 
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Ministry Financial Highlights  

Ministry of Municipal Affairs  

Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Expenses (unaudited) 

Year ended March 31, 2022 
(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 

Consolidated Revenues and Expenses Highlights (unaudited) 

Year ended March 31, 2022 

(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Breakdown of Consolidated Revenues (actual)  

For the Year ended March 31, 2022 
(unaudited)  
(in thousands) 

 
The following information presents detailed revenues of the ministry. The objective of detailed revenues disclosure is 
to provide information that is useful in understanding and assessing the financial impact of government's revenue 
raising and for enhancing legislative control. 

 
 

 

 
 

  

$504,802 

$21,549 

$55,234 
$42,249 

$29,825 

Federal Grant
Programs

Disaster Financial
Assistance

Arrangements

Premiums, Licenses
and Fees

Prior Year
Expenditure Refunds

Other
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Consolidated Expenses – Directly Incurred by Object (actual) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2022 
(Unaudited) 
(in thousands) 

The following information presents expenses of the ministry that were directly incurred by object. The 
objective of disclosure of expenses by object is to provide information that is useful in evaluating the 
economic impact of government acquiring or consuming various types of resources. 

 
 
The Ministry’s largest operating expense was grants, which totalled 91 per cent of operating expense.  
The largest grant programs were as follows: 

 

Municipal Sustainability Initiative                $          1,226,000 

Federal Gas Tax Fund                     497,653 

911 Call Centres Support                         32,159 

Disaster Recovery and COVID-19                    41,481 

Library Services                       31,139 

Grants in Place of Taxes                  28,916 

Alberta Community Partnership                    26,254 

Other                       7,130 

               $     1,890,732

        

 

Salaries,Wages and 
Employee Benefits 

$63,206 
3%

Supplies and 
Services and Other 

$116,572
6%

Grants 
$1,890,732

91%
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Supplemental Financial Information  

Department of Municipal Affairs 
Schedule to Financial Statements  
Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2022 
(in thousands) 

  

Federal Grant Programs 
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Department of Municipal Affairs 
Schedule to Financial Statements       (Cont’d) 
Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2022 

(in thousands) 
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Department of Municipal Affairs 
Schedule to Financial Statements       (Cont’d) 
Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2022 
(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Payments Based on Agreements  
 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2021 
(Unaudited) 
(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Disaster Recovery Program  
 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2022 
(Unaudited) 
(in thousands) 

 

  



 

Financial Information | Improvement Districts’ Trust Account 

 

 

 

138                                                                                                                                Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2021-22 

Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Trust and Other Funds Under Administration 
 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2022 
(Unaudited) 
(in thousands) 
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Financial Statements of Other Reporting Entities  

Summary of Improvement Districts (unaudited)*  

For the year ended December 31, 2021 

 

Table of Contents  

 

Summary Statement of Revenue and Expenditures (unaudited) .............................................. 140 

Detailed Statement of Revenue and Expenditures (unaudited) ................................................ 141 

 

*NOTE: The unaudited financial information being presented here 
was derived from the December 31, 2021 financial statements of each 
Improvement District.  
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Special Areas Trust Account 
Financial Statements (audited) 

For the year ended December 31, 2021  
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Letter from Management 

  

[Original signed by]   [Original signed by] 
Chair, Special Areas Board  Director of Finance and Administration 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
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[Original signed by]  
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Statement of Financial Position 
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Statement of Operations 
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Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Schedule of Investments 
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Schedule of Salaries and Benefits 
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Supplementary Net Financial Asset Information Schedule 
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Supplementary Accumulated Surplus Information Schedule 
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Schedule of Segment Revenue and Expense Disclosure by Object 
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Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets 
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Safety Codes Council 
Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021  
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Independent Auditor`s Report 
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[Original signed by KPMG]  
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Statement of Financial Position 

 
  

[Original signed by] 

Owen Edmondson, Director   Eóin J. Cooke, Director 
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Statement of Operations 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets  
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Statement of Cash Flow 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
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Annual Report Extracts and Other Statutory Reports 

Statement Regarding the Public Interest Disclosure Act 

 

Section 32 of the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act reads: 

 

32(1) Every chief officer must prepare a report annually on all disclosures that have been made to the 
designated officer of the department, public entity or office of the Legislature for which the chief 
officer is responsible.  

   (2)  The report under subsection (1) must include the following information: 

(a) the number of disclosures received by the designated officer, the number of disclosures acted on 
and the number of disclosures not acted on by the designated officer;  

(b) the number of investigations commenced by the designated officer as a result of disclosures; 

(c) in the case of an investigation that results in a finding of wrongdoing, a description of the 
wrongdoing and any recommendations made or corrective measures taken in relation to the 
wrongdoing or the reasons why no corrective measure was taken. 

(3)  The report under subsection (1) must be included in the annual report of the department, public 
entity or office of the Legislature if the annual report is made publicly available. 

Below is a summary of the activity in the Public Interest Disclosure Office pertaining to the Department of 
Municipal Affairs from April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022: 

0 – Disclosures 

0 – Investigation 

0 – Investigations resulting in a finding of wrongdoing 
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